

University of North Dakota UND Scholarly Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Senior Projects

January 2020

How Affect Rhetoric And A Changing Digital Landscape Shape Youth Digital Social Movements Of The Twenty-First Century

Amanda Frances Pasierb

How does access to this work benefit you? Let us know!

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.und.edu/theses

Recommended Citation

Pasierb, Amanda Frances, "How Affect Rhetoric And A Changing Digital Landscape Shape Youth Digital Social Movements Of The Twenty-First Century" (2020). *Theses and Dissertations*. 3385. https://commons.und.edu/theses/3385

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, and Senior Projects at UND Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UND Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact und.commons@library.und.edu.

HOW AFFECT RHETORIC AND A CHANGING DIGITAL LANDSCAPE SHAPE YOUTH DIGITAL SOCIAL MOVEMENTS OF THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY

by

Amanda Frances Pasierb Bachelor of Arts, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, 2014 Master of Arts, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, 2016

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty

of the

University of North Dakota

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Grand Forks, North Dakota

December 2020

This dissertation, submitted by Amanda Frances Pasierb in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the University of North Dakota, has been read by the Faculty Advisory Committee under whom the work has been done and is hereby approved.

Bradley Serber
Name of Chairperson
-
Timothy Pasch
Name of Committee Member
Pat Queen Jordheim
Name of Committee Member
Kim Donehower-Weinstein
Name of Committee Member

This dissertation is being submitted by the appointed advisory committee as having met all the requirements of the School of Graduate Studies at the University of North Dakota and is hereby approved.

Chris Nelson
Dean of the School of Graduate Studies
12/1/2020
Date

PERMISSION

Title How Affect Rhetoric and a Changing Digital Landscape Shape Youth

Digital Social Movements of the Twenty-First Century

Department Communication

Degree Doctor of Philosophy

In presenting this dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a graduate degree from the University of North Dakota, I agree that the library of this University shall make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for extensive copying for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor who supervised my dissertation work or, in his absence, by the Chairperson of the department or the dean of the School of Graduate Studies. It is understood that any copying or publication or other use of this dissertation or part thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of North Dakota in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my dissertation.

Amanda Frances Pasierb Date 11/30/20

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Abstract

Chapter 1: Introduction
Studying Youth Digital Social Movements in the Twenty-First Century3
Defining Key Terms8
Defining Youth: A Complex Task for a Complex Group8
Digital Technologies in the Twenty-First Century Social
Movements12
What Makes a Social Movement a Social Movement16
What is "Activism"
How Affect Shapes Youth Digital Social Movements22
Case Backgrounds25
Invisible Children; Uganda25
Bring Back Our Girls; Nigeria27
Never Again; United States of America30
Method: Digital Rhetorical Criticism
Research Questions
Chapter 2: Invisible Children: Early Digital Era Youth Social Activism36
The Role of Youth throughout the Invisible Children Movement38

Youth-affected38	,
Youth-led39)
Youth-involved40)
Youth and Affect43	3
The Most Viral Video of the Time: How Invisible Children Utilized the	
Digital Landscape45	;
A Ugandan Crisis, an American Movement49)
Adapting the Digital Plan: Utilizing Digital Technologies	
Available to Ugandans50)
Digital Activism: Four Styles of Internet Engagement	3
Internet Engagement: Brochureware53	;
Internet Engagement: E-mobilization54	1
Internet Engagement: Online Organizing55	5
Internet Engagement: Online Participation50	5
Digital Concerns: Echo Chambers and Censorship57	7
Invisible Children as a Social Movement62	2
Activism through the Years66	5
The Boundary between Traditional and Non-Traditional	
Activism67	
Digital Activism: The Shift from Offline to Online70)
Activism versus Slacktivism7	1

Sharing: The First Step of the Ladder73
Inserting Oneself into the Story: A Step Closer to Engagement74
Making the Story their Own: The Final Step of Engagement75
Conclusion76
Chapter 3: Bring Back Our Girls: Developing Digital Era Youth Social
Movement Activism80
The Role of Youth Throughout the Bring Back Our Girls Movement82
Youth-affected82
Youth-led: An Outside Voice83
Youth-involved: Bringing Young People Together through Social
Media85
Youth and Affect: Who are the "Girls" in Bring Back Our
Girls86
Hashtag Heard 'Round the World88
Non-digital Natives in a Digital World88
Time: A Double-Edged Sword for the Bring Back Our Girls
Movement90
Location, Location: The Benefits and Struggles of the
Location of the Bring Back Our Girls Movement92
Adapt or Disappear97
Internet Engagement: Brochureware98

Internet Engagement: E-Mobilization99
Internet Engagement: Online Participation99
Digital Limitations: Some Battles Proving Harder than
Others
Bring Back Our Girls as a Social Movement106
Bring Back Our Girls Activism
Lost in the Aftermath of a Flash Flood of Activism: Why Bring Back Our
Girls Seemed to Disappear After their Massive Hashtag Campaign121
Activism, Slacktivism, Both, or Neither?123
Sharing: The First Step Up the Ladder124
Inserting Oneself into the Story: A Second Step Up the
Ladder
Making the Story their Own: Where Bring Back Our Girls Fell
Short
Conclusion
Chapter 4: Parkland: Contemporary Digital Era Youth Social Movement
Activism130
The Youth Say Never Again
Youth-affected131
Youth-led132
Youth-involved133

"We're children": The Rhetorical Impact of Youth on the Never
Again Movement136
#Digital: How the Never Again Movement Incorporated Digital
Aspects
The Right People at the Right Time: How Age and Time
Benefitted Never Again Movement Leaders
Benefits of Location: How being U.S. Based and Focused
Benefited the Never Again Movement141
Digital Activism: The Four Styles of Internet Engagement143
Internet Engagement: Brochureware143
Internet Engagement: E-mobilization144
Internet Engagement: Online Organizing144
Internet Engagement: Online Participation145
A Divisive Subject Matter, A Concern for Echo Chambers146
Land of the Free, Home of the Shadowbanning: Issues of
Censorship in the United States
Never Again as a Social Movement
Never Again and Activism
Traditional and Non-Traditional Activism: A Connected
Approach
Activism or Slacktivism 164

Sharing: Step One of the Ladder	165
Inserting Oneself into the Story: Step Two	166
Making the Story their Own: the Final Step	168
Conclusion	169
Chapter 5: Conclusion	172
Cross-Case Analyses	172
Youth	172
Digital	180
Evolution of Youth Digital Social Movement Activism	182
References	187

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my sincere appreciate to the members of my advisory

Committee for their guidance and support during my time in the doctoral program at the

University of North Dakota. Specifically, I could not have done this without the support
and guidance of my advisor, Brad Serber, who always told me, echoing the words of his
advisor, Rosa Eberly, to "find something about which you can't help but write."

To my family and friends who have listened, let me lean on them, and pushed me throughout this journey, your support means more than you will ever know to me. And to my soon-to-be-husband, Scott, thank you for all the things. This would not have been possible without you. Thank you for supporting my dream for us to be Dr. and Mr. Lucas, Scott. I love you more than most.

ABSTRACT

This dissertation explores three youth digital social movements, which have taken place throughout the twenty-first century: the Invisible Children movement of Uganda, the Bring Back Our Girls movement of Nigeria, and the Never Again movement of the United States. Using rhetorical analysis of each movement, I explore the relationship each has with youth, digital, social movement, and activism. Specifically, I seek to answer the following research questions: (1) with youth in the forefront of each movement, how have the movements utilized affective rhetoric to promote and gain support, and (2) how have youth digital social movements evolved throughout the twenty-first century?

I argue that key components of youth digital social activism include the ability to get movement followers to connect on an emotional level with the cause of the movement in order to get them to move offline and act outside of the digital realm and providing specific, detailed steps for movement followers to avoid getting stuck in the online vortex that can lead to a version of *slacktivism*. Ultimately, this research provides insight for future social activists and movement leaders to learn from and adapt accordingly, and important areas for future scholars to focus their attention.

Chapter 1: Introduction

This generation is changing the rules. The traditional routes of communication, influence, and authority have been reversed, and our connectedness has turned the power pyramid upside down.¹

— Invisible Children "The Fourth Estate"

Young people are not new to the social movement landscape, but as times have changed, so too have the ways in which youth engage in social activism. The utilization of new digital means has shaped the way young people hear about, discuss, and engage in social activism. This dissertation explores three social movements that have connections to youth, the changing digital landscape that each has emerged within, and the relationship that each has to activism as a whole. The three cases in this study include the Invisible Children Movement in Uganda, the Bring Back Our Girls movement in Nigeria, and the Never Again movement in the United States. In this dissertation, I explore the concepts of youth, digital, social movement, and activism to track the evolution of youth digital social movements over time and to explore the affective rhetoric surrounding youth as a mainstay of each of these movements.

The combination of youth and social movement activism is not new. Across the globe, and for centuries, young people have been activists and protestors of injustice. The documented history dates back to at least 1229, when the entire student body at the University of Paris went on strike after students were unjustly punished, and some killed, by outside enforcement while the University was supposed to be independent from local authority. More recently, during the twentieth century, youth have continued to take up social movement activism across the world.² For example, during South African Apartheid in 1944, a group of young 'radicals' created the African National Council

Youth League as they became frustrated by the decline of the African National Council under its conservative leadership.³ In the United States in 1963, around 800 African-American school children skipped school and marched from the 16th Street Baptist Church in Alabama to City Hall during the Birmingham Children's Crusade, demanding an end to the segregation of blacks and whites. 4 Later, youth protests against the Vietnam War in the 1970s brought about an era of protest music that united and galvanized the culture behind the anti-war movement.⁵ In 1989 at China's Tiananmen Square, students took to the streets of Beijing riding bikes, with banners, speeches, and songs to rally support for the pro-democracy movement and economic liberalization. In 2010, during what many have referred to as the Arab Spring, youth used social media to organize revolutions across the Middle East in large numbers and with incredible speed. In 2016, the International Indigenous Youth Council protested at the Standing Rock Indian Reservation against the Dakota Access Pipeline in an attempt to protect the Cannonball and Missouri Rivers. While this list is not exhaustive, it does highlight the role youth have played across time and across the globe when it comes to social movement activism.

Today, youth continue to be a part of movements seeking justice. Young people are being active and demanding that their voices be heard from Spain to Egypt to Hong Kong to the United States. In 2018, *Harvard Ed. Magazine* stated that the United States is currently seeing the "most forceful surge of youth activism since the 1960s." While this highlights an important time in the United States to study youth social movements, this phenomenon is not contained to the United States alone. Across the world in varying cultures, contexts, economic conditions, and political spheres, activism has continued to take place in the first two decades of the twenty-first century.

An integral aspect of today's social movements is the role of digital technologies. While the use of digital means is not the same across the globe, in the three cases being explored in this study, the digital aspect of these youth social movements is an important one. This dissertation will explore their similarities and differences and will study of the evolution of how social movements have changed over the years. In the following chapters, I break down the impacts of digital technologies on each of the social movements as it relates to each movement's context, location, target demographics, and ends and means.

Social movements in the twenty-first century have new opportunities and constraints with the use of technology by movement leaders and participants. Exploring these opportunities and constraints presents new reasons and ways to study youth social movements today. The evolution of digital social movements by youth over the years will help provide insights into how future social movements might navigate the continually changing digital landscape.

Studying Youth Digital Social Movements in the Twenty-First Century

The purpose of this study is to explore how leaders of different youth social movements have used affect rhetoric and digital technology over the last fifteen years through analysis of the Invisible Children movement in Uganda, ¹² the Bring Back Our Girls movement in Nigeria, ¹³ and the Never Again movement in the United States. ¹⁴ Throughout this research, I highlight the similarities and differences across these movements in order to provide insight into the evolution of youth digital social movements over time and gain insight for the future study and practice of social

movements. Importantly, the purpose of this study is *not* to identify "best practices" or "good/bad" social movements, as the subjectivity of those value claims is wrapped up in the variables of each social movement due to their location, economics, political institutions, and potential restrictions on technology, but rather, this study looks at what has been done over time and the impact of various rhetorical moves.

This study looks at three specific social movements that each have connections to youth, digital, social movements, and activism in the twenty-first century. The first case in this dissertation focuses on the Invisible Children movement that was started in 2004 and is still active today. The Invisible Children movement is an important social movement to study because of the movement's relationship to youth, their use of technology at the turn of the century, and how both of these contributed to what the movement and outside observers have deemed "activism" for their cause.

The second case in this dissertation is Bring Back Our Girls. Bring Back Our Girls is a social movement that began after the abduction of over 200 Chibok girls from their dormitories by Boko Haram in Nigeria. The Bring Back Our Girls movement is positioned uniquely in this dissertation, in part, due to the movement's relationship to the large, worldwide hashtag campaign that helped spread the movement's message outside of the local area in which the abductions took place and how participants engaged in the various stages of activism.

The third case in this research is the Never Again movement. The Never Again movement came about after the February 14, 2018, school shooting at Marjory Stoneman Douglas (MSD) high school in Parkland, Florida, in the United States. Among these case studies, the Never Again movement provides the most current look at a youth social

movement and the relationship between social movements today and the digital landscape that helps promote, expand, and enact their activism.

Much of the previous youth-led activism throughout history has been started by college-aged students, ¹⁵ but the three cases being studied in this project all involved high-school aged students and younger children in many aspects of their causes. Across the cases, youth have been involved in various aspects of these social movements, including youth being the victims of the violence that started the movement, youth being the leaders of the movement, and youth being a major part of the demographic for engagement with the movement. I argue that because the three cases in this study are social movements that involve individuals younger than traditional adult social movement activism, they are important cases worth studying at a time when youth activism is rising. ¹⁶ Exploring activism that is done by, and engages, young people is relevant not only because of its growing popularity, but also for the future as a way to learn where, why, and how these youth social movements come about, grow, and accomplish (or do not accomplish) their goals.

In addition, this dissertation examines the impact of the digital realm on social movements over the last fifteen years, as well as how the variables surrounding social movements impact their relationship to the use of digital means. Ultimately, this study explores how contemporary social movements use digital technology across the globe with a younger cohort in similar and different ways to promote their causes further and how these variables all impact how each movement defines activism.

Today's youth pose an important dynamic to study when it comes to social movements and activism. On the one hand, adults sometimes see youth as naïve and

uninterested in politics. However, as Lynn Clark and Regina Marchi highlight, it is not that youth are uninterested in politics, but rather that adults today define citizenship, and how people engage with politics, differently than youth today. Whereas the past understanding of citizenship included activities such as voting, following the laws, and paying taxes, citizen participation today is more along the lines of participating in protests, boycotts, and civil court cases with a concern for others. Thus, older generations may not recognize the political work that younger generations are doing as activism and might discount the cohort as a whole as not being interested in politics at all.

It is important to study the youth perspective because of what they bring to the conversation about politics, social justice, rights, and freedoms. Specifically, Maureen Johnson highlights the importance of looking at younger generations and their perspectives on issues because they are seeing issues for the first time and bring new and passionate perspectives on issues that older generations have been fighting for over many years. Youth activists recognize injustice and fight for change with a passion to create a just world to live in.

Building upon these perspectives, Marshall Ganz, a senior lecturer at the Harvard Kennedy School discusses the important aspects that youth bring to solving the problems of the world. First, Ganz argues that youth have a critical eye of the world, meaning that they are able to see the problems in the world more clearly; they look at injustices around the world and ask *why* they exist and how those injustices can be solved. Second, Ganz says that youth have a clear view of the world's needs and pains. Because they have a critical look of the world, youth are able to see the struggles that others face and the needs that those struggles produce. Finally, Ganz states that they bring hopeful hearts that

show the world's promises and possibilities. Again, because the younger demographic has not been in the world as long, they have not seen these problems last for decades, they have not seen as many attempts to solve problems fail, and because of that, they still have hope that they can make changes and believe that problems will get better.²⁰ From this perspective, youth provide insights into problems and come at those problems with a sense of hope that make their voices important to consider when exploring and attempting to find solutions.

The Invisible Children, the Bring Back Our Girls, and Never Again movements they each have connections to youth through their leadership and membership, but also because they all came about because youth had been explicitly targeted with violence. All three of these cases also use technology and non-traditional forms of garnering attention on a global scale. Finally, these three movements have a variety of demographics when it comes to leaders and participants in their activism. The Invisible Children movement was created and led by three recent college graduate young adult males; the Bring Back Our Girls movement and the fight for education for girls around the world gained Malala Yousafzai, a young Pakistani female, as a prominent worldwide spokesperson; and finally, the Never Again movement was created by and has been led by high school students of varying ethnic diversity within their leadership. The three cases have enough in common to be examined side-by-side, but they each vary enough in their specifics enough that they cover a wide range of youth social activism that has/is utilizing digital technology.

Defining Key Terms

This project explores the interplay among four key terms: "youth," "social movement," "digital," and "activism." Although each of these terms is complicated, it is important to develop a working definition for each term that will inform the project as a whole. Below, I explore each term, relying on previous research, to develop a working definition for this specific research.

Defining Youth: A Complex Task for a Complex Group

Defining "youth" is surprisingly complex. The complexities arise from an understanding of what makes an individual a "youth" or what makes someone an "adult," and if being in one category automatically excludes an individual from the other category. Additionally, attempting to understand the concept of "youth" or "young adult" becomes even more difficult when considering how these terms are defined on a worldwide scale. With these difficulties in mind, I explore a definition of "youth" that best suits this research below.

In establishing a definition for youth, there are a few important considerations. The first would is the legal understanding of what makes one an adult, which is not consistent around the globe. In much of the world, the age of majority (that is, the threshold whereby the law considers a person an adult) is 18-years-old.²¹ One possible benefit of using the age of majority as a standard is that it can clearly define from a legal standpoint where the concept of "youth" lies. Many countries, such as the United States (aside from Alabama, Mississippi, Nebraska, and Puerto Rico),²² Egypt,²³ Nigeria,²⁴ Mexico,²⁵ and Uganda,²⁶ all observe the 18-year-old age of majority. However, there are

several countries where the age of majority ranges from 9-17 years old, including: Iran,²⁷ Saudi Arabia,²⁸ Indonesia,²⁹ Yemen,³⁰ Cuba,³¹ Cambodia,³² Vietnam,³³ and North Korea.³⁴ But, while the three countries being studied in this project, Nigeria, Uganda, and (the majority of) the United States all have an age of majority of 18, because of the diversity across the globe, and even within some countries such as the United States and Canada,³⁵ bounding the high-end of the "youth" demographic at 18 poses a problem. Because of this fluidity in what is considered the age of majority, it is not a simple solution to the problem of how to bound "youth" for this project.

In the absence of a global consensus, there are other frameworks for defining "youth" besides the legal framework of age of majority. After gathering an understanding of the use of "youth" in previous research, exploring the advantages and disadvantages of each in relation to this project will ultimately lead to the final definition of youth for this project. If the age of majority does not cover a wide enough range for this research, then another way to establish a standard for this term is to take a look at how other researchers have defined "youth" in a similar context. In previous research, scholars have varied understandings and usages of what constitutes "youth." For example, when studying policy-making rhetoric and youth in the 2004 election, Allison Howard and Donna Hoffman categorized youth as individuals ages 18 to 29.36 The bounding of youth beginning at 18 here is, in part, determined by American voting policies wherein an individual must be 18 years old to vote. Additionally, in studies conducted by the Pew Research Center, on young people and political engagement, youth is also considered and measured as individuals ages 18-29.37 Again, the low-end of the "youth" boundary is set, in part, due to U.S. policies on voting, and while this dissertation does include a social

movement that takes place in the United States, the other two social movements are outside of the United States. Thus, using U.S. standards to bound the term "youth" is problematic for this research as well. However, extending the age range through 29 adds to this dissertation because it facilitates the study of youth across time, as social movements go on for years. Extending the age of youth through 29, based on the political grounding of youth for those under 30, is the best way to capture the dynamic nature of youth in the context of youth social activism for this research.

Meanwhile, in a study that explored the web and youth emotions, the authors categorized "youth" as individuals in the age range of 13-19 years old on the basis of emotional development.³⁸ This definition of youth as it relates to emotion is important for this study because emotional appeals and affect are key rhetorical aspects I study in relation to how these social movements communicate their cause with outside audiences.

Additionally, this research focuses on how youth utilize social media in their social activism, so taking into consideration social media parameters also helps guide the decision for where to bound the youngest parameter of "youth" for this research. For most social media platforms (i.e. Facebook, ³⁹ Twitter, ⁴⁰ Instagram, ⁴¹ Snapchat, ⁴² Pinterest, ⁴³ Kik, ⁴⁴ QQ, ⁴⁵ and YouTube, ⁴⁶ with WeChat only allowing users this young access to an account with parental consent ⁴⁷), the minimum age requirement to create an account and to use that platform is 13 years old A few outliers include WhatsApp (which recently raised their minimum age requirement to 16 years old), ⁴⁸ Tumblr(for users in the European Union, they must be 16, but 13 elsewhere), ⁴⁹ and Periscope (16 years old). ⁵⁰ While some children younger than 13 work-around the age restrictions of these sites, 13 is the standard age set across many major platforms. The social media minimum age

standards, along with the minimum age of youth as it relates to emotion, provide a strong bottom-line age for those considered "youth" as users younger than 13.

The rationale behind the 13-29 age-range constituting youth for this dissertation is due to 13 years old being the youngest age permitted on the majority of social networking platforms; a key aspect of this project. The extension of the age through 29 moves past the complicated boundary of the age of majority to include those individuals throughout their 20s. This includes the older aged activists that have not yet reached "adulthood" but still contribute to the movements. The extension through 29 years old is important for this research because many young activists may start in their teens or early twenties, but they continue to contribute to the movement for years to follow.

When considering "youth" in this project, there are three ways in which the youth aspect contributes to social movements. Each movement for this project must meet the requirement of being *youth-affected*. This means the movement must have come about due to an issue that has directly impacted youth. Next, the cases must involve youth in their activism, which breaks down into either being led by youth (*youth-led*), or involve the youth heavily in their target demographic for participation(*youth-involved*). Some of the cases in this study are both *youth-affected* and *youth-led*, while others are *youth-affected* and *youth-involved*, and finally, some of the cases are all three; *youth-led*, *youth-affected*, and *youth-involved*.

Each case in this research came about because of its direct relationship to youth.

Invisible Children came about after three young men saw and learned about the abduction of young boys who were forced to become child soldiers in northern Uganda. The Bring Back Our Girls movement developed after over 200 young Chibok girls were abducted

from their dormitories for attending school. Finally, the Never Again movement began after Marjory Stoneman Douglas high school was attacked by an active shooter who killed 14 teenagers. In addition to each of the three cases coming about after an act of violence directed at youth, these movements all have youth backing the movement and showing support for the cause. Young people have come together to either create or contribute (or both) to each of these three movements.

Finally, I explore how social movement organizers and participants present the idea and image of the youth in each of these social movements. This, too, is a complex relationship in that each of the movements has direct connections to youth, but how they communicate about and discuss youth varies. These movements portray youth in the forefront of their movements in various ways, from being directly impacted by a crisis to being movement leaders to empowering more youth to step up and step forward as activists for their cause. The rhetoric used by each movement is significant to study as a way to analyze the overall role and impact youth have had in these movements.

Digital Technologies in Twenty-First Century Social Movements

For those who are involved in the organization of a social movement or activism in the twenty-first century, digital aspects also play an important role. Across the globe, citizens are using technology to empower themselves both politically and socially through the use of computers, mobile technology, and web-based devices. These activists and citizen journalists are using digital technology to tell their stories, bypassing gatekeepers of traditional media to reach wider audiences, which, as I later discuss, is the first step in the activism ladder moving from interest to participation.

In addition to the leaders of social movements using digital means, participants of social movements also engage in digital activism as well. When it comes to consumption of news and politics, the majority of the population still gets their news from traditional forms of media, but news consumption for young adults is done more so through digital means. ⁵² This creates a shift from traditional news to more diverse sources for the youth demographic. With youth gathering their news from more sources, they are exposed to what individuals outside of mainstream media find important and newsworthy, thus allowing them to set their own agendas as to what they stand behind and support. This helps distribute power into the hands of citizens and provides them with a sense of agency, both of which become important when developing social movements and helping individuals make a difference. ⁵³ This is especially important for youth because the agency that they have to learn about the world is directly linked to the possibility for them to change it. ⁵⁴

Within the digital sections of each chapter, I discuss the significance between where a movement takes place and how they use digital technologies. Specifically, I explore issues of access and infrastructure and how that impacts the spreadability of their message. The discussion of digital access and the implications of the variance around the globe is referred to as the *digital divide*.⁵⁵ The digital divide is an important issue to consider when discussing social movements with a global reach because of variations in accessibility across the world, including within and across the three countries studied here. When not everyone has the same availability or access to the same digital means, it is important to discuss how those differences impact the various social movements and their overall work.

It is important to note, and explore, that with each case, there is positivity surrounding digital rhetoric and the relationship with youth, social movements, and activism, but there is also criticism with digital rhetoric which includes issues of echo chambers and censorship. Echo chambers occur when an individual seeks out and is surrounded by similar and reaffirming views on issues that individual already has.

Research demonstrates that people will more often search for opinions that are similar to theirs than for differing opinions, which reinforces information they already support, rather than content that challenges their ideals or represents different voices. This is very often seen in digital rhetoric, specifically through social media platforms such as Twitter and Facebook. While perhaps not to the extent that previous research has estimated, this is nevertheless an important factor to consider when studying the three social movements of this dissertation.

One of the major problems with echo chambers is that they can lead to instances of confirmation bias, wherein an individual simply seeks out information that confirms what they already think or believe and then ignore information that contradicts their already held beliefs. This can also lead to group polarization where members of the group become reluctant to bring up information that might contradict the group consensus, inhibiting the group from considering all of the facts. If social movements exist exclusively, or almost exclusively, on social media platforms, and the ideas of the participants are the only ideas being brought up and circulated, this could prevent social movements from creating impact or making changes. While the effectiveness of social movements is not the main purpose of this dissertation, the impact echo chambers could have on the rhetoric that is being used by the leaders and/or participants makes this an

important aspect to consider when studying the digital rhetoric that takes place in youth social movements.

In addition to echo chambers posing a concern for digital rhetoric when it comes to youth, social movements, and activism, issues of censorship also pose a problem for social movements that utilize the digital realm. Each case has its own unique relationship with censorship and how that censorship impacts the movement locally and globally is discussed in detail based on the various conditions of each movement.

When it comes to access to information, some countries, such as Tanzania, have laws that secure access to information to their citizens. However, in their Cybercrime Act of 2015, the Tanzanian police force is allowed to criminalize actions of individuals under freedom of expression and access to information, which ultimately undermines and threatens the access that Tanzanians have. ⁶⁰ In Uganda, current cyber laws threaten the privacy of users as both mass and targeted surveillance is allowed, as well as search and seizure of private electronic devices of individuals. ⁶¹ These examples highlight that while citizens might have rights to access and use cyber technology, they may still be restricted by legal repercussions that inhibit how they might use said technology.

In addition to this type of surveillance and access control, other governments are more explicit in their restrictions. For example, during the Egyptian Revolution, the Egyptian government almost completely blocked access to the Internet for nearly two full days. ⁶² This is significant because it is during times of revolution or activism that access to the Internet and digital media could be of vast importance to citizens across the globe. Without that access, people are isolated from getting information and sharing their information with others. Issues of access, be they technological access issues, or access

issues in the way of censorship, are important aspects to consider when studying digital rhetoric, but even more so when studying digital rhetoric across the globe as rights, freedoms, and development will vary across nations.

While the United States and Nigeria do not have as big of concerns when it comes to censorship, the Ugandan government has been making moves to curtail the freedom of expression of its citizens online and censoring the web content available to them.⁶³ This has also led to citizens self-censoring the content they share online.⁶⁴ This type of censorship could impact how individuals participate in social movements, specifically when it comes to the digital rhetoric of those movements. There is a common thread through all three of the cases in that they all incorporate digital aspects into their specific movements, however, they are all unique based on the time in which they came about, the location of the movement, and the details that surround each of these unique attributes of the social movement.

What Makes a Social Movement a Social Movement

Similar to the term "youth," "social movement" is not an easy term to define.

Various scholars of social movements have defined "social movement" in many different ways. In twentieth- and twenty-first century studies of social movements, researchers have not established a consensus on a definition of what they classify as a social movement. Beginning in the mid-1960s, scholars began studying and developing past the idea of collective behavior for organizational and political unrest to an idea of unrepresented groups, collective action, and social movements. McCarthy and Zald define a social movement as "a set of opinions and beliefs in a population which

represents preferences for changing some elements of the social structure and/or reward distribution of a society."⁶⁷ Charles Tilly states that social movements are more than a group similar to a party, but rather social movements are a "sustained interaction between a specific set of authorities and various spokespersons for a given challenge to those authorities."⁶⁸ Tilly claims that social movements are a series of interactions between those with power and those speaking on behalf of those lacking representation.⁶⁹ What these definitions of social movements have in common is the notion of change, of shifting from how the structure currently is to a redistribution of power to the way it "should" or "ought" to be.

I emphasize this characteristic of social movements as a means to gauge the social movements of this dissertation to highlight the shift social movements are attempting to make. This is an important distinction because social movements are not simply activists fighting for the status quo, and because of that, they tend to be disruptive, and often challenge the standard ways of thinking. When acts of activism are critiqued amongst society, they are often called out for being disruptive, but I want to make the point, throughout this dissertation, that the disruption is part of what makes something a social movement.

Another defining characteristic of a social movement is their, at the very least, minimal organization.⁷⁰ This means that social movements must have some semblance of organization and cannot be a free-for-all within themselves. Movements that lack this basic level of organization are not classified as social movements, but are rather understood as fads, a riots, or unorganized protests.⁷¹ While there must be some level of organization within a movement to be considered a social movement, they are never

single-minded or completely cohesive.⁷² This is because, within the movements, factions form and conflicts arise over leadership, how to spend funds, strategies, and ultimate goals. This leads to multiple leaders and organizations within one movement.

In addition to leadership, a social movement must have a sizeable membership in order to continue their existence and sustain themselves in the long-term. It is both the size and scope of a movement that distinguishes a social movement from pressure groups, lobbies, and campaigns. As Pamela Oliver and Gerald Marwell explain, emphasizing the importance and strength of having sizable membership within an organization, "one person marching for a thousand hours is not the same as a thousand people marching for one hour." Membership size is an important aspect of social movements, as this is a key factor that differentiates social movements from other forms of organizing. The size of a movement's membership contributes not only to its validity as a social movement, but also to its impact.

Bringing together all of these understandings and definitions of what makes a social movement leads to the conceptual definition of a social movement I use throughout this dissertation. The key concepts for a social movement for this research are: (1) it must be pushing for change, a shift from what is to what ought to be, (2) there must be a sustained interaction between those challenging authority and those in authority, (3) it must be at least semi-organized, (4) and there must be sizable membership/following within the movement.

What is "Activism"

Along with "youth" and "social movement," defining what constitutes "activism" is complex. Activism is what makes a movement work, the function of what brings about change or evolution and a change in the system as it is. 75 What activism looks like has changed with the changing of time and technology. "Traditional" activism, such as marches, protests, sit-ins, petitions, posters, and radio and television interviews, is contrasted with the "digital" activism of today, where the purpose of spreading a message is the same, but the means of spreading that message have changed and expanded. For example, instead of physical petitions, social media users share digital online petitions. Rather than television interviews, participants might go live on Facebook, Instagram or Periscope to share their message with the masses. Instead of sit-ins, digital activists might hack a website. Importantly, activism today does not completely exclude traditional forms of activism, but rather combines traditional activism with digital activism. Each case in this dissertation utilizes both traditional forms of activism as well as digital activism. All three cases incorporate protests and/or marches wherein large groups of people gather together to bring attention and a loud voice to their cause. They also all use digital platforms to spread their messages, gain more attention, and recruit new followers.

Despite the differences between traditional and digital activism, the two can, and do, work in tandem. Digital activism can lead to traditional forms of activism, and traditional forms of activism can direct participants back toward the digital sphere for more information and a place to connect with others about the cause. Traditional and digital activism are not opposite counterparts to one another, but rather they are complementary acts with similar broad goals to bring about change and evolution.

Slacktivism is a critique of social media activism and what is considered action, and beyond that, sufficient action. Yu-Hao Lee and Gary Hsieh use *slacktivism* to describe activism that takes place online that is low stakes, low cost, and requires little effort but still shows minimal support for a cause. ⁷⁶ Slacktivism is an important aspect to consider for the three movements studied in this dissertation, but this critique of non-traditional forms of activism should not derail or negate the legitimate contributions these forms of digital activism provide to the movements themselves.

Along with *slacktivism* as an argument against digital activism is the idea of social media as a double-edged sword. That is, the benefits and drawbacks that using social media in one's activism has can both help and hurt the movement overall. This helps shed light on potential issues of access and censorship when it comes to technology and social media across the world. This perspective critiques the sometimes glorified assumption of digital and social media activism's ability, on a state or transnational scale, to solve issues and create impactful change. This critique goes in tandem with slacktivism in that while yes, social media allows *some* individuals access to express their views and/or concerns and need for change, it also poses problems in that not everyone has the same access and the actual contribution to change that digital activism makes. Throughout this dissertation, I highlight aspects of what each social movement does that separates their activism from slacktivism, and where their activism may be considered slacktivism utilizing Clark and Marchi's ladder of political engagement. Research Marchi discuss steps wherein young people move from interest to participation in a social movement, a process that involves connective journalism and is stemmed in emotions. They argue, though, that the engagement does not necessarily stop there, and that this

type of communication can, in fact, be actionable. To explain in greater detail, this explanation starts with an understanding of the differences between traditional journalism and collective journalism as it relates to emotion. First, it is important to note that traditional journalism does utilize emotion via storytelling as a means to share their various narratives, but what makes connective journalism different is how viewers of those narratives connect to them.

Connective journalism is a way of sharing information that builds a collective and individual identity, and thus is seen when people engage in communicative acts that give a voice to their way of viewing the world, as well as communicating about how people ought to feel on those issues. Clark and Marchi argue that young people share what they *feel* is important and is often determined through strong emotions such as outrage, anger, disgust, glee, joy, anticipation, amusement, or appreciation. People do not simply want to share stories, but rather, they also want to share how they feel about those stories, creating what Papacharissi calls "affective publics". While this emotion-based approach to news has its drawbacks, this type of communication can be actionable, meaning these rhetorical acts not only share emotional explanations about one's concerns on issues, but also what people can do as a response.

This type of journalism involves three specific practices in which young people move from interest to participation in the social media era, including: (1) sharing, (2) inserting oneself into the story, and (3) participating in the making of a story.⁸¹ These three steps are on what Clark and Marchi call the ladder of political engagement, moving from interest to participation, and is what I use to combat the argument of slacktivism. To begin, the first major critique of online activism is that it is low stakes and low stakes is

used to demean electronic political participation. 82 However, each of the three steps presented here do require a level of interpersonal risk. 83

In addition, critiques against online activism argue that online activists do not engage in other activities outside of the mere slacktivism acts such as changing ones profile picture, joining a Facebook group, or sharing a tweet.⁸⁴ Based off Clark and Marchi's ladder of political engagement, those small steps are, in fact, just steps in the shift from interest to participation for online activists. So while not all online activists move from the sharing stage of online activism, that is just the first stage of online activism, and not one to be diminished.

How Affect Shapes Youth Digital Social Movement Activism

Throughout this dissertation, I incorporate multiple theories to help provide insight into the three cases of youth digital social movement activism. I explore the impact that affect rhetoric has on these movements, specifically with the mobilization of young people as a key feature in the movements. I then discuss echo chambers and how the digital landscape impacts who and what individuals hear and learn about and the significance of this for what might otherwise be ignored or underrepresented issues in mainstream media. I also bring in Clark and Marchi's ladder of political engagement to help explain the importance of the various steps performed by these social movements as a means to combat the major criticism of digital social movements being nothing more than slacktivism. It is with these theoretical perspectives that we can see the adaptive forms of activism various social movements enact and better understand those moves which can help us study and analyze future social movements.

Dating back to at least Aristotle, rhetorical analysis has included the study of how a rhetor uses appeals (ethos, pathos, and logos) in their attempts to persuade their audience. Over time, however, the understanding of what rhetoric is and does has progressed beyond neo-Aristotelian criticism. While rhetoric is no longer explicitly centered on the persuasion attempts of a speaker onto others, the studying of appeals, specifically pathos has shifted to what is today referred to as *affect*. Affect rhetoric is a valuable lens to view digital youth social movement activism because of its modern connection to digital, sensory, and bodily rhetoric and the impact that all of that has on an audience.

Affect is a complex rhetorical term that is difficult to define clearly, in part, because affect is an action. However, understanding affect is important for this study, specifically, with how affect relates to the youth aspect of each movement and the appeals to the emotions of outsiders in order to gain their interest, attention, and ultimately, their action. Affect is an emotional response a person has to a stimulus that is said to precede cognition; 85 that is, affect is a reaction that takes place prior to a person cognitively thinking through the stimuli that causes that response. Affect is not a personal *feeling*, but rather it is the ability to affect and be affected by someone or something. 86 Affect is emotive, but it is pre-emotional. 87 Affect is different from Aristotle's *pathos* because affect is the response that one has before that response is labeled with feelings or emotions. 88 In addition to pre-existing emotions, affect also involves an interplay of the senses. This is also significant when it comes to studying today's social movements that involve social media and technology as the advancements of today's technology and

media engage multiple senses, and more senses simultaneously, than traditional forms of media and technology.

Affect is not limited to a response simply from words that are spoken or shared, but affect is also a response from visuals as well. Elizabeth Brunner and Kevin Michael Deluca proposed the term *affective winds* in 2016 to describe the "force of images that moves people to engage and interact by exploring the affective potency of visual arguments." This is important to consider when studying social movements today because of their use of images on social media platforms such as Twitter, Instagram, YouTube, and various *Live* streaming platforms. Affect rhetoric is an important aspect of this research as it provides additional insight into the methods used by youth social movements throughout the growth of the digital era.

Specifically, in this dissertation, affect is directly related to the youth aspect and the infantilization of those whom the movement is working to help. Infantilization is treating someone as a child or denying their age or maturity. Infantilizing is often seen when discussing individuals with disabilities, such as autism and muscular dystrophy (e.g. Jerry's Kids), which, while problematic, has sometimes been used to gain sympathy and pity from outsiders. ⁹⁰ Infantilization relates to both affect and youth in the cases of this study because the utilization of young children and girls in the rhetoric, both written words and imagery, of these social movements elicits emotional responses from those who see and hear about the movement. It evokes a sense of inability for these individuals to take care of themselves and the need for outside help, similar to that of a parent to a child. This emotional response, similar to how it is used with individuals with disabilities, gains pity, sympathy, and hopefully even funds for the social movements. Each of the

cases in this study utilize youth in various ways, and thus have unique relationships to infantilization and different affect impact.

Throughout this dissertation, I show how social movements have worked to move past this first step of online activism, as well as discuss the impacts on a movement when it does, in fact, get stuck in this first stage. With each case, I highlight the steps of political engagement to show how Invisible Children, Bring Back Our Girls, and Never Again have all created means for activism to take place within each social movement. Additionally, I explore the evolution of activism and the shift from using offline, traditional activism to garner more digital activism, to using digital activism to get participants to engage in offline, traditional activism.

Case Backgrounds

Invisible Children: Uganda

In 2003, a group of young aspiring filmmakers, Jason Russell, Bobby Bailey, and Laren Poole set out to produce a documentary about the war in the Darfur region of Sudan.⁹¹ Traveling through Northern Uganda, Jason Russell witnessed the vehicle in front of the one they were traveling in get shot at, and that is when he learned about the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA), and their leader, Joseph Kony. After witnessing this event in Northern Uganda, the focus of the group's documentary shifted from the war in Darfur to the civil war impacting Uganda.

In 2004, Jan Egeland, Under Secretary-General for Humanitarian Affairs and the UN's Emergency Relief Coordinator, called the LRA crisis in Northern Uganda the "most forgotten, neglected humanitarian emergency in the world." The Lord's

25

Resistance Army is a rebel group who claimed to have been fighting for the freedom of the Acholi people in Northern Uganda. However, over the last two decades, the LRA has mainly attacked the Acholi people by killing, abducting, enslaving, and raping them. ⁹³ As of 2005, nearly half of the people in Northern Uganda were displaced, living in camps, and had lost their freedoms due to the LRA. Luis Moreno-Ocampo, prosecutor of the International Criminal Court (ICC), detailed the crimes alleged against the LRA beginning July of 2002, when ICC jurisdiction began, stating that two of the most serious crimes were numerous acts of murder, often reaching into the hundreds of killings within a single month. In addition to murder, the LRA enslaved many people of Northern Uganda. Both of these actions the LRA committed, and continues to commit, fall into the category of crimes against humanity. ⁹⁴

As the leader of the LRA, Kony has arrest warrants issued against him on "12 counts of crimes against humanity including: murder, enslavement, rape, inhumane acts of inflicting serious bodily injury and suffering; and 21 counts for counts of war crimes including: cruel treatment of civilians, intentionally directing an attack against a civilian population, pillaging including rape and forced enlisting of children." Among all of the crimes Kony and LRA were committing, it was the abduction and forced enlisting and enslavement of children that shaped the Invisible Children movement.

According to the Invisible Children website, this movement was created in order to bring attention to the "most forgotten, neglected humanitarian emergency in the world." ⁹⁶ The founding members of this group believed that "if people around the World knew the reality of the LRA violence – more than 60,000 children abducted, tens of thousands killed, and millions displaced – and if they could see the names, faces, and

To accomplish this goal, the group created their first documentary, *Invisible Children:*The Rough Cut, released in 2006. 98 This film focuses on the youth who have been abducted and turned into child soldiers by the LRA, and the children who walk long distances every night searching for refuge in order to avoid being abducted by the LRA.

Invisible Children: The Rough Cut was the first of twelve films, contributing to part of the over 134 million views across all of their online videos. 99

While Invisible Children was started in 2004, the movement applied for, and was accepted as, a 501 (c) (3) non-profit organization as a public charity. ¹⁰⁰ In addition to film screenings, Invisible Children also sold t-shirts, bracelets, and posters to help raise money for their cause, to help fund their continual production of films focusing on awareness, and for humanitarian aid for Northern Uganda that will be discussed further in this dissertation. ¹⁰¹

Bring Back Our Girls: Nigeria

Today it is estimated that over 130 million girls are out of school around the world. If that number were the population of a country, it would be the 10th largest country in the world—the size of both the United Kingdom and France combined. 102 Some of these girls have never had the opportunity to go to school, and some of them have had their opportunity taken from them. Amongst this group of girls are those who have been affected by political or religious groups who forcefully took their right to education away. Boko Haram is one of these militant groups that has been working out of Nigeria with the purpose to impose Sharia (Islamic) law in the country since 2002. 103

Boko Haram is a terrorist group, which, when translated to English, means "Western Education is Sinful." They target the education of girls, in an effort to keep women exclusively in the household and not participating in education opportunities. Boko Haram has become more radical and violent since 2009 after their founder, Mohammed Yusuf, died in police custody and Abudakar Shekau became the new leader. This group regularly attacks civilians in places like churches and schools, along with government officials and military members, as a way to rid northern Nigeria of what the group perceives as Western influence and to enforce their extreme Islamic religious ideologies. The May 2013, the Nigerian President, Goodluck Jonathan, declared a state of emergency in three northern states, including Borno, Yobe, and Adamawa, stating that these states had already been overtaken by these radical groups "whose allegiance are to different flags than Nigeria's." 108

One of the most recognized acts of terrorism from Boko Haram to enforce their ideals was the abduction of over 200 Chibok girls from their school dormitory in April 2014. This was the single largest abduction attributed to Boko Haram. On April 14, 2014, gunmen from Boko Haram kidnapped 276 girls aged 12-17 from the Government Girls Secondary School in the town of Chibok in the state of Borno in north-eastern Nigeria. These girls were abducted from their dormitories and were forced onto trucks and driven into the bush. It was during this process that nearly sixty of these young girls managed to escape, leaving around 200 others in captivity.

Almost three weeks after their abduction, on May 4, 2014, President Jonathan spoke out about the girls for the first time, saying, "wherever these girls are, we will surely get them out."¹¹³ The next day, on May 5, Boko Haram faction leader Shekau

claimed responsibility for the kidnapping of the girls, saying that God instructed him to sell the girls, that they are his property now, and that he will be carrying out the instructions of God.¹¹⁴ Some of the elders in the area also claimed that some of the girls had already been sold as brides to fighters of Boko Haram for 2000 naira, the equivalent of around \$6.¹¹⁵

A week later, a second video was released by Boko Haram, showing about 100 of the missing girls. It was at this point that the worldwide media campaign was launched, demanding the release of the girls using the hashtag #BringBackOurGirls. The #BringBackOurGirls hashtag was first used by a Nigerian lawyer, Ibrahim Abdullahi on April 23, 2014. This tweet echoed the words from former Nigerian minister of education, and Vice President of the World Bank, Oby Ezekwesili, who led a group of protesters to Abuja, the capital city of Nigeria, demanding the Nigerian military to 'bring back our girls' after the kidnapping. 117

As the hashtag spread online, including images of the missing schoolgirls, the concern for the safety and return of the Chibok girls became a worldwide issue. The plea initially began directed at the Nigerian government and military to do something to find and bring back the young girls who had been stolen. However, the movement eventually evolved into an appeal to Boko Haram, pleading to bring the girls back, and eventually, the movement's demands were directed at the entire world to do something, including the United Nations.¹¹⁸

The kidnapping sparked outrage and condemnation around the world and among world leaders and celebrities alike. In addition to celebrities and political leaders, this movement attracted the attention of youth activist Malala Yousafzai, a spearhead for

girls' education across the world. Yousafzai has taken up being a spokesperson for the Bring Back Our Girls movement, both in the media as well as on the ground in Nigeria and with political leaders. Through Facebook and Twitter, the Bring Back Our Girls movement garnered attention from civil rights groups and students' and girls' rights campaigns in the United States, Canada, England, France, Malaysia, and South Africa, among others, who joined the campaign. 119

While the campaign resonated around the world, with more than one million uses of the hashtag in less than three weeks, ¹²⁰ in Nigeria, the Bring Back Our Girls campaign clashed with then-president Jonathan's administration. Jonathan accused the movement of manipulating the victims of terrorism and accused activists of playing politics after his meeting that was scheduled with the parents of the abducted schoolgirls was canceled. ¹²¹

Never Again: United States of America

Around 2:20 p.m. on February 14, 2018, in Parkland, Florida, in the United States of America, shots rang throughout the halls of Marjory Stoneman Douglas (MSD) high school. By 2:50, the shooter had left the school and made his way to a local Wal-Mart. Roughly thirty minutes on that Valentine's Day afternoon resulted in the loss of fourteen student lives and three teachers along with thousands of the surviving MSD students and faculty forever marked by this tragedy.

As a part of what some call the post-Columbine (1999) generation, ¹²³ the students of Marjory Stoneman Douglas grew up living in a world where school shootings were not just a scary story being told, but a reality happening throughout their lives, such as the Virginia Tech shooting in 2007, ¹²⁴ the Sandy Hook shooting in 2012 at the elementary

school, ¹²⁵ and the Isla Vista attack near the campus of the University of California, Santa Barbara in 2014. ¹²⁶

Survivor Cameron Kasky calls his generation the "mass-shooting generation" and spearheaded a group of student-survivors of the MSD shooting who all decided they were not going to let this tragedy become just another name on the list of mass shootings in the United States. After speaking to the press on February 14, MSD student David Hogg was popularly quoted, saying, "Please... we're children. You guys are the adults. You need to take some action and play a role. Work together, come over your politics and get something done." 128

Not willing to be another number, Kasky invited a group of MSD students to his house two days after the shooting, and that is where these "children" began taking action. The gathering included Delaney Tarr, Ryan Deitsch, Jaclyn Corin, Sarah Chadwick, Alex Wind, David Hogg, and Emma Gonzalez. Kasky and his friends were set on "rewrit[ing] the entire national dialogue about school shootings." The members of this group quickly decided not to focus on macro-politics, but rather focus on a few, reasonable, attainable goals, and continue to repeat those specific messages over and over again. The two main goals decided upon were background checks and raising the age limit to purchases rifles from eighteen to twenty-one years old.

The group quickly recognized that in today's digital era, they needed a hashtag to keep everything related to their movement easily connected across technology and platforms. The group eventually settled on the #NeverAgain hashtag; they recognized the historical weight of this hashtag and its relationship to Nazis and the Holocaust, and so they were careful to use the phrase with respect. It was at this point that their

movement began to take off. Following the establishment of the hashtag, the MSD students began other efforts to bring attention to their cause and creating a social movement. These events included the March for Our Lives, one of the largest youth protests since the Vietnam War, ¹³² which took place in across the United States in cities including Washington D.C., Boston, Minneapolis, Houston, and Parkland, Florida where the shooting took place, ¹³³ as well as over 800 other marches in smaller cities across the globe; ¹³⁴ and a push for youth to vote in the 2018 United States midterm elections, *Vote for Our Lives*. ¹³⁵

The question quickly arose as to why this group of students was different from other victims of other school shootings or mass shootings. What about this group made them think that they could take on these issues and make changes? Reflecting on the Sandy Hook elementary shooting, the group felt that while society was able to "shrug off 20 dead first graders," they were not discouraged and continued to move forward despite knowing the difficulties that lay ahead of them. ¹³⁶ These difficulties and strategies the movement utilized to overcome them will be explored throughout this dissertation.

Method: Digital Rhetorical Criticism

In this project, I analyze content taken directly from the specific movements' social media accounts, including Twitter, Instagram, Facebook, and YouTube. This content will come from the Invisible Children Twitter (@Invisible; verified account), Instagram (invisiblechildren), Facebook (https://www.facebook.com/invisiblechildren/; verified account), and YouTube (Invisible Children; verified account); the Bring Back Our Girls Twitter (@BBOG_Nigeria), Instagram (@bringbackourgirls), Facebook

(https://www.facebook.com/bringbackourgirls/), and YouTube (Bring Back Our Girls); and from the Parkland movement Twitter (@AMarch4OurLives; verified account), Instagram (marchforourlives; verified account), Facebook,

(https://www.facebook.com/marchforourlives/; verified account), and YouTube (March For Our Lives; verified account). I will also gather data from the content on the websites that are directly associated with and linked to each movement;

https://invisiblechildren.com/, http://www.bringbackourgirls.ng/, and
https://marchforourlives.com/. From these sites, I have collected content across the
existence of the movement that is directly written or published by the movements'
accounts, including original postings as well as re-posting of outside content that they
share on their specific page(s). I also include text and visual postings (images and videos)
in my analysis.

In addition to the content that is posted and shared on these platforms, I examine content that has been shared from traditional media outlets, including newspapers, magazines, and various articles. Along with information from news sources, I also study the physical activities that have taken place offline, and tangible items and merchandise that the movements sell and distribute. Using content that has been shared online as well as content that has happened offline highlights the multi-faceted approach that these modern social movements have taken. I gathered content from the movements themselves as well as third-party sources reporting on the movements.

In this research, I conduct a rhetorical criticism of the content collected from the platforms mentioned above and locations including digital and traditional/offline forms of rhetorical dialogue. In doing that, I analyze the words as well as the images, texts along

with videos, and digital along with offline interactions that take place among members within the social movement. This research explores how these texts are influenced by the various contexts of the people involved in them and how the context is then, in turn, influenced by the texts.

The scope of the content collected for this project varies between cases as their timelines are not the same; Invisible Children began in 2004 and is still continuing today, more than fifteen years later, whereas the Never Again movement has only been in existence for a few years. Thus, bounding the content based on equal lengths of time does not allow the questions of progression throughout the individual movements to be answered, where a more holistic analysis is more fitting for this project.

Research Questions

This dissertation seeks to answer how youth digital social movements have changed throughout the twenty-first century. Specifically, I look at how each of these concepts interact with and influence each other. I seek to answer several questions throughout this research:

- (1) How do these movements, with youth in the forefront, incorporate affective rhetoric as a means to promote and gain support for their cause?
- (2) How have youth digital social movements evolved throughout the twenty-first century.

Each case in this study has unique relationships to youth, the digital realm and social movement activism. Throughout each chapter, I examine each case individually to reveal the specific techniques used and to highlight their role in youth digital social

movement activism today. I then do a cross-case analysis, looking at how the cases are both similar and different in their techniques and what this means for the evolution of youth digital social movements over time.

Chapter 2:

Invisible Children: Early Digital Era Youth Social Movement Activism

Invisible Children started in 2004, when three young aspiring American filmmakers went to shoot a documentary about the war happening in the Darfur region of Sudan, but, while traveling, they witnessed the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA) attack the vehicle in front of theirs and their film project changed direction. The Lord's Resistance Army is a rebel group in Northern Uganda who claim to be fighting for the freedom of the Acholi people in Northern Uganda; however, for over two decades, this group has continued to attack Acholi people, killing, abducting, enslaving, and raping the people they claimed to be fighting for. The Lord's Joseph Kony is the "self-appointed messiah" of the LRA, and has been their leader, directing the LRA to "abduct, threaten, destroy and murder" in his name. Throughout the movement, Kony was a key focus for Invisible Children, aiming to make him known, and ultimately get him arrested.

Prosecutor of the International Criminal Court (ICC), Moreno-Ocampo, detailed the crimes alleged against the LRA beginning July of 2002, when ICC jurisdiction began, stating that two of the most serious crimes being committed were numerous acts of murder, often reaching into the hundreds within single months, as well as enslavement. Both of these crimes fall under the category of crimes against humanity, but unfortunately, Jan Egeland, Under-Secretary-General for Humanitarian Affairs and the UN's Emergency Relief Coordinator, referred to the humanitarian crisis happening in Northern Uganda the "most forgotten, neglected humanitarian emergency in the

world."¹⁴⁰ According to the Invisible Children website, the movement was created in order to bring attention to this forgotten humanitarian crisis.¹⁴¹

Specifically, the filmmakers wanted to learn more about and document the kidnappings that were happening resulting in many young Ugandan boys being turned into child-soldiers. According to the United Nations and the Paris Principles on the Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict, a child soldier is considered any child who is associated with "an armed force or armed group... below 18 years of age who is, or who has been, recruited or used by an armed force or armed group in any capacity, including but not limited to children, boys and girls, used as fighters, cooks, porters, spies, or for sexual purposes." Between the times of June 2002 and August 2004, the year the Invisible Children movement began, UNICEF estimated that nearly 15,000 children had been abducted by the LRA and over 40,000 children were being displaced every night, leaving their homes and traveling to urban centers in attempt to avoid abduction and attack from the Lord's Resistance Army. 143

While the abduction of these young boys and turning them into child soldiers was not the only offense of the LRA against the people of Northern Uganda, it was the act that caused, and was the main focus of, the Invisible Children movement. With some background information on the catalyst of the Invisible Children Movement, this chapter details the relationship this movement has with youth, with the digital realm, how it has become a social movement, and ultimately the activism Invisible Children has done over the years.

The Role of Youth throughout the Invisible Children Movement

The Invisible Children movement has a strong relationship to youth. Throughout the movement, youth have been a key focus of both the leaders of the movement, but also a key demographic of those involved in the movement. Below I explore the various roles youth have played in the Invisible Children movement, establishing this group as a cornerstone in each aspect of the movement as a whole.

Youth-affected

To begin, the Invisible Children movement began as a result of young children in Northern Uganda, specifically young boys, being kidnapped by the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA) and being turned into child-soldiers. The young boys of Uganda being directly targeted by the LRA is the first connection this social movement has to youth. The Invisible Children movement is first youth-affected. Young boys were the targets of the abductions and turned into violent soldiers, and young girls were being abducted to become sex slaves for Joseph Kony. 144

In addition to young people being the targets of the violence that spurred the Invisible Children movement, the use of the word "children" in the movement's name is important as well. Using the word "children" in the name of the movement clearly identified those who were impacted by the movement were young children. Utilizing children as the face of a cause is not new or unique to the Invisible Children movement. Studies have found that utilizing children in charities was a powerful way for the those charities to generate emotional reactions from people, as well as having a greater commitment to donating money to support the cause. ¹⁴⁵ On top of simply utilizing

children in the movement, utilizing negative emotions involving children generated significantly more monetary donations and larger donations of time and items as well. 146

This relationship between children and emotions, and children and donation of time, items, and money is significant to the Invisible Children movement. Through Invisible Children's use of children as a part of their name, and the use of children in their promotional materials, such as videos and online images (discussed below), they were able to tap into the emotions of the public in hopes of gaining their support.

Youth-led

Along with the Invisible Children movement being youth-affected, this movement is also youth-led. Jason Russell, Bobby Bailey, and Laren Poole were each in their early to mid-twenties, respectively, when they left for Darfur in 2003 and created the Invisible Children movement and first film in 2004. These three set out at a young age to take on a warlord who had been attacking Northern Uganda for over half of their lives. Twenty-two-year-old Ben Keesey joined the Invisible Children movement in 2005 as their Chief Financial Officer (CFO), the group went on to register Invisible Children as a non-profit organization in 2006, and then they reappointed then-24 year-old Keesey from CFO to CEO in 2007. Those working within the Invisible Children movement, both the founders and leaders, were young adults, all falling into the category of youth as they built this grassroots movement. This is significant because the Invisible Children movement highlights young people working to tackle large issues that impact more than simply them and their surroundings. The young age of the leaders of this movement is also

related to the final relationship invisible children has with youth; their target demographic for involvement.

Youth-involved

In addition to being youth-led, Invisible Children movement has youth who are involved in the movement. In the beginning of the movement, Invisible Children created their first video: *Invisible Children: The Rough Cut*, which they took on tour around the United States, traveling to high schools and college campuses for viewings with other youth. Specifically, for the Invisible Children movement, their target demographic was teenage girls and young adult females. ¹⁴⁷

Throughout their different events, one of the main goals of the Invisible Children movement was to encourage the youth of America to "do more than just watch" when it came to their involvement in social movements. They elicited involvement from other youth by hosting events that made those who wanted to be involved in them go out into public, take up physical space, cover any available surface with posters, hosting multimedia events with popular musical performances such as Mumford and Sons, The Plain White Tees, and David Archuleta; all popular artists for those in the youth demographic.

The movement garnered attention from young people by coming to them directly at their schools and universities and by making the acts of involvement something the youth was capable of doing. These acts included purchasing t-shirts with the slogan My Heart Is Beeping, reed bracelets that were made by the people of Uganda, short videos on DVD with different colors highlighting different children, and buttons. These were all

priced where high school and college students could afford them, and with their purchase, these youths could make contributions to the movement themselves. In addition to monetary contributions, as a cornerstone of their grassroots advocacy, the Invisible Children movement encouraged the youth to engage their political leaders via letterwriting, phone calls, rallies, and in-person lobby meetings. 149

One of Invisible Children's large national events that incorporated and appealed to youth was called Displace Me. The event took place in April 2007 with nearly 68,000 attendees across fifteen cities in the United States. This event encouraged participants to make and sleep in makeshift villages overnight to bring awareness to the displacement of the children taking place by the Ugandan government. ¹⁵⁰ It was this event that got the attention of musician Pete Wentz from the band Fall Out Boy. Wentz not only attended the Displace Me event, but he was also inspired to film Fall Out Boy's next music video in Uganda.

The band traveled to Uganda with the intention of shooting a documentary-style video for their upcoming song "I'm Like a Lawyer with the Way I'm Always Trying to Get You Off (Me and You)," but once the band arrived, their direction changed and they essentially shot a love-story between two young people in Uganda. This video highlights young people and young love in Uganda as something that is relatable across the world, but that familiarity and comfort was juxtaposed with the dangerous reality of young boys being abducted and turned into child soldiers in the night in Uganda. Invisible Children co-founder Bobby Bailey described the video as "groundbreaking" and as something that had the ability to humanize the people in Uganda across the world and bring people together. ¹⁵¹

Another way Invisible Children engaged the youth to participate in their movement was through their events. For example, in 2011, the events 25 and Break the Silence were held across the United States with over 90,000 people pledging to be silent for 25 hours to represent the 25 years of conflict in Central Africa as an act of spreading awareness. After the 25 hours of silence, participants were encouraged to gather across eighteen U.S. cities for Break the Silence. Break the Silence was a multimedia event that featured exclusive videos and musical performances by artists who volunteered to collaborate with Invisible Children, creating a festival-like atmosphere to appeal even more to young people with the hopes that the environment alone could appeal to those who otherwise might not be interested in social activism.

Finally, the Invisible Children movement held an event called the Fourth Estate Summit. This was a "broad, educational conference about global justice" designed for core supporters of the Invisible Children movement. The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice together to "discuss the role of the millennial generation in global justice and international humanitarian efforts". The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice together to "discuss the role of the millennial generation in global justice and international humanitarian efforts". The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice and international humanitarian efforts". The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice and international humanitarian efforts". The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice and international humanitarian efforts". The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice and international humanitarian efforts". The Fourth Estate Summit brought experts in film, business, journalism, economics, and international justice and international humanitarian efforts".

One of the Invisible Children movement's cornerstones was their engagement with youth throughout the movement's existence. From reaching and engaging high school and college students to providing practical ways those young people could get involved to partnering with celebrities and musicians, Invisible Children worked to find ways to get and keep the youth involved.

The Invisible Children movement has had a connection to youth in every aspect of the movement. First, the movement was established as a response to the youth of Northern Uganda being kidnapped and turned into child soldiers by the LRA. Second, the Invisible Children movement was created and run by youth filmmakers turned activists, Jason Russell, Bobby Bailey, and Laren Poole. Finally, a large portion of those who were engaged in the Invisible Children movement were also youth across the world working toward solving this humanitarian crisis. Invisible Children has a youth component throughout all stages of the movement making this a unique social movement as it focuses on youth, is managed by youth, and calls for majority of youth involvement.

Youth and Affect

Throughout the years, Invisible Children has positioned itself within a framework of young people needing saving, and the idea that young people can save them, and more than that, they can bring an end to an adult warlord halfway around the world. The Invisible Children movement tapped into the vulnerability of a group of people (youth) to invoke sympathy from an audience of roughly the same age. They were able to do this by appealing to the emotions of these young people; these kids cannot be in school like you, they cannot go on dates or to the movies, or be with their friends and families like you, and that elicits that feeling of pity and sorrow toward a group of individuals.

Additionally, the use of the word "Children" in the movement's name identifies children as the main focus of the cause, which as I detail below, is much more expansive than only working to rescue the abducted child soldiers. Invisible Children focused and highlighted the fact that these were not adults or soldiers, but instead young children; a

study conducted found that the average age of the children abducted in Uganda was 12.9 years old. ¹⁵⁴ Bringing attention to the young age of the children who were being abducted by the LRA is a tactic that is often used in order to not only garner sympathy, but also to persuade individuals open up their wallets and donate to the cause. ¹⁵⁵ This is an important angle that the Invisible Children movement took on the atrocities happening in Uganda because the abduction of children was not the *only* war crime the LRA was committing, but the movement highlighted these children as the face of the movement as the most important war crime they were committing.

As media scholar, Susan Moeller notes, children have replaced women in the eyes of the public as emblems of purity and goodness, and thus, people are motivated to act in order to protect them or save them. ¹⁵⁶ Not only that, but, within the United States, children who are not from the United States are presented in the media in more sympathetic terms than those from within the United States—this is especially true for young black males. ¹⁵⁷ That means, the young people the Invisible Children movement were speaking to had been primed to feel more sympathy toward the young black males who were being abducted as child soldiers than perhaps any other group of individuals.

This verbal and visual rhetoric of presenting these young black boys as the catalyst and face of the movement cannot be overlooked. While it is nice to believe young people and all of those who shared, showed up, wrote and called their government officials on behalf of these young, undoubtedly mistreated boys from Uganda, there is more depth to those messages that elicits reactions and responses from those who hear them.

This is not to downplay the empowering communication used by the Invisible Children movement to mobilize their youth followers The Invisible Children leaders focused on their belief that young people could change the world, and they made sure to tell their members as much. Outside of the movement, there are personal benefits that youth experience from being engaged in civic activism, such as developing the five Cs: competence, confidence, connection, caring, and character, and through their activism, they prepare to experience the sixth C, contribution. 158

The Most Viral Video of the Time: How Invisible Children Utilized the Digital Landscape

In this section, I discuss the relationship the Invisible Children movement has with the digital landscape. First, I explore the significance of time, both as it relates to the age of movement leaders and the time the movement came about. The next aspect that is important to consider when discussing the digital impact on the Invisible Children movement is the location in which the movement takes place. Location is significant because it has an impact on access, infrastructure, and spreadability. Additionally, when discussing the significance of the impact of digital aspects on the Invisible Children movement, limitations cannot be overlooked. Limitations include the concern of echo chambers among movement members, as well as censorship in the locations where the movement spreads. Finally, I discuss the overall significance of the digital aspects of the Invisible Children movement have had as it relates to social movements and participants.

To begin, I look at the impact that time has played in the Invisible Children movement. First, I discuss the age of movement leaders and their relationship to the digital realm. As discussed above, the Invisible Children movement was led and

participated in by mostly youth. The age of the movement leaders and members is significant due to the relationship that young people have with the digital world. Youth who grew up with technology are referred to as "digital natives"; that is, they were children in the time of increased personal Internet usage in the mid to late 1990s. ¹⁵⁹ Invisible Children's founders, Russell, Bailey, and Poole, were all in their early to midtwenties when they created the movement and organization in 2004. This puts the founders in a little older category than what is considered digital natives. They were still young enough to have a relationship to digital technologies, but they were not young children growing up alongside communication technologies. ¹⁶⁰

The founders of Invisible Children might not be considered digital natives, but their main demographic of followers, mostly being in high school and college, would be considered digital natives. This is significant because while the leaders might not have an instinctual relationship to technology and social media, the followers of the movement do. Invisible Children movement followers, being digital natives, are used to, and prefer, receiving information very fast. They also prefer graphics before text and random access, such as hypertext, where they can navigate to new and related information with a single click. These digital natives ultimately function best when they are networked and connected to others. ¹⁶¹ All of these preferences and characteristics of the digital native members helped to share and spread the message of the Invisible Children movement in ways the leaders may not have been instinctually aware of.

While youth do generally have a stronger relationship to social media as a way to achieve their goals, ¹⁶² the Invisible Children movement began in 2004, which was still in the early stages of social media, and a time when both Facebook and Twitter were not

even available to users worldwide. 163 This speaks more to the era in which the Invisible Children movement came about than to the age of the leaders or members.

The time in which the Invisible Children movement came about and grew is important to the movement's relationship to the digital world. For example, when the movement first began in 2004, Facebook was brand new and simply expanding from Harvard to other universities and had not yet reached the masses. In February 2005, YouTube first went live, and by the Fall of the same year, Facebook expanded to high school students in the United States and was later available in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand. 164 Twitter did not come about until Summer 2006, the same time that the now virtually non-existent Myspace became the most popular social networking site in the United States. Apple did not release its first iPhone until the following Summer at the end of July 2007. 165 All of these rapid changes in social media and technology highlight some of the digital landscape that the Invisible Children movement has had to navigate since its early years. The Invisible Children's smaller digital footprint in its first few years of existence can be attributed, in part, to the changing digital atmosphere in the early stages of the movement.

As the movement progressed over time, more and more usage of digital means like social media and more dynamic websites developed alongside the creation of the movement as a whole. Invisible Children joined <u>Facebook</u>, <u>Twitter</u>, and <u>YouTube</u>, with verified accounts on each, and they eventually added <u>Instagram</u> to their social media profile as well. The movement transitioned into the social media era with digital native followers who helped to promote and share their message.

The Invisible Children movement's digital impact is most prominently seen in their Kony 2012 campaign. The purpose of this campaign was to see if an online video could "make an obscure war criminal famous" and, if he became famous, would "the world work together to stop him or let him remain at large?" The movement leaders created and produced their tenth video, which started not by exposing the humanitarian crisis happening in Uganda, but rather by highlighting the importance of global connection through social media. Following their initial call for connection, the remainder of the film exposes Joseph Kony, a then relatively unknown Central African rebel. At that time, the Kony 2012 video became the "fastest growing viral video" with over 100 million views in six days. The Invisible Children movement took advantage of the digital era it found itself in the middle of, regardless of the age of movement leaders, and directly reaching the youth digital natives.

The Invisible Children movement leaders were right on the cusp of being digital natives, and their target demographic was, and continues to be, nearly all digital natives themselves. The Invisible Children movement's connection to the digital realm has improved over the years, in part, due to their relationship to the digital realm. Because of their close relationship to the digital world, the movement has been able to adjust to the changing digital landscape over the growth of the digital era. Both the age of the leaders and followers and the time in which the movement has taken place have contributed to the growth and spread of the Invisible Children movement.

A Ugandan Crisis, An American Movement

Age and time are not the only important aspects of the Invisible Children movement as it relates to the digital realm, the location of the movement is also important to discuss. The location of a movement is important as it relates to access and infrastructure, which ultimately impacts the ability of the movement to spread outside of the local area where the movement developed. Additionally, limitations like censorship and echo chambers are important to explore as it relates to the location of the movement as well.

While the cause of the Invisible Children movement was centered in Uganda and Central Africa, the leaders and headquarters of the movement are all in the United States. The location of this movement is significant when it comes to access and infrastructure. When the Invisible Children movement originated in 2004, 63% of U.S. American adults used the Internet, and of that 63%, 77% of 18–29-year-olds used the Internet, the highest percentage of all other age groups. 168 Today, there are over 288 million active Internet users, 246 million active mobile Internet users, 230 million social media users, and over 225 million active mobile social media users. 169 This shows the growth of Internet users in the United States since the inception of the Invisible Children movement. While access to the Internet is high, at 87%, in the United States, there are still issues of access and infrastructure. The Federal Communications Commission (FCC) estimates that more than 21 million people living in the United States do not have Internet access, including 27% of those living in rural places, as well as 2% of individuals living in cities in the U.S.¹⁷⁰ In addition to not having Internet access, nearly 45% of adult in households with incomes lower than \$30,000 do not have broadband access. Having access to

broadband Internet, according to the FCC, is critical to civic engagement, among other important aspects of today's world, and this digital divide still impacts individuals living in urban areas, larger numbers in rural areas, and even larger numbers on Tribal lands. ¹⁷¹ Without access to the Internet, and more specifically, without access to broadband Internet access, the Invisible Children movement was not able to reach everyone through their digital engagement; especially those with lower household incomes.

Not only does this exclude individuals in the United States from actively participating in the movement, but it limits the movement in its abilities to try to solve a problem in Uganda. If we take a look at Internet access to those in Uganda in 2004, only 7.2 per 1000 people had Internet access. This number has increased over the years. In December of 2019, 40% of the Ugandan population had internet access, an increase of 10% in just two years. However, compared to the Internet penetration in the United States, the Invisible Children movement, over the years, has still been less likely to reach those who are most impacted by the atrocities they are fighting against.

Adapting the Digital Plan: Reaching Ugandans through Available Digital Technologies

Outside of what is considered the use of modern media, including websites and social media platforms, the Invisible Children movement has used various other forms of media in their goals to help the people of Uganda and Central Africa. Specifically, the movement has worked hand in hand with Central African organizations and international experts producing and sharing messages to educate the public on violence prevention and conflict mediation, among other issues related to violence. This is done with the goal of creating a better understanding of the issues happening and providing ways in which

people can work to end the cycle of violence. The movement utilizes traditional FM radio as well as SD cards and what they call an innovative mobile cinema program. ¹⁷⁴

Throughout their work, Invisible Children has produced and broadcast over 600 hours of FM radio messages across seven radio stations, and have held two mobile cinema film screenings in Central African communities.

In addition to their work on spreading information and education on violence across Central Africa through their digital productions, the Invisible Children movement has also utilized digital means through their crisis tracking and conflict analysis. The Invisible Children movement recognized that the LRA was striking and killing people in remote and isolated communities in Central Africa with little international attention.

Because of this, there has been a lack of data on the violence taking place, making it difficult for humanitarians, policymakers, and security forces to help protect these communities. ¹⁷⁵

The Invisible Children staff worked with partners in Central Africa, local communities, and crisis mapping experts to collect and verify reports of attacks via the Invisible Children's Early Warning Network. The Early Warning Network was developed as a response to a lack of access to basic communication infrastructure which put these communities at risk. Working with local community leaders, the Invisible Children movement installed new High Frequency (HF) radios and repaired existing radios in their communities. They also trained local operators on how to safely report incidents of violence. ¹⁷⁶ Through this work, over 100 communities have received potentially life-saving information via this Early Warning Network, over eighty individualized community action plans created with local leaders have been put into

place, and over 300,000 people have directly benefitted from the Early Warning Network.¹⁷⁷

In addition to the Early Warning Network, Invisible Children has brought the Crisis Tracker to Central Africa. The Crisis Tracker, according to their website, is a "geospatial database and reporting project that tracks armed group activity and conflict-related incidents," specifically focusing on the Northeastern Democratic Republic of Congo and Eastern Central African Republic. 178 The information that is gathered from the Early Warning Network, along with data from the United Nations local non-government organizations (NGOs), and firsthand research conducted by Invisible Children and peer organizations is all compiled together, vetted, and put into the Crisis Tracker database. The information gathered and produced is publicly available through various means, including a digital map, a breaking news feed, regular data analysis reports and media documenting. 179 Since its inception in 2008, over 3,000 incidents of armed group activity have been reported on the Crisis Tracker and twenty-nine Crisis Tracker security analysis reports have been created and shared with local stakeholders. 180

Despite a lack of access to digital infrastructure in many parts of Central Africa, the Invisible Children movement has continued to utilize the media that does exist locally to help promote information and safety for the people most impacted by the LRA and their violence. Through alternative technology, the Invisible Children movement has been able to tap into the ways in which they can most benefit the people of Uganda and Central Africa.

Digital Activism: Four Styles of Internet Engagement

To best study the digital activism of the Invisible Children movement, I utilize Earl et al.'s work on four broad styles of Internet engagement: brochureware, e-mobilization, online organizing, and online engagement. These four categories help explore and analyze forms of activism in the Internet activism era. I use this framework to explore the various activism done by the Invisible Children movement to help better organize and understand the efforts done by this movement and to ultimately argue that the Invisible Children movement was more than simply online slacktivism.

Internet Engagement: Brochureware

Brochureware is when a movement utilizes the Internet to spread and share their message. This is very similar to passing out hard copy brochures person-to-person in traditional forms of activism, but, it is often easier and cheaper to disperse the information to a wider audience via technology and digital means. Depending on the infrastructure in place where the movement begins, brochureware is often also more financially feasible than passing around pieces of paper. That is, assuming those creating the content have access to digital technology and the ability to share their message, and those who the message is intended to reach also have those specific forms of connectivity.

As discussed above, the Invisible Children movement came about prior to the social media era when sharing information was as simple as a click of a button and access to the Internet was not at people's literal fingertips in the way it is today. However, as time progressed, Invisible Children has used the Internet and social media that came

53

about with the rise of the movement to share their information via text, emails, images, and, most notably, videos. This form of activism benefits movements because it extends their reach of new potential followers in a more financially feasible way. This is a significant aspect of not only digital social movements, but social movements that are created by and directed toward youth as they often do not come from, or require, a movement to have a large financial backing.

Internet Engagement: E-mobilization

E-mobilization is when a movement uses online tools to bring people together inperson for face-to-face activism. ¹⁸² In addition to brochureware, e-mobilization utilizes
non-tradition forms of activism, but also leads to more of the traditional forms of
activism as well. When it comes to Invisible Children, this type of activism was seen
most frequently in their mobilization phase of their activism. The movement started inperson with their national tours, but as time and technology progressed, Invisible
Children used online tools to share information about their various events over the years.
It was through this e-mobilization that events like Displace Me (2007), 25 (2011), Break
the Silence (2011), and Cover the Night (2012) gathered over 200,000 activists across not
only the United States but also dozens of countries as well. ¹⁸³ This type of activism
enabled the Invisible Children movement to reach far and wide to share their message,
which some argue helped Invisible Children set a blueprint for other social movements to
follow for humanitarian advocacy on a large scale. ¹⁸⁴

Internet Engagement: Online Organizing

Online organizing is when a movement organizes an entire campaign and/or movement online, requiring no physical place to gather in order to make change.

Typically, this type of activism comes about from organizers who have little background in activism, and does not require large amounts of money to execute. Because of this, online organizations typically have different priorities and concerns than those of traditional social movements because they are not having to levy funds from outsiders to move their cause forward. The most prominent form of online organizing from the Invisible Children movement was the Kony 2012 campaign. This campaign took place almost exclusively online, and had no real offline presence or even goal. Invisible Children utilized social media platforms to share their Kony 2012 short film and encouraged others to do so as well.

The ultimate goal of the Kony 2012 campaign was to make Kony known, that is, to raise awareness of who he was and what he was doing. This is also why, in part, many activists, scholars, and outside observers reflected upon Kony 2012 in the frame of a "failed" social movement. This dissertation is not set out to determine the value of a movement, or of a campaign within a movement, but it is important to highlight this finding. Because the Kony 2012 campaign existed almost entirely online, there was no tangible "change" for onlookers, or even participants, to point to and say "this is what this campaign did." Making a war criminal famous, or infamous, was a broad goal, one that ultimately did nothing to stop Kony and the LRA.

However, through the virality of the Kony 2012 video, Invisible Children argues that they were successful. Had the goal of Kony 2012 been to gather X-amount of

signatures, or to pass legislation, had crowds across the world gathered at local government offices, had this campaign incorporated more traditional forms of activism along with the online aspect, the perception of this campaign, and of the Invisible Children movement as a whole, could have been drastically different.

Internet Engagement: Online Participation

The final of the four types of Internet engagement is online participation. Online participation is when individuals engage in various forms of activism that take place online, such as petition signing, coming together to deny services and/or attack a company or person, and virtual sit-ins and demonstrations. This is often referred to as "flash" activism because it often resembles that of a flash flood; the activism comes on quickly and with ferocity, and it is not the longevity of the acts that are impactful, but rather the force that comes up quickly that makes a lasting impression. One of the biggest benefits of this type of activism is that individuals who might not otherwise participate in political activism are more likely to engage because of the quickness and ease of this type of activism.

The Invisible Children movement utilized this type of activism, again, most notably, through the Kony 2012 campaign. This campaign was a quick and strong onslaught of content shared across various social media platforms in a short period of time. The purpose of this campaign was to bombard people with information about a war criminal who was virtually unknown around the world. Again, because of the ease of this task, it was easy for individuals who might not otherwise take the risk of joining a social movement in the traditional sense to join via sharing, commenting, or posting the Kony

2012 video or information. These low-risk tasks were more viable options for more people than higher risk ones, like participating in a march, which is how a movement is able to create that flash flood feel—the more people, and the easier it is for them to participate, the bigger the swell.¹⁸⁸

For the Invisible Children movement, a movement where the target demographic is young, white women, this low-risk level of participation gave them a way to contribute in ways that felt both doable and safe. And while this might seem simply to fulfill young white women's needs to feel good about their doing good, flash activism in this sense is still important because of the size of membership that can be obtained. Quick, short-lived online engagements are usually larger than offline engagement, which is important because the size of a movement is important to the attention that movement gets and also can be related to the success of a movement. ¹⁸⁹ So, this type of engagement, while it might seem futile on the surface, actually serves a bigger purpose for the movement as a whole.

However, with every social movement that utilizes digital means, there are concerns that those movements need to consider and work toward avoiding, or learn how to work through them. Below I explore the issues of echo chambers and censorship.

Digital Concerns: Echo Chambers and Censorship

Ultimately, there are issues when it comes to the digital aspects of this social movement. The inability of the Invisible Children movement to reach those most impacted by the LRA through modern digital means in the early 2000s created an issue where the crisis and what to do about it were only being discussed by a group of people

similar to one another and without actual connections to the violence taking place. This creates what is called an echo chamber. Echo chambers are when groups of people with the same ideas and concerns exclusively seek out and speak to one another, essentially only hearing their own voices and opinions echoing back to them.

Echo chambers are significant when it comes to the Invisible Children movement because if the majority of the communication about the LRA and Joseph Kony is coming from people in the United States, people very removed from Uganda and the issues that are actually happening daily there, the potential not to understand the problem accurately, and the desire to "save" anyone they deem in need of rescue is high. A variety of voices and opinions are needed in order to actually work to solve these problems. This also relates to the issue of the white savior complex that is often associated with Westerners attempting to "solve" and "fix" issues that they see taking place in the global South, with strong ties to colonialism. ¹⁹⁰ Without truly hearing and listening to the voices of those directly involved in the crisis or conflict, outsiders communicating amongst themselves does not only *not* solve the problem, but it perhaps creates an additional problem in thinking that others *need you* to save them.

Echo chambers are not the only issue of concern when exploring the digital aspects of the Invisible Children movement as it relates to location. The next aspect to consider is the issue of censorship; both on a governmental level and on an individual level with self-censorship. In the United States, due to the First Amendment, freedom of speech is protected against government censorship. However, social media sites such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and YouTube, are all private companies and they are able to censor what individuals post on their platforms based on their own guidelines;

many of which do, in fact, censor hate speech, obscenity, misinformation, and harassment at varying degrees. 192

Taking into consideration that the Invisible Children movement focuses on the crisis in Uganda, it is important to explore the digital censorship in Uganda. According to the Collaboration on International ICT Policy for East and Southern Africa (CIPESA), the Internet, especially various social media platforms including Facebook and Twitter, are significant and highly utilized tool for "social, economic, and human rights development in Uganda and Africa at large." While some argue that the Internet is the only remaining place in Uganda for free assembly, the Internet is now being censored as well. He Ugandan government claims they only shut the media and Internet when there is a threat to security, CIPESA argues that the Ugandan government is using laws to curtail the Internet freedoms of its people under the guise of protecting national security. This censorship prevents the people of Uganda from continual access to the Internet and limits their ability to participate and contribute to social movements including the Invisible Children movement.

Not only does the Ugandan government censor access to the Internet for their citizens, the government has also imposed a daily fee of 200 Ugandan Shillings (\$0.05 USD) to access the popular social media sites such as Facebook and WhatsApp. ¹⁹⁶ With this daily fee, some Ugandans are not able to pay to access those applications and sites, so they cannot see the communication from the Indivisible Children movement taking place on those sites, and they are also unable to contribute to the dialogue about the issues and solutions. This imposed paywall is a form of censorship that those in Uganda have to overcome in order to participate in social movements that engage via these digital

means. This is simply not an obstacle that individuals in the United States who want to participate in social movements via Facebook and WhatsApp have to overcome.

While the Internet is available and "partly free" according to the Freedom on the Net report by Freedom House, rights have shrunk for Ugandans over the years, and Ugandans have experienced increased control, repressive laws, persecution, and detention of Internet users. ¹⁹⁷ This has resulted in individuals practicing more self-censorship, according to Dr. Wakabi, executive director of the CIPESA. ¹⁹⁸ This means that because of the repercussions individuals have faced for speaking out online, for example, some Ugandans have self-imposed censorship so they do not end up facing prosecution. ¹⁹⁹ This type of self-censorship is still a kind of censorship that limits what is said and shared on the Internet for those living in Uganda.

Due to the limitations and restrictions Ugandans face when it comes to the digital landscape, including access and infrastructure, as well as censorship from both the government and self-imposed censorship, it is more difficult for Ugandans to participate in the digital aspects of social movements seen in the Western parts of the world. This is perhaps an important reason for those outside of Uganda to work with the people there to help spread their message and cause. If the people of that country are not able, or are afraid, to speak out against what is happening, other outside voices can bring global attention to the cause, with caution to speak with rather than speak for the people they are hoping to aid.

The Invisible Children movement has had an interesting connection to the digital realm throughout the years since its existence. The time of the movement's creation, 2004, was just before the social media era, with many of the most popular social

networking sites either not in existence or in their infancy at the time. However, while many of today's popular social networking sites were not as prominent in 2004, the age of the movement leaders and participants contributed to the movement's ability to adapt and change with the changing digital atmosphere of the time. With young leaders and digital native followers, the Invisible Children movement was, in fact, able to utilize the digital realm in beneficial ways.

Finally, through their incorporation of various digital means, the Invisible

Children movement has helped their followers be able to first become aware of the

problem the children of Uganda are facing, and second have the means and ability to

share that information, bringing attention to what was then a virtually unknown

humanitarian crisis. Next, the use of digital means allowed both to insert themselves into

the story by posting and sharing their involvement in the movement. The Invisible

Children movement struggled to help its followers complete the transition from interest to

participation as they struggled with the final step of having followers make the story their

own, because it was not their own, and the work that needed to be done was too far away

to move offline effectively.

Ultimately, the Invisible Children used various digital means in different ways depending on the time and their specific audience. Because of the time in which the Invisible Children movement came about, the movement had to, and did, adapt to the changing media landscape over the years. The movement was created at a time when many major social media platforms were not widely popular, or even in existence yet, but they were also able to create and distribute what was then the most viral video on the

Internet with their Kony 2012 video. The movement was able to adapt to the times in order to maintain their relevance and social presence.

The importance of the Invisible Children's relationship to digital media is their adaptability. The adaptability was most prominently seen through their adjusting to the developing Internet and social media boom of the early 2000s, as well as through their differing media plans based on the location of whom they were trying to reach. This not only helped the movement grow and maintain relevance throughout the years, this plan also allowed the movement to connect directly with and assist those whom the movement was designed to help.

Invisible Children as a Social Movement

The next factor to explore when looking at the Invisible Children movement is the social movement aspect. Scholars in the social media field have defined "social movement" with various key components, such as the preference to change some element of the current social structure, 200 being a sustained interaction of those with authority and those challenging that authority, 201 and an ultimate shift from what is to what those organizing the movement think "ought" to be. Additionally, social movements must be, at least, minimally organized; that is, a social movement must have some internal organization and cannot be simply a group of individuals doing multiple independent acts. 202 Along with this organization, social movements must have a sizeable membership in order to maintain their existence in the long-term, and it is both the size and scope of a movement that distinguishes it from pressure groups, lobbies, and campaigns. 203

Invisible Children meets the requirements of a social movement as it focuses on changing the current social structure in Northern Uganda where the LRA have maintained cruel and enduring control for over thirty years.²⁰⁴ The movement is working for and on the behalf of those in Northern Uganda without control over their situation, who are being targeted and tortured in the current social structure.

The Invisible Children movement is also an organized group; an important aspect of becoming a social movement. In 2006, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) officially declared Invisible Children a nonprofit organization, ²⁰⁵ and in order to become a nonprofit organization, one of the requirements that must be met, among many others, is that the applicant must have obtained official status as a corporation, association, or trust. ²⁰⁶ The fact that Invisible Children was able to obtain 501(3)(c) status means that had to be established as a corporation which in and of itself requires, at least, minimal organization. The members of Invisible Children's organization also provide the movement's goals and successes in great detail throughout the Invisible Children website, which also highlights the group acting collectively rather than several individuals acting independently.

Another source of organizational validity is the verification that a person or group receives on the various social media platforms. According to author, entrepreneur, and marketer Neil Patel, being verified is one of the most important things that an organization can do on social media. He states that verification provides "instant social proof and credibility" when an organization is searched for online and verification puts that organization at the forefront in their particular area as a trusted option. ²⁰⁷ While verification may not have been a contributing factor to the validity of an organization

twenty years ago, it is a reasonable assessment criteria for organizations conducted in today's digital era.

To become verified, a group or individual must follow the requirements of the various platforms. For example, to become verified on Facebook according to the *Facebook Help* page, an account must be authentic, representing a real person, registered business or entity; the account must be unique, meaning only one account per person or business may be verified; the account must be complete with an about section, profile photo, at least one post, and should be active; finally, the account must be notable representing a well-known person, brand, or entity.²⁰⁸ The process to become verified on Twitter is similar to that on Facebook.²⁰⁹ Instagram, however, states that, at this time, "only Instagram accounts that have a high likelihood of being impersonated have verified badges" meaning that while the process to get verified is similar to other platforms, Instagram does not verify all accounts that meet those requirements. They instead suggest users link to their other verified Facebook page in their profile (important to note that Facebook owns Instagram, thus the push to link verified Facebook accounts over other platforms).²¹⁰

Invisible Children is verified on multiple platforms including Twitter

(@Invisible),²¹¹ Facebook (@Invisiblechildren),²¹² and YouTube (Invisible Children).²¹³

This speaks to the validity and organization of Invisible Children as an organized group, and their verification status helps individuals who are searching for the movement to locate and identify their pages and content. The searchability of the verified accounts leads to the next question concerning social movement status: membership size.

While identifying the exact size of the membership of a group, and what the weight of each "member" has relative to that of another "member" is nearly impossible, there are some measures to help get an idea of the following a movement has. For starters, the Invisible Children movement does have a record of the number of attendees at their various events across the globe detailed on their site. From their first effort of what they called their "National Tour," where the Invisible Children group traveled to schools, community centers, and places of worship across the United States, their statistics show that across the sixteen national tours and over 13,000 screenings, they were able to reach over five million people. 214 However, "people reached" does not equate to membership size. The Invisible Children website also details specific events and work the movement has done over the years, including 1,500 attendees at the Fourth Estate Leadership Summit, 215 80,000 attendees at the 2006 Global Night Commute, 68,000 attendees at the 2007 Displace Me event, and over 400,000 total participants across all events. 216

One of the most notable instances that highlights the sizable membership of the Invisible Children movement is the Kony 2012 video. At the time of its release, the Kony 2012 video amassed over 100 million views in 6 days and 3.7 million citizen signatures on a pledge for the arrest of Joseph Kony. ²¹⁷ In addition to the statistics listed on the Invisible Children's website, examining the social media sites of the Invisible Children movement highlights the amount of social media followers or subscribers they have.

Invisible Children currently has followers or subscribers ranging from 210,000²¹⁸ – 230,000²¹⁹ on Twitter and YouTube, respectively, to over 2.5 million followers on Facebook. ²²⁰

Looking at the social media following along with the numbers of attendees and activists who have participated in the various Invisible Children events, a more holistic understanding of their sizable membership is established. Their following meets the standard for a "sizable membership" in order to be considered a social movement lasting in the long-term from its conception in 2004 to today, where the movement continues to have a strong following.

The Invisible Children movement meets all of the requirements of a social movement established for this study. These are important aspects to consider when studying any potential social movement so as to denote whether or not something is, in fact, a social movement, or if it is actually a pressure group, lobby or simply a campaign. Social movements are meant to change the status quo and shift from what is to what ought to be, and often times, in order to do that, social movements will be disruptive and can make people uncomfortable. Again, this is why it is so important to clearly establish what is or is not a social movement in order to properly analyze them and their actions.

Activism Through the Years

Activism is the work movements do that brings about change or evolution; it is the acts that bring about a change in the system. ²²¹ In this section, I discuss the specifics of what the Invisible Children movement has done over the years as activism. First, I take a look at the traditional and non-traditional forms of activism, and then I explore how Invisible Children mixed both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism together.

Next, I discuss the connection between the Invisible Children activism and youth and activism and digital. Finally, I end with a discussion of activism and the digital realm,

where I explore whether Invisible Children partook in activism or simply slacktivism, and what we, as scholars, and social activists alike, can learn from this movement.

The Boundary between Traditional and Non-traditional Activism

The phrase "traditional activism" might be somewhat of a misnomer. Activism is intended to be disruptive; it is supposed to go against the grain of what already is. With that in mind, what is considered "traditional" today was perhaps "radical" for the time in which it was being implemented. Women who partook in the Freedom Trash Can event of the 1960s, wherein women threw away items such as mops, lipstick, and high heels, items they viewed to be oppressive to women, were seen as "young radicals." Civil Rights activist Rosa Parks, who refused to give up her seat on a segregated bus in 1955, among decades of additional political work, who is now referred to as the mother of the Civil Rights movement, was seen as rebellious in her day. However, today, the image of women protesting and marching for their own rights, of sit-ins and demonstrations, are all a part of what is now considered "traditional" forms of activism; marches, protests, sit-ins, physical petitions, etc. For the purpose of this dissertation, "traditional" forms of activism will include actions that do not utilize digital means as their main method of activism.

The Invisible Children movement, throughout its sixteen years of existence, has done, and detailed, a lot of activism both within the United States and in Uganda. While the specific purpose of this dissertation focuses on youth digital social movements, I do want to highlight some of their more traditional forms of activism alongside the digital

activism. However, I will not go into great detail about every act for the sake of conciseness.

Specifically, the Invisible Children movement organizes their activism into a four-part model that they believe best addresses the conflict with the LRA in its entirety, focusing on both immediate needs and long-term needs of those who have been affected by the LRA.²²⁴ The four parts of this model include media, mobilization, protection, and recovery.

Invisible Children co-founder Jason Russell, states that "at Invisible Children... content is king. It has to be the most compelling, the most astonishing, the most passionate [in order to] tell a story that is quality, entertaining, and heartbreaking in hopes that the viewer wants to participate."²²⁵ It is not surprising, then, that Invisible Children made storytelling through various forms of media a cornerstone of the movement. Over the years, Invisible Children produced and shared over a dozen short films highlighting the crisis happening in Uganda. starting with "The Rough Cut," to creating and distributing various "color" films that focused on individual children affected by the LRA, and ultimately with their infamous Kony 2012 video. From the beginning, including media as a large factor of their movement highlights the more non-traditional and digital shape of activism that the movement was doing.

This second aspect of activism was focused on spreading awareness around the world of the crisis happening in central Africa and the LRA conflict. ²²⁶ In their mobilization phase, there were five main areas where the movement focused their attention: national tours, artist relations, the Fourth Estate Summit, grassroots advocacy, and international events. The mobilization part of the model consisted of much more

traditional forms of activism like traveling around the country, touring schools, and hosting conferences and events for activists to attend. Most of these events took place inperson and focused on what individuals could do to create change and bring an end to the LRA, including writing letters to politicians and holding rallies and lobby meetings. Additionally, it was through this portion of the model that the Invisible Children movement orchestrated international events to garner global attention to their cause.

The last two phases focused specifically on the LRA-affected communities. Importantly, the programs that have been put together in the recovery phase have all been overseen by the Invisible Children Uganda (ICU) and their national offices in Kampala, Gulu, and Pader, as well as in the Democratic Republic of Congo, as opposed to leaders from the United States "fixing" the problems from afar. Programs from the recovery phase include scholarship and literacy programs, water and sanitation programs, and helping women in LRA-affected communities by providing them with job opportunities as seamstresses in order to give them a marketable skill that could help them economically. In addition to helping those in the communities, this program was designed to help the children who had been abducted by the LRA up to six months before they were reunited with their families in an attempt to help rehabilitate them from the atrocities and trauma they had been subjected to as child soldiers.

The protection part of the model focused on setting up technologies to help the communities alert one another when and where the LRA was active. This was done through the Early Warning Network and the LRA Crisis Tracker. Updates from the Crisis Tracker can be found on the official webpage at: LRACrisisTracker.com, on Twitter at @CrisisTracker.com, and on mobile devices via the iPhone or Android app. In addition to the

Early Warning Network and Crisis Tracker, deflection fliers and FM radios were the final parts of the protection phase. These were both attempts to encourage LRA soldiers to surrender.

The four-part model detailed by the Invisible Children movement covers both traditional forms of activism with things like rallies and lobbying, as well as more non-traditional forms of activism including the media blitz across social media and the Crisis Tracker. The use of the technologies available to the masses in Uganda, like the FM radio announcements, shows that the Invisible Children movement was adaptable to the situation they were in; if they were speaking to high school and college students in the United States, they could use things like social media to spread their message, but if they were speaking directly to members of the LRA trying to get them to surrender, they knew to adapt and adjust their technique and reach them via FM radio.

Digital Activism: The Shift from Offline to Online

As I have mentioned above, the Invisible Children movement came about prior to the mass availability of broadband Internet and the popularity of social media. However, as time progressed, so too did the movement's relationship with the digital realm. Most notably, the Invisible Children movement used digital means to produce and distribute videos and content they created, such as the Kony 2012 campaign. Utilizing the digital realm within the movement creates a landscape where anyone with access to the Internet could participate in the online activism. This availability for large groups to participate in activism helps get outside attention on the movement and is linked to the success of a movement as a whole.

An important aspect of this form of activism is that, through these digital means, the youth are able to find and select what they view as important news and share information that relates to those issues. When relying on traditional media, such as television broadcast news and/or newspapers, an individual can only digest what the gatekeepers of those institutions deem significant. However, through online activism, which includes sharing information, individuals are able to discern what they view as important and newsworthy. This allows attention to be brought to unknown issues, like the child abductions among other atrocities committed by the LRA in Uganda. Allowing young people to have control over what they view as news is an important facet of digital activism that ultimately has the ability to lead those young people into activism where they might otherwise be disengaged from the issues strictly presented to them by the

Activism versus Slacktivism

Much of the work Invisible Children has done over the years took place offline, however, their most well-known activism was the Kony 2012 campaign, which did take place almost exclusively online. This is also one of the aspects of the Invisible Children movement that has come under the most scrutiny. Because the first goal of the Kony 2012 campaign was to make a virtually unknown war criminal infamous, Kony 2012 set itself up to be criticized as a type of slacktivism. Some may argue: what does making a war criminal known do to stop the war criminal from continuing their path of destruction? However, the purpose was to bring attention to a part of the world that does not frequently make headline news, and making Kony infamous was only the first step in

the Kony 2012 movement. The Kony 2012 video is the most rapidly spread human rights video ever, so when it comes to spreading their message, Kony 2012 did exactly what Invisible Children intended; they made this unknown war criminal known.²²⁸

While Invisible Children arguably achieved their first goal of the Kony 2012 campaign, the second goal of this campaign was to stop Kony and the atrocities of the LRA, and that was not as achievable via sharing a video online. The argument that surrounds Kony 2012 is that raising awareness is simply not enough, and this is where the critique of slacktivism comes in. Tweeting, sharing, liking, etc. is low-cost and low-risk, and so, some argue, it lacks the effort to create actual change. ²²⁹ Clicking and sharing does not solve problems. Bringing attention to a cause does not change the situation to which attention is now directed. Twitter does not solve global crises.

However, I argue that this type of engagement is a necessary but insufficient step in activism in today's digital world. Research on young people and the media has found that the youth use the media to participate in politics, specifically, they utilize media to circulate information, collaborate with others to create and share information and content, and to connect with others through various platforms.²³⁰

Additionally, I explore the steps from interest to participation below to highlight how important the first step of creating and sharing one's own news is and how this first step can lead to additional actions by utilizing Clark and March's ladder of political engagement as a way to combat the argument of digital activism as slacktivism.²³¹

Sharing: The First Step of the Ladder

First, the Invisible Children movement reached out to young people and gave them information that they were able to relate to and share through digital means. The digital aspects, such as utilizing social media, provided a place for these young people to see and share what they decided was important news; the abduction of children in Uganda, an issue that was not getting much attention outside of the Invisible Children movement. Through the use of digital means, individuals were able to highlight and bring outside attention to the issue and cause.

Sharing what followers viewed as news through digital means happened throughout the Invisible Children movement, from sharing information and images supporting the movement, to the viral Kony 2012 campaign. Having access to digital means allows individuals to create and share what they consider to be news. This type of access and ability to share helps bring attention to issues that are not being covered by traditional media. Sharing and spreading the message of the Invisible Children movement via digital means, the movement was able to grow in size and in attention.

To call this type of activism low-cost and low-risk is accurate, but to argue that this is ultimately where that form of activism ends ignores the idea that social activism is a process that participants move through, and sharing and posting is, at least sometimes, only the first step in that process. Rather than disparaging this step of the activism process, and potentially discouraging the work youth are doing, it is important to encourage the continual step forward from interest to participation.

Inserting Oneself into the Story: A Step Closer to Engagement

The next step of moving from interest to participation in Clark and Marchi's ladder is the ability of followers and members of the movement to insert themselves into the story they were sharing. The Invisible Children movement provided opportunities for participants to insert themselves into the story in-person through various acts like protests, sit-ins, and various other events, but they also had opportunities to insert themselves through technology. The Invisible Children movement used hashtags in various phases of their activism, such as #MyHeartIsBeeping, based off of their first bracelet video campaign, and of course, most popularly, the #Kony2012 hashtag. These hashtags allowed followers to post and share pictures of themselves using the hashtag so they became a part of the message and story they were sharing. Through these hashtag campaigns, members of the Invisible Children movement with access to digital technologies were able to insert themselves into the story.

Because of the time in which the movement came about, the ability to insert oneself into the story was more difficult for followers outside of attending the few gatherings that took place once a year. As time and technology progressed, members were able to insert themselves into the story more frequently, which helped keep the movement in the forefront of people's mind and attention. The more people were able to feel like they were a part of the story, the more likely they were going to move to the final step from interest to participation in the movement.

Making the Story their Own: The Final Step of Engagement

Finally, participants in the movement moved to make their own story as the final step from interest to participation. It is in this final step where participants of the Invisible Children movement shared their own personal stories about how they participated in the movement to address the problem, and this is where the emotional connection to a movement came in. This is the riskiest step in the ladder of engagement because it is the most personal and exposes not only how an individual feels about a problem, but also the actions they have taken to address the problem. Individuals who participate in Invisible Children events, be they protests or contacting local governments to push for international action, then had the opportunity to share their experiences online with friends, families, followers, and the public at large.

This last step moving from interest to participation often moves the social movement offline, especially for the Invisible Children movement and the era in which it came about. Not having an interactive and direct way to communicate with leaders during the early development of the Invisible Children movement hindered the digital ways in which movement participants could take control of the story and make it their own. This is often part of the biggest criticism of the Invisible Children movement: it was nothing more than liking and sharing content online, slacktivism.

However, the time in which Invisible Children came about is part of this problem. A social movement that came about alongside the developing social media era was traveling an unforged path. Ways to transition followers from interest to participation had not yet been laid out for the movement to follow. Invisible Children was setting that path and becoming a learning tool for future social movements.

Ultimately, it was difficult for followers and members of the Invisible Children movement to impact and change the issues the children in Uganda were facing directly. Despite the connectivity that the digital realm provided, the distance from where the issue of the movement was happening and where the majority of the activism was taking place made making that final step from interest to activism much more difficult. However, it does not, and should not, diminish the work that Invisible Children has done, as it provides useful information for future movements and scholars alike to learn from. An appropriate argument is not to rid today's social movements of this type of digital activism, but rather to encourage those participating in what is often considered slacktivism to take their passion and momentum offline as well.

The digital arena provides a platform for more, and less mainstream, issues to come to the forefront. Digital activism allows massive spread of an issue that may not otherwise garner the same amount of attention. As opposed to diminishing this type of activism, the focus should be on how this first step can lead to more forms of activism that can ultimately lead to more change. An important critique of the Invisible Children movement is to focus on this follow-through step of more meaningful activism. A movement cannot stop with awareness, but bringing awareness to an issue should not be frowned upon as a part of a social movement.

Conclusion

This chapter has focused on the four key concepts of this research in the Invisible Children movement. First, I explored the relationship the movement has to youth.

Importantly, the Invisible Children movement had a connection to youth in all three main

areas: the movement came about from a youth-affected crisis, the movement was also created and led by youth leaders, and ultimately, the movement's target demographic for involvement was youth.

Importantly, I also discussed the rhetoric surrounding the use of children, specifically, young black males, and the relationship with sympathy and pity that has to U.S. audiences. This critical look at the Invisible Children movement as a whole, looking both at their written and verbal rhetoric as well as their images and videos provides additional insight into virality of the movement and the overwhelming reaction to want to help or "save" these boys. This speaks to the initial draw to social movements, such as the Invisible Children movement, but the lack of deeper connection to the movement and those affected by the cause can be pointed to as to why that initial draw wanes.

The next section of this chapter explored the relationship between the Invisible

Children movement and the digital sphere. This section highlighted the adaptability of the

Invisible Children movement as a whole to the changing digital landscape in order to

keep their movement alive and not get lost as much of their target demographic

transitioned online.

Following the digital aspects of the Invisible Children movement, I broke down the components of a social movement, including a push for change, sustained interaction between those challenging authority and those in authority, and the movement being at least minimally organized, all important distinctions to make so as to better understand acts that may potentially be seen as disruptive.

In the final section of this chapter, I explored the activism done by the Invisible Children movement. Specifically, I first detailed the traditional and non-traditional and

digital forms of activism done over the years utilizing the Invisible Children's four-part model. The Invisible Children utilized their in-person presence to drive what seemed to be digital activism of the time; viewing their Kony 2012 video. But, and perhaps due to the movement being one of the first of the digital/social media era, the Invisible Children movement was not able to turn that digital activism into more than likes and shares, ultimately harming the movement and its reputation in the long-run.

Throughout this chapter I have highlighted the importance of youth to the Invisible Children movement and the impact that has had on bringing attention to the movement and getting young people involved in making change. In addition, I discussed how being adaptable throughout their development over several years helped Invisible Children navigate the changing digital landscape and the impact that had on keeping the movement relevant in the age of digital social movements. The ability to adapt and change is one of the strongest aspects of the Invisible Children movement as they pioneered the new digital landscape not only to continue sharing their message and purpose, but also to use new ways of connecting and sharing to create the most viral video of that time.

Finally, while the Invisible Children movement may seem like an example of what in digital social movements is often criticized as slacktivism, the movement's work demonstrates that raising awareness ultimately can be an important step from interest to participation for those thinking about or wanting to get involved. Beginning with low-risk, low-cost acts is an important step to get people, and perhaps especially young people, involved in causes that they otherwise may not be able to participate in. The most important aspect of this type of activism is that is indeed a stepping stone to more and

more meaningful participation and not a final destination ending with sharing a post or changing a profile picture filter.

The Invisible Children movement is an important case to study when looking at youth digital social movements because it incorporated youth at every aspect, from the catalyst for the movement (youth-affected) to the movement leaders (youth-led) and finally to the target demographic (youth-involved) for members of the movement. Not only has Invisible Children included youth throughout the movement, they also came about at a unique time as it relates to the digital world we are currently in. Finally, the insight Invisible Children movement brings to youth digital social movement studies as it relates to activism versus slacktivism and the importance of low-cost, low-risk activism that acts as a stepping stone to more impactful and meaningful activism. Through their media blitz campaigns, Invisible Children proved that digital social movements that focus on, are run by, and utilize youth can bring about attention and change to virtually unknown problems in seldom publicized places of the world.

Chapter 3: Bring Back Our Girls: Developing Digital Era Youth Social Movement Activism

Bring Back Our Girls is a social movement that began in 2014 after the terrorist group Boko Haram abducted more than 200 school girls from their school dormitory in Northern Nigeria. Boko Haram is an Islamic terrorist group which practices Jihad and has been active in Nigeria since 2002.²³² Translated to English, "Boko Haram" means "Western education is sinful,"²³³ and thus, the group targets the education of girls with the purpose of exclusively keeping women in the household.²³⁴

After the death of their leader, Muhammed Yusuf, in 2009 while in police custody, Boko Haram developed an armed insurgency in an act of revenge for killing their leader.²³⁵ Over the next several years, Boko Haram continued their attacks across Nigeria in their attempt to enforce Sharia law, even among those who were not Muslim.²³⁶ In May of 2013, Nigerian President, Goodluck Jonathan, declared a state of emergency in three northern states where the Boko Haram terrorist group had an especially strong hold, including Borno, Yobe, and Adamawa, informing the people that parts of these states had been overtaken by groups who do not have allegiance with Nigeria.²³⁷

While this was not their only act of terrorism, the abduction of more than 200 schoolgirls is one of Boko Haram's most worldwide recognized acts of enforcing their ideals. ²³⁸ This abduction marked the single largest abduction attributed to Boko Haram. ²³⁹ During the abduction, nearly sixty of the young girls managed to escape, leaving a total of 219 girls in captivity. Along with the abduction of the girls, the terrorists set fire to the school, burning a large part of the school and destroying school records, making it

increasingly difficult to account for the girls who were at the school and thus the girls who were missing.²⁴⁰

Faced with uncertainty about exactly who was missing, where the girls were, and how to get them back, family and concerned Nigerian citizens came together to pressure their government to take on Boko Haram in order to locate and safely rescue these young girls. The rally cry of this movement moved online with the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag campaign, and eventually spread across the globe, reaching global leaders and citizens alike, all demanding the same thing: to return these abducted girls back to their families and away from Boko Haram.

In this chapter, I delve into the Bring Back Our Girls social movement. First, I look at the impact youth has had on the movement, from being the catalyst of the movement, to the development of the movement, to the utilization of youth as a part of the movement's membership, and finally the impact of the rhetoric surrounding youth of the movement. Next, I discuss the impact digital technologies and infrastructure have had on the Bring Back Our Girls movement based on when and where the movement took place. I also address some of the digital concerns with this movement. Following the digital section, I explore what aspects of the Bring Back Our Girls movement made it and actual social movement. I conclude with a discussion of the activism that the Bring Back Our Girls movement has accomplished over the years, both traditionally and non-traditionally, and examine how their online activism fits into the four styles of Internet engagement.

The Role of Youth throughout the Bring Back Our Girls Movement

When it comes to the relationship the Bring Back Our Girls movement has with youth, the first place to begin is the relationship between those affected that led to the creation of the movement. As stated above, Bring Back Our Girls came about because young girls were the victims of a terrorist attack by Boko Haram for, and while, attending school. The next important relationship to explore is how youth have been involved in the leadership of the movement, which sets the Bring Back Our Girls movement apart from the other three in this dissertation because it was not originally created by young people, but rather brought in a prominent young voice to act as leadership within the group.

Finally, as it relates to youth, I discuss the affect rhetoric surrounding the movement.

Youth-affected

While Boko Haram was not a new presence in Nigeria, the abduction of more than 200 schoolgirls was a tipping point for members of the community, both those related to the abducted girls, but also for members of the community at large. This was an attack by a terrorist group that was explicitly directed at young girls. While this event directly impacted the girls in Nigeria, the abduction spoke to a larger issue around the world: the education of youth. Around the world, education for young people is a global issue with more than 263 million children out of school in 2014. This issue is even more prominent for girls who are out of school in places such as Sub-Saharan Africa at a higher rate than boys. ²⁴¹ This direct attack from Boko Haram on these young schoolgirls is what led to the creation of this movement, creating the first, and strongest, direct relationship the Bring Back Our Girls movement has to youth.

Youth-led: An Outside Voice

Next, we look at the relationship youth have as the driving force of this movement. This movement was initially started at a protest by family members of the missing girls, and it quickly moved online, gaining the attention of many individuals across the world, including young female education activist, Malala Yousafzai, who eventually became a spokesperson for the movement while still a teenager herself.

Malala Yousafzai is one of the most well-known young girls who has been impacted by the violence directed at young girls and their right to an education. At the age of 11, Malala was encouraged by her father to speak out against the Taliban, which was extending its reach into her home region of the Swat Valley in Pakistan. In October 2012, fifteen-year-old Malala was shot in the head coming home from school; unbeknownst to her, the Taliban had issued a death warrant for the young girl due to her being outspoken over several years for girls' rights to an education. At the United Malala survive the attack, by her sixteenth birthday, she was speaking to the United Nations about this issue, for which she had been fighting for years. The kidnapping of the Chibok girls in Nigeria was an issue that was close to Malala and her activism. Her passion for the cause ultimately led her Nigeria on her seventeenth birthday to be a part of the movement to bring the young girls back from their captors.

Malala met with the parents of the girls who had been abducted to show her support and put pressure on Nigerian president Jonathan to be more aggressive in his work to bring these abducted girls back home to their families. Malala expressed her desire to be a voice for the movement, continuing to speak up for the abducted girls until each of them had been returned safely and allowed to continue her education.

Malala not only reached out to the Nigerian president, but she also left a message for Boko Haram as well. She told them to reflect on their behavior and recognize what they are doing does not only not represent Islam, but is reflecting poorly on Islam. ²⁴⁴ A year after the abduction, with the majority of the girls who had been abducted still in custody, Malala wrote an open letter to world leaders, criticizing their insufficient efforts in the release of the Chibok girls. ²⁴⁵ At eighteen years old, Malala called on the new Nigerian President, Muhammadu Buhari to continue further action in releasing the girls and ending Boko Haram altogether. When Buhari responded to Malala that Boko Haram had been handled (though girls were, and are still, missing), Malala continued to push the president to continue fighting for the missing girls, and that this issue was not over until all the girls had been returned. ²⁴⁶ Over the years, Malala has continued to be a leading voice in the Bring Back Our Girls movement through her personal blog sites and social media accounts, and politically talking with and to global leaders to continue efforts to bring each one of the abducted Chibok girls back.

Malala is an example of youth leadership within the Bring Back Our Girls movement. While she was not an originator of the movement, she was an early contributor and ultimately became a loud voice of leadership for the movement. Because of her prior activism involving young girls and their right to education, her voice was a powerful aspect of this movement, regardless, and perhaps even in spite, of her youthfulness.

Youth-involved: Bringing Young People Together through Social Media

Next, when looking at the Bring Back Our Girls movement, youth have played an active role as members of the movement. The Bring Back Our Girls movement took place, in large part, on social media, specifically via Twitter through the use of the hashtag (#BringBackOurGirls). While the youth demographic may seem more disinterested in engaging in "traditional" politics, the use of digital media, such as using Twitter and hashtags, is a tactic that can be used to engage this specific demographic in a more social, entertaining, and authentic form of communicating than traditional media.²⁴⁷

According to the Pew Research Center, individuals who fall into the definition of youth for this research (13 – 29 year-olds) make up the top two largest user demographic categories based on age in the United States; 32% of 13–17 year-olds and 40% of 18–29 year-olds use the platform. Worldwide, the 13–24 age demographic makes up 30% of Twitter users. (ages 25–29 are combined through age 34, but this group makes up another 29% of all Twitter users). The age of Twitter users is significant because of the presence that the Bring Back Our Girls movement had, specifically on Twitter with their digital campaign.

As early as July 2014, the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag (#BringBackOurGirls) had generated over four million tweets, and while not all of those tweets were from youths, it is a relationship that cannot go unnoticed.²⁵⁰ The following tweet heat map shows how the hashtag spread from April 23, 2014, to May 6 of that same year, exploding from a cluster of tweets happening almost exclusively in Nigeria to a mass of tweets around the world, with large amounts of tweets coming from the United States, Europe, and even Australia.²⁵¹ Taking into consideration the majority share of Twitter

that belongs to the youth, this is a significant connection for the Bring Back Our Girls movement.

Youth and Affect: Who are the "Girls" in Bring Back Our Girls

The use of the word "girls" in the movement's title *Bring Back Our Girls* highlights young people at the center of the cause. However, when looking at the ages of the abducted girls, most of them were mid-to-late teenagers. In many places, this age demographic could be, and is, considered "young women" or "young adults." The specific rhetorical use of the word "girls" in the movement could be seen as strategic in that youthfulness signifies a sense of vulnerability and elicits more sympathy and compassion from others.

Using the word "girl" in the name of the movement and in the globally used hashtag infantilizes the victims of the abduction. Many of the girls who were abducted, while still what I consider "youth" in this dissertation, were, in fact, in their late teens when abducted and many are in their twenties today. If the movement became known as "Bring Back Our Teenagers" or even "Bring Back Our Daughters," a different tone would be conveyed. What this means for the Bring Back Our Girls movement is that when people hear the word "girls," often, a *young* girl is what they picture, not a seventeen-year-old teenage girl. A young girl being abducted strikes a chord within people, a feeling a pity or sympathy, and people feel more inclined to help. Emphasizing the "girl" aspect of the abduction presents the abducted students as young and vulnerable, in need of help and protection. Referring to someone as a "child," and perhaps especially

a female child, ignites this emotional appeal to others that those girls need help, and is ultimately a useful tactic across movements.

Wrapped in the BBOG movement is also the fight for the education of girls worldwide. Bringing activist Malala Yousafzai in as a spokesperson, a young activist known around the world for her fight for the education of girls, also presents another unique rhetorical move. As Wendy Hesford denotes, critically, in the chapter *Spectacular Children* in her book *Spectacular Rhetorics*, education has been used as a part of a "rescue narrative" wherein education becomes the agent for change, meaning that education is seen as the way in which these youth can be helped/saved.²⁵² Portraying education as a way to rescue individuals, as the answer to problems, speaks to a Western idea of what should be. Intertwining the infantilization rhetoric along with the education as a rescue narrative creates an enticing situation for outsiders to get involved in.

Youth have had a direct impact on the Bring Back Our Girls movement throughout the various aspects discussed in this section. Specifically, this movement was created as a result of youth being directly affected in abduction from the Boko Haram terrorist group. While this movement was not as directly and explicitly driven by youth as the Invisible Children movement, it did include leadership from youth activist Malala Yousufzai as an important aspect of this movement. Additionally, the Bring Back Our Girls movement used affect rhetoric through their usage of "girls" to invoke an extra sense of pity and sympathy from outside members. Even though this choice may be somewhat infantilizing, it also sometimes even results in more donations and financial support for a cause. This, combined with the rhetoric surrounding the importance of

education and the idea and support for girls' education worldwide as a universal fix to many problems, laid the groundwork for an outpour of support from around the world.

A Hashtag Heard 'Round the World

The next important section to discuss for the Bring Back Our Girls Movement is the movement's relationship to the digital landscape. In this section, I explore the important digital aspects of the Bring Back Our Girls movement as it relates to the time the movement took place and the location of the movement. I also address the digital means that the movement used. Finally, I explore additional digital concerns the movement has had to consider and the implications of those concerns.

Non-digital Natives in a Digital World

As discussed above, the Bring Back Our Girls movement was not started by exclusively youth in the same way that the Invisible Children and the Never Again movements (discussed later in this dissertation) were. As previously mentioned, Malala Yousafzai was one of the only youth spearheads of the movement. This relates to the digital aspect of this movement as it relates to the discussion of digital natives and non-digital natives' impact on movements. With the majority of the Bring Back Our Girls leaders not belonging to the youth demographic, their innate relationship to the digital world was not as second-nature as it is for those who grew up with the technology advances that are available today. Because of their increased use of social media, digital natives process information differently than older generations. These differences are evident, among other places, in the way digital natives relate to and use social media to

work to achieve their goals compared to non-digital natives.²⁵⁴ The Bring Back Our Girls movement did use social media, despite the majority of their leaders not being digital natives, however, their execution of their social media usage and presence has not had the same impact and fluidity as other movements.

The impacts of the majority of the Bring Back Our Girls leadership not being digital natives can be seen in how they interact and run their various social media sites. To begin, the only social media page that is verified for the Bring Back Our Girls movement is their Facebook page. I discuss the implications of verified accounts on movements in the following section, but as it relates to the digital aspect, not having verified social media pages makes it difficult for followers or potential followers to identify which account is run by the actual movement. Digital natives are aware of the need to be verified on various platforms for consistency and ease of access for attracting and maintaining membership. Some even argue that getting verified, specifically on Twitter, has more to do with being good at Twitter than with the account user's identity. This speaks to the leadership of the Bring Back Our Girls movement not being as digitally savvy as younger leaders may be, making finding and following the movement's account more difficult for those who are potentially interested in the movement.

Along with the difficulties around identifying movement accounts, the actual posts from the Bring Back Our Girls movement differ from those of digital natives as well. For starters, some of the platforms used by the Bring Back Our Girls movement have outdated content and have large gaps between postings. Additionally, much of the Bring Back Our Girls content is not directly created by the Bring Back Our Girls

movement, but rather postings from other sources that the BBOG movement shares, retweets (RT), or re-posts. While digital natives do share or RT content, they also include their own voice and add their own commentary on said content; in other words, they share while adding to the story. This kind of engagement is missing from the social media platforms from the non-digital natives behind the Bring Back Our Girls movement. As a result, the unique voice of the movement is missing.

Time: A Double-Edged Sword for the Bring Back Our Girls Movement

Despite not being led exclusively by digital natives, one benefit the Bring Back
Our Girls movement did have going for it was the time in which the movement
developed and gained worldwide attention. The Bring Back Our Girls movement most
popularly chose Twitter as the social media platform to spread their message, though the
campaign spread across other popular platforms such as Instagram and Facebook as well.
In the Spring of 2014, when the Bring Back Our Girls movement first appeared on
Twitter, the platform had around 260 million monthly active Twitter users globally.²⁵⁶ In
addition to the amount of users on Twitter in 2014 globally, broadband access was also
on the rise. By the end of 2014, fixed-broadband penetration was reported to have
reached nearly 10% of the globe, mobile-broadband was said to have reached over 2
billion subscribers, accounting for 32% of the world, and there was a total of three billion
Internet users globally.²⁵⁷

While the timing of this movement benefitted Bring Back Our Girls with worldwide access to the internet and broadband internet access growing, the relevance of Twitter was on a decline. In 2014, Instagram became more important than Twitter for

youth users, LinkedIn ranked more popular than Twitter among U.S. adults, and Snapchat came in as the youngest social network with more than 60% of Snapchat users ages 18-24.²⁵⁸ Outside of the United States, in 2014, Twitter fell below other social media sites including QZone, Google+, LinkedIn, and Instagram in terms of popularity and usage.²⁵⁹

What all of this means for the Bring Back Our Girls movement is that though Twitter was still a popular platform in 2014, it was not the most important or most used platform by youths, nor was it the most popular for the older demographic of adults inside the United States. Keeping all of this in mind, Twitter still skewed heavily toward U. S. users, with 143 million of the worldwide Twitter accounts being registered to users in the United States. ²⁶⁰ If the Bring Back Our Girls movement was trying to reach the U. S. audience, then Twitter would definitely be capable of reaching them, and it did. However, even with the majority of platform users being U. S. users, the platform was still not the most important or valued platform for those users. This means that while U. S. users would have, and be on, Twitter, it was not their main social media platform of choice, and if the Bring Back Our Girls movement wanted to spread their message and create sustainability through their social media presence, relying heavily on Twitter might not lead to the worldwide payoff that the movement was aiming for.

However, while not the most popular site across the world, or even the most popular in the United States where it skewed the heaviest, Twitter does have advantages that LinkedIn, Instagram, and Facebook did not offer, such as the ability to connect with social networks based upon interest rather than personal connection. (Facebook is currently including more of this type of engagement opportunity with Facebook Groups, but in 2014, the connections users had were much more direct and personal). This is one

of the biggest advantages that the Bring Back Our Girls movement had through its Twitter use. They were able to get their message out to wider audiences than if they had started in a more insulated platform like Facebook or Instagram. Once the message spread to users via Twitter, those users could then search out the movement on various other platforms and follow accordingly.

The time in which the Bring Back Our Girls movement came about had its pros and cons. In 2014, broadband penetration was spreading, and because of the decrease in the cost of mobile devices, access was becoming more available to more people worldwide. On the other hand, the social media platform most utilized by the Bring Back Our Girls movement at the time was on a decline for both youth and adults alike. Twitter was still their best option at the time, though, as it had the advantage of allowing users to see and follow information based on interest in the content, and not a personal connection to an individual.

Location, Location, Location: The Benefits and Struggles of the Location of the Bring Back Our Girls Movement

The next important aspect as it relates to the digital nature of the Bring Back Our Girls movement is the location of the movement. When looking at the location of the movement, I examine both the location where the movement started, in this case Nigeria, as well as the location to whom the movement is reaching out. In this section I discuss the implications of location, including access, infrastructure, and the state of Nigeria as a country as the movement came about.

The digital aspect of the Bring Back Our Girls movement started in Nigeria with the first use of the hashtag #BringBackOurGirls coming from a Nigerian lawyer, Ibrahim Abdullahi on April 23, 2014.²⁶¹ The importance of this movement starting in Nigeria as it relates to the digital aspect of this movement is important to examine. According to the Nigerian Communications Commission (NCC), there were over 83 million active mobile internet subscriptions by the beginning of 2015.²⁶² In 2014, the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) estimated that 43% of Nigerians had access to the internet, an increase from 2013 where only 38% of Nigerians had access.²⁶³

In Nigeria, and in much of the world, the increase of access to the internet was spurred by mobile devices that were internet-enabled, which provided affordable services to mobile users.²⁶⁴ The low cost of data services made mobile internet access attractive to many youth in Nigeria with costs as low as \$17 a month (USD) in January 2014, a price that dropped to \$7.50 a month by April of the following year.²⁶⁵ This price was significantly lower than fixed wireless access (FWA) that cost \$63 a month in 2014.

The ability for individuals in Nigeria to access the internet is important as it relates to the digital aspect of the Bring Back Our Girls movement. With upwards of 80% of the Nigerian population having access to mobile phone services, this would allow individuals in that country the ability to access and share information through nontraditional media and social media platforms. However, access does not mean easy or complete access. Below I discuss some issues that are related to digital access and infrastructure in Nigeria.

While mobile usage in Nigeria is growing, and mobile teledensity nears 100% and with over 65 million active internet subscriptions, ²⁶⁷ the quality of the service available to the people of Nigeria is still lacking. According to the ITU, mobile broadband penetration was only 10% in 2013. ²⁶⁸ Internet speeds averaged just under 2 Mbps in 2014, with a

worldwide average of nearly 4Mbps.²⁶⁹ This means that for the majority of internet users in Nigeria, while they have access to the internet, that access is not seamless, it is slow, and ultimately for 90% of those using the internet, they are not getting the full benefits the Internet has to offer just by simply having access to the internet. Even for those who have access to broadband, that service can still be limited. It is reported that only 0.1% of Nigerians had access to fix-broadband internet in 2013, meaning only around 15,000 subscribers were accessing consistent broadband speeds greater than 4 Mbps.²⁷⁰

Not only do many Nigerians have slower internet speeds, but they also have to deal with infrastructure issues like power outages, which impacts their ability to use the internet and their mobile phones. Many Nigerians have reported they have to use private generators in order to maintain their connection to the internet during the frequent power cuts the nation was experiencing in 2014.²⁷¹ With power outages reportedly occurring daily between five and seven hours per day, many Nigerians must rely on alternative electricity in order to utilize their technology, among other things.²⁷² The financial burden of having to pay for expensive back-up sources of energy not only puts a strain on the individual citizens of Nigeria, but it has also caused many cybercafes in the area to

The issue of access to the adequate broadband and proper infrastructure to maintain the access to and functionality of the internet and mobile devices creates a battle for those using digital media as a platform for their social movement in Nigeria that social movements located elsewhere do not have to deal with. In addition to the location of the movement and the access and infrastructure posing a challenge for movement

leaders, these issues also make it more difficult for the people where the movement is taking place, in this case, Nigeria, to be as involved and invested in the movement.

However, as it so happened, the city of Port Harcourt in Nigeria was named as the World Book Capital of 2014, and Obiageli Ezekwesili, the first person to promote the hashtag, spoke at the event honoring the selection of Port Harcourt as the World Book Capital of the year. This event brought international attention, and, during her speech, Ezekwesili called the audience to work together in the rescue of the school girls.²⁷⁴ In addition to having a strong hashtag, the Bring Back Our Girls movement got international attention from this World Book Capital event that helped aid in the spreading of the movement and cause.

The final aspect related to location I want to discuss is related to the ultimate reason for this movement: the terrorist organization Boko Haram and their grasp on Nigeria at the time. During this time, Nigeria as a whole was facing a large threat from Boko Haram. In May of 2013, President Jonathan declared a state of emergency in three northern states, including Borno, where the Chibok girls were abducted, stating that these three states had already been overtaken by the radical group. Pecause of this ongoing and wide-spread control of Boko Haram across Nigeria, this, understandably, takes time, attention, energy, and resources from the people of Nigeria that, under different circumstances, could be put toward other causes. Looking at this from Maslow's hierarchy of needs, the people of Nigeria were fighting for more basic necessities, constantly, against Boko Haram, including safety, and without being able to fulfill that need, it becomes difficult for other needs to take priority. This means, while families are

worried about their own safety, it might be difficult for them to find the time, energy, or ability to fight alongside the Bring Back Our Girls movement.

This is actually a strong argument for why the Bring Back Our Girls movement needed to reach out internationally. With local resources limited, extending the call for help and support to other places and people who are not dealing with the same immediate threats and needs as those on location in Nigeria is a way to gain a level support the movement might otherwise lack.

As mentioned above, the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag spread across the globe and was able to reach and multiply across locations with more openly available access to digital means and infrastructure. Great Britain had Internet connection in 84% of households in 2014.²⁷⁶ Additionally, in the United States, around 80% of U.S. households had high-speed Internet connection.²⁷⁷

Reaching these locations across the globe was important for the Bring Back Our Girls movement because of their digital access and infrastructure. With more widely accessible Internet in places like Great Britain and the United States, the Bring Back Our Girls movement was better able to reach larger audiences through their digital campaign, despite their own limited digital access. While this will not solve their problem, garnering an international following is something that can benefit a movement, because, as discussed earlier, the size of a movement is important to its longevity and ultimate success.

Adapt or Disappear

Next, in relation to location, I want to explore the spreadability of the Bring Back Our Girls movement. Specifically, I look at the ability of the movement to spread based on the relationship the movement has to the digital realm, keeping time and location in mind. Then, I look at issues concerned with spreadability, including echo chambers and censorship.

The Bring Back Our Girls movement, despite facing the challenges of being located in Nigeria, a part of the world with below average broadband speeds and access, still managed to spread their message across the world. The ability to spread their message was, in large part, due to the use of their social media hashtag. The use of a hashtag allows a message to spread from network to network, creating new connections and building new networks. Hashtags allow users to come together for the same cause under one phrase that is easily searchable and easy to use. And while finding the "official" social media accounts for the Bring Back Our Girls movement was not streamlined, searching for and following the hashtag was, and it helped the movement spread far and wide.

The way to create an effective hashtag is similar to some other common communication techniques; be unique to your cause, be concise and clear, and evoke emotion.²⁷⁸ Research on the use of hashtags on social media have found methods to creating strong ones. The Bring Back Our Girls hashtag did this; the hashtag was directly related to their cause and the tweets they shared along with it, it was concise and clear, and it also managed to evoke emotion through the imagery created through the use of the word "girls." In addition to the emotional response from the use of the word "girl," the

hashtag also made a personal connection with those who used it through the use of the word "our." The hashtag never got changed to #BringBack*Their*Girls or #BringBack*TheNigerian*Girls, it remained and spread with the use of "our" girls.²⁷⁹ This connected all of the users of the hashtag personally to the missing girls. Those who shared that hashtag were taking personal relation and claim to the missing girls. They were not girls in the abstract. These 200+ girls were the world's girls.

This hashtag created a connection between those who started the movement and their audience to feel a connection to the girls who had been abducted. Not only did it make a personal connection through the hashtag, the hashtag also identified the specific outcome the movement was aiming to obtain. The hashtag was specific, it was clear, it related directly to the movement's cause, and it made the connection to the intended audience. These methods helped the spreadability of the Bring Back Our Girls movement on social media through their use of rhetorical digital techniques.

Internet Engagement: Brochureware

Brochureware is essentially when a movement uses the Internet to share information about their cause. The Bring Back Our Girls movement sent out brochureware to spread their message to a wide audience at an incredibly fast rate that would not have otherwise been possible coming from this specific group of movement leaders. As mentioned earlier, the fact that the Bring Back Our Girls movement was organized and led by women, and more specifically young women, made it difficult for their voices to be heard and taken seriously based on their specific cultural dynamics. The

use of brochureware as a means of moving this movement forward gave those voices a way to spread and spread quickly.

Internet Engagement: E-Mobilization

E-mobilization is a mix of traditional and non-traditional activism.²⁸⁰ The Bring Back Our Girls movement engaged in e-mobilization through their use of online communication in order to coordinated offline activism, specifically their marches and international government involvement in their mission. Across the globe, BBOG rallies were scheduled and documented via social media.²⁸¹ In addition to scheduling offline rallies, the Bring Back Our Girls movement organized a Social Media March via Facebook for May 8, 2014.

This type of Internet engagement also works as a powerful recruitment tool, which is exactly what the Bring Back Our Girls movement needed in order to add additional outside pressure to their government. This type of activism is powerful in that it allows a movement to gather a large following, which then results in attention from traditional media. For a movement that felt ignored by their own government, international media attention was a positive step for to get attention from large audiences, who would, ultimately, add additional pressure to their government.

Internet Engagement: Online Participation

Finally, the type of activism that the Bring Back Our Girls movement used on a global scale was what is essentially online participation, specifically *flash activism*. Flash activism is a form of activism where a movement gains a lot of attention in a very short

period of time, similar to the power of a flash flood. ²⁸² Just like a flash flood, the power of flash activism is not in its longevity, but rather in its massive and quick onset.

Flash activism was seen through the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag, which spread around the world with millions of engagements in a short timeframe. The benefit of flash activism is that movements that have this form of activism often have larger audiences than something that was achieved offline, and the size of a movement is an important aspect of the success of a movement. ²⁸³ One of the reasons why flash activism is able to gather large amounts of engagement is because this form of online participation is low-stakes. In addition to being low-stakes, it is also low-cost, as the cost to participate in a movement online is much lower than physically participating in a movement, and thus it is much easier for people, especially young people, to engage. ²⁸⁴

The Bring Back Our Girls movement came about in a significant time where not only was social media growing rapidly, but so too was access to the internet, specifically in Nigeria where the movement was centrally focused. Unfortunately, the main platform used by the Bring Back Our Girls movement, Twitter, was on the decline both in popularity with youth and adults alike, all of which created a dynamic landscape for this movement to navigate in.

The location of the movement as it relates to the digital aspects of the movement have also shown to be important as it relates to access, infrastructure, and the ability to spread the message. While access and infrastructure are both growing in Nigeria, broadband speeds are still below the world average, and issues with power outages lasting for hours at a time add difficulties to continue spreading the message via the digital world. The issue of communicating digitally was not only stunted by power

outages, but individuals who wanted to push through that obstacle were also then faced with the expensive option of needing a personal generator to supplement electricity, adding an additional strain to those who were trying to enact change.

Digital Limitations: Some Battles Proving Harder than Others

As it relates to the digital realm, the Bring Back Our Girls movement faced some additional limitations to consider as well, including echo chambers and censorship.

Below I explore the impact these concerns had on the movement throughout the development and continuation of the movement.

The issue of echo chambers is one that every social movement that utilizes digital media must consider. While the arguments that echo chambers are a troublesome hindrance to social movements in the digital sphere may not be as significant as they once were, it is still an important aspect the Bring Back Our Girls movement has had to manage.

To begin, the Bring Back Our Girls movement struggled with echo chambers in that the only people originally talking about the movement were those in Nigeria who were already active in the movement. This was a necessary aspect of the movement; people in Nigeria did need to be the ones talking about, tweeting about, and bringing attention to the movement. However, the conversations happening within the country were not proving to be sufficient to propel the movement forward enough to create the change they were aiming for.

As the movement moved outside of Nigeria, the argument against the real impact this movement could have is that it only reached those who were already engaged in

political activism, and then those are the only people who ultimately engage in the movement's activism. However, the Bring Back Our Girls movement was using social media in order to get attention from a large audience, and from important international figures in order to put enough pressure, both internally and externally, on the then-Nigerian President Goodluck Jonathan. Having individuals who were already politically active but had not heard about, or were not already working to rescue, the Chibok girls learn about the Bring Back Our Girls movement and then begin participating helped the movement gain the attention it was searching for.

In fact, people involved in political activism perhaps had more power and weight behind their tweets than the average person. For example, seeing people such as First Lady of the United States Michelle Obama, British Prime Minister David Cameron, CNN reporter Jim Clancy, United States Secretary of State John Kerry, and the United States Department of State tweet in support of the movement led to political action offline and added social pressure to those in power who had not yet put effort in to support the movement.

Another area of concern about echo chambers comes from partisan ideologies only listening to and hearing similar partisan ideologies. However, the Bring Back Our Girls movement was not divided by political agenda, like some social movements. That lack of division made it easier for individuals across various political ideologies to come together in support of this movement. There was no real echo chamber here for the movement to get stuck in from a political ideology perspective, at least not abroad.

Additionally, as Ibrahim Adbullahi, the first person credited with tweeting the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag, stated, nearly everyone has girls in their lives, and the

hashtag appealed to almost everyone because of that. ²⁸⁵ This helped keep the Bring Back Our Girls movement from falling completely into the trap of an echo chamber through its digital communication. Because the movement was not appealing to just one type of person, a divisive belief system, or a controversial topic, the movement was able to gain traction with a wide variety of individuals. With large amounts of online discussion of the movement, traditional media then began covering and discussing the movement. ²⁸⁶ And, as studies have shown, media coverage has the ability to influence policy, ²⁸⁷ which is ultimately what the leaders of the Bring Back Our Girls movement wanted: governmental changes that protected and brought the missing girls back from the Boko Haram.

Bring Back Our Girls' large appeal to virtually any and everyone was an advantage for the movement. This was an advantage that helped them avoid one of the bigger concerns for digital social movements of echo chambers: keeping the message stuck and repeating amongst the same group of individuals, at least from a political mindset. The movement did struggle with echo chambers in that it struggled to reach people outside of those who initially cared, and perhaps adds to why the movement fizzled out in the way that it did.

The second potential limitation the Bring Back Our Girls had to face was that of censorship. In 2014, Nigeria's freedom on the net status was considered "partly free," scoring a 33 out of 100 (zero being the best and 100 being the worst). ²⁸⁸ The categories used to determine the level of freedom on the internet include obstacles to access (10 out of 25), limits on content (8 out of 35), and violations of user rights (15 out of 40), again, the closer to zero, the closer to being considered free. I have discussed limits concerning

access above, and for this section, I focus more specifically on the limits on content and violation of user rights issues that Nigeria has faced.

Online media in Nigeria is generally free from restrictions, and, as of 2014, authorities had not blocked or filtered out content, in large part due to the complexities of the internet infrastructure, making it difficult for authorities to carry out filtering or censorship. ²⁸⁹ However, issues that have happened in the past, as they relate to content or websites being inaccessible, have been documented as technical issues rather than governmental intervention. ²⁹⁰ In 2013, a filtering device from the company Blue Coat, a company known for monitoring and filtering and is used in countries such as China, Russia, and Bahrain, was discovered on private ISP in Nigeria, causing concern when it comes to filtration and censorship of content. Additionally, in 2015, a local Reuters correspondent was arrested under allegations of espionage as it related to the 2015 election. ²⁹¹ Citizens suspected this was an act of censorship by their government to keep the outside world from gaining information about their upcoming election. These instances of control and censorship create a feeling of uncertainty when it comes to what Nigerians feel they are able to see and say online.

While on the surface social media sites such as YouTube, Facebook, and Twitter are freely available and highly popular in Nigeria, government officials have made statements about clamping down on social media. ²⁹² This was seen, in part, due to online communication that has been critical of the government on the internet, and the government's response has given Nigerians the impression that online censorship is on the horizon. ²⁹³ With the threat of censorship seeming impending for Nigerians, this could impact the way they communicate online in one of two ways: first, as a result of potential

increased censorship, this could cause an influx of creating and sharing critical communication about the government while doing so is still a possibility, but it could also lead to self-censorship with the threat of government intervention looming.

Self-censorship is a form of censorship that is not top-down and implemented by the government or authorities directly, but rather it is when the individual chooses to not communicate in what might be considered controversial or critical rhetoric in order to avoid any potential consequences from the government. While the Nigerian constitution includes freedom of expression and of the press, actions that have been taken cause pause for individuals as to what they do or do not say online. ²⁹⁴ Citizens in Nigeria do practice a level of self-censorship, but in recent times have become more open about discussing previously taboo topics online. Unfortunately, this freedom from self-censorship has not expanded to all topics. Nigeria's anti-LGBT climate has caused many individuals to filter what they discuss as it relates to their sexuality online and even self-censor personal information. ²⁹⁵

The self-censorship is not only seen on an individual level, but also from journalists throughout the country as well. For instance, during the coverage of the 2015 Nigerian presidential election, there was a large number of violent attacks against journalists by both Nigerian security forces and militant groups. These attacks led to journalists self-censoring and cautiously reporting on the elections in order to avoid a similar fate.²⁹⁶

Self-censorship, as it relates to the Bring Back Our Girls movement, is important because a large portion of this movement criticized the way the government had been, and was currently, handling the kidnapping of the girls and their rescue. Leaders and

members of the movement did not believe the government took the abduction seriously and, as such, were not doing enough to return all of the abducted schoolgirls home safely. Being critical of the government, while technically legal in Nigeria, still posed potential threats to individuals and reporters alike. This threat was especially high during the 2014-2015 years as Nigeria was in the midst of a presidential election, and being critical of the current president and leadership put his future as the president of Nigeria in jeopardy. This is why the ability to spread the Bring Back Our Girls message outside of the country and across the world benefited the movement; if concerns of censorship within the country gave individuals pause on speaking out or speaking out as frequently and critically against the government as they felt necessary for fear of governmental retaliation, those outside of the country could do so without that same fear.

Bring Back Our Girls as a Social Movement

The following section explores the Bring Back Our Girls movement's will to change an element of the current social structure, the sustained interaction between those challenging authority and those in authority, the desired shift from what is to what ought to be, the organization of the movement, and ultimately the size of the membership.

Below I examine each of these established criteria that are used to classify a social movement and discuss their significance and impact as it relates specifically to the Bring Back Our Girls movement.

The first element of a social movement is that it must be striving for a change in the current social structure. As discussed in Chapter One of this dissertation, while defining a social movement is complex, one of the most common threads seen across scholars is the notion of creating change, of shifting from how things currently are to how the members of a movement think they ought to be. The Bring Back Our Girls movement, at its core, is rooted in this desire for change.

From an outside view of the movement, the BBOG movement may not seem to be working to change elements in the social structure of post-2014 Nigeria. However, as one delves deeper into the movement, it is clear that this movement was more than just a call to action to retrieve these abducted girls. Leaders of the Bring Back Our Girls movement felt that the government was not working in favor of the people and was not working hard enough to return the abducted girls from the Boko Haram. This need for change in the current structure is what ultimately sparked the movement. Adding to the change in social structure, the Bring Back Our Girls movement has been a women-led, young-girls-affected issue, which in and of itself has also challenged the social structure of the patriarchal, male-dominated society of Nigeria. Women calling for change in the male-dominated social and political structure in Nigeria have contributed to the social movement status of the Bring Back Our Girls movement.

On top of the female leaders within Nigeria calling for attention to the abduction of youth female school students, Pakistani youth female education advocate Malala Yousafzai became an international spokesperson for the movement. Malala represents a change in an element of the current social structure as well. Yousafzai was shot in the head by the Taliban in Pakistan for very similar reasons the Chibok girls were abducted by Boko Haram in Nigeria: the perception that the pursuit of education for young girls was seen as evil, bad, sinful under certain interpretations of Muslim law.²⁹⁸ Not only did Malala continue her education after surviving being shot in the head, she continued to

push for the change in the culture surrounding female education by becoming an advocate across the world. As she joined forces with the BBOG movement, at the still young age of sixteen years old, she represented a change that the other leaders and members of the Bring Back Our Girls movement wanted to see in their current social structure: an educated, empowered, young woman whom people listened to and valued.

The significance of BBOG being women-led and directly impacting young girls is an important one to consider when studying this movement. Specifically when examining the Nigerian political realm, women today still have a minimal role in politics with their rights being protected only as recently as 1979.²⁹⁹ Additionally, women have been, and continue to be, marginalized in both the public and their private lives in Nigeria.³⁰⁰ With the Bring Back Our Girls movement, the leaders are working to prioritize these young girls who were abducted for simply obtaining an education, a threat that young girls are particularly vulnerable to in the country. Women and young girls pushing for the advocacy and protection of other young girls in Nigeria is a shift in the current social structure.

On a political level, leaders of the BBOG movement have had issues with how the then-president Goodluck Jonathan handled the initial abduction of the girls as well as his response thereafter. When the abduction initially happened, Jonathan made no official statement. Two days after the abduction, Jonathan went on a political rally where he still did not comment on the girls' abduction or what he planned to do to ensure their safe return. Jonathan's lack of response to the abduction is, in part, what spurred the movement to seek change in the social structure. Leaders of the movement did not feel as though the girls who were abducted were valued by their president, and felt instead as if

his upcoming reelection campaign was more important than the safe return of his own youth. This is when international attention to the movement was not only valued, but also, some felt, needed, as a way to put pressure on the Nigerian president to act as the leader of the country and make efforts to rescue the girls of Chibok.

All of these efforts for change relate to the current social structure in Nigeria, from young girls being allowed an education to the voices of women being valued and taken seriously in the political realm to ultimately simply seeming to value the lives of the girls who had been abducted. They represented a shift that this movement was attempting to make from what is to what they strongly believed ought to be. Young girls <code>ought</code> to be able to get an education safely. Women <code>ought</code> to be able to express their voices and be heard and taken seriously in politics. The lives of the girls who had been taken by the terrorist group Boko Haram <code>ought</code> to be as important to the president, to the country, and to the world as any other girl in the world.

The significance of this shift from what is to what the movement believes ought to be is a large one to examine from the perspective of an international social movement, especially a social movement that is situated in Africa and spreads to Western countries.

Questions around Western aid to African countries are wrapped in colonialism and the white savior complex. 302

This relationship between the West attempting to help "develop" or "fix" African countries and the Bring Back Our Girls movement is essentially because of Westerners seeing the ideas that Boko Haram hold as "backwards": that Western ideas and ways of life are wrong and that girls should not be in school and getting an education, among other things. So, this particular case of wanting to shift from what is to what ought to be

is a unique intersection of the Western ideas and norms becoming a part of Nigerian culture. This creates a difficult idea of what to fight for when studying this case as it relates to what the role of the West ought to be. On the one hand, is intervening and pushing Western ideals and beliefs on a different culture with a different set of values what ought to be? On the other hand, is intervening simply in the best interest of the young girls who were abducted, and thus what ought to be? Leaders of this movement argue the latter; they believe strongly in the pressure that the West can provide to their current government to act on behalf of these abducted young girls.³⁰³

In fact, it was only after the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag spread internationally, getting attention from prominent political figures that Nigerian president Jonathan finally spoke publicly about the abduction.³⁰⁴ It was through this international attention that youth activist Malala Yousafzai became involved in the movement, and it was only after his meeting with her that Jonathan agreed to meet with the parents of the abducted girls.³⁰⁵ The attention and intervention from the West and others across the globe in and of itself is a shift away from what some view as what ought to be done when it comes problems taking place in Nigeria and elsewhere.

It is not just the attempted shift from what is to what ought to be that makes the Bring Back Our Girls movement a social movement, it is during this attempted change, the continued interaction between those who are challenging authority and those who are in authority that is important. This is a complex area for the BBOG movement as well, because, from a global perspective, that conversation has very much dwindled. However, the local voices that have been challenging the authority from the beginning continue to

do so to this day. The other complexity here is wrapped around to whom the movement is speaking; the Nigerian government, Boko Haram, or both.

When exploring the communication between the Bring Back Our Girls movement and the authority of the Nigerian government, it has been complicated from the day of the abduction. Starting on April 14, 2014, the Nigerian government had not been clear on the severity or the intervention the government had made in relation to the abducted girls. The government originally stated that around 100 students were missing, while parents and girls who had escaped were saying more than 200 girls were still missing, and two days later the government finally came out stating that most of the girls had been returned and only eight remained missing. ³⁰⁶ By mid-April, a government source attempted to explain the discrepancy with the number of girls missing. The communication between the BBOG movement continues in this way, back and forth, at, rather than with each other, until intervention from youth activist Malala Yousafzai met with President Jonathan and convinced him to meet directly with members of the BBOG movement and parents of missing girls.

The dialogue between local BBOG members and the Nigerian government has, and continues to be, tense. Bring Back Our Girls protests were banned from the capital in the summer of 2014, citing a security threat as the reason.³⁰⁷ The president of Nigeria at the time of the abduction called the movement politically motivated.³⁰⁸ The movement continued to accuse the government of not caring enough or doing enough for the return of the girls.³⁰⁹ Eventually, Jonathan was even accused of rejecting an offer from Britain to rescue the Chibok girls, which he denied.³¹⁰ This type of communication from those most intimately involved in the movement and the government they have been trying to

work with is, in fact, sustained, albeit strained, but meeting the qualification for Bring Back Our Girls to be a social movement.

The communication between BBOG and the Nigerian government escalated as the movement gained international attention as well, when followers of the movement reached out with the same message: Bring Back Our Girls. This communication was less sustained, but represented more of what Bennett and Fielding refer to as *flash activism*, discussed more below.³¹¹ This communication happened in large amounts and happened very quickly, and the impact of this communication from the members of the BBOG movement to the Nigerian government added pressure to President Jonathan to speak out on the abduction and ultimately to live up to the responsibilities to the Nigerian people.³¹² The communication from the movement to the government did not end with Jonathan, and the newly elected president Muhammadu Buhari addressed the missing girls in his inaugural speech, promising the government would not claim they had defeated Boko Haram until all of the girls were freed.³¹³

The communication from the people of Nigeria and those communicating internationally via social media to 'Bring Back Our Girls' has been mostly directed to the Nigerian government, calling for their intervention to return the missing girls. Even with this direct pressure on the Nigerian government, as of Spring 2020, there are still over 100 girls missing.³¹⁴ The fact that there are still so many girls who have not been rescued and returned home highlights, to some, the inefficiency of the Nigerian government, and is argued to be the reason Goodluck Jonathan lost the 2015 election.³¹⁵ However, it was not the Nigerian government who abducted the girls, but Boko Haram, and communication directly to Boko Haram had been limited.

Though limited in their communication to Boko Haram, BBOG youth leader Malala Yousafzai, has multiple times reached out directly to Boko Haram, calling on them to think of their own families, especially their daughters and sisters, and to release the school girls back to their families. ³¹⁶ In response to Malala's requests, and the Bring Back Our Girls movement as a whole, Boko Haram released a video, mocking the Bring Back Our Girls movement. ³¹⁷ So while the majority of the communication to and from the BBOG movement has been with the Nigerian government, there have been instances where communication has gone to and from Boko Haram as well.

The next aspect that sets a movement apart is their organization. The Bring Back Our Girls movement is organized when it comes to leadership, events, and the message of the movement. The movement began at a protest and the hashtag was first shared by a Nigerian lawyer, Ibrahim M. Abdullahi, and while this is where the call to "bring back our girls" originated, Abdullahi is not the leader of the movement. The movement's leadership consists of five women; Aisha Yesufu, Florence Ozor, Maureen Kabrik, Dudu Bakam, and Oby Ezekwesili. Each of them had important roles in putting pressure on the Nigerian government, even through regime change, to return the missing girls. The women have organized daily meetings at the Unity Fountain in Abuja, along with over 200 protests inside and outside of Nigeria between 2014 and 2018. The five original leaders of the movement only stepped down from their leadership roles when Ezekwesili announced her run for president, and the other four women joined in her campaign, noting that this was the next step they felt they had to take in order to ultimately achieve the movement's goals. The change in leadership in 2018 resulted in the following

taking the various positions within the movement: Yassin (coordinator), Nifemi Onifade (spokesperson) and Gapani Yanga (sit-out coordinator). 320

The movement's organization is significant because having clearly identified leadership helps those who are rallying around the movement know who to look toward for guidance, information on events, and any results that may or may not be happening. The specific leaders of the BBOG movement also came about naturally in a grassroots nature. Similar to other grassroots movements such as Mothers Against Drunk Driving (now Mothers Against Destructive Decisions) and the Million Mom March, Bring Back Our Girls developed from a local group of individuals who have come together to solve a problem, collectively advocating for change. A social movement developing from the ground-up as a grassroots organization is a positive step in developing a strong social movement.

However, the positive impact of a grassroots movement does not end at the singular group development, but rather requires multiple local groups developing around the cause in various locations that are organized by various individuals who are not in power but are fighting for the same cause of the movement as a whole.³²¹ This is where BBOG did not continue with their grassroots development. While the movement began with grassroots leadership, the movement was mostly centered around that leadership and did not have groups around Nigeria or the world starting their own "chapters" of the BBOG movement to keep the it moving. This lack of spreading of the movement makes it difficult as it relates to the impact and longevity of the movement as a whole.

In addition to the organization of the movement, in the digital world that the Bring Back Our Girls movement has infiltrated, their digital organization is also

important. Bring Back Our Girls has an organized website with easily viewed contact information for current leaders including phone numbers, email addresses, and social media handles. In addition to contact information, details on upcoming protests and sitins are also organized on the website along with their mission and goals. However, while the website does have this information, it is not very detailed, and can leave those wanting to become more involved in the movement looking for more.

In addition to their somewhat lacking website, BBOG's social media are not easily found or identified, in part, due to their lack of verification. If one begins on the BBOG website, there are links to the Bring Back Our Girls Facebook and Twitter, however, the social media pages are difficult to find on their own. Neither the Facebook nor the Twitter accounts are verified, which can make identifying which page belongs to the actual movement difficult for those who want to be involved. Not having verified social media accounts, especially for a movement that uses social media, is a hindrance in the organization of the Bring Back Our Girls movement that has made growing and sustaining membership difficult.

Exploring the membership size is the next important aspect when looking at a social movement. Membership size is significant as it relates to the longevity of a social movement, and ultimately sets movements apart from pressure groups, lobbies, and campaigns.³²² The Bring Back Our Girls movement has explicitly expressed the value that outside pressure and attention brings to their cause and the impact large membership has had on their movement.

At the height of the Bring Back Our Girls movement, those showing support for the movement had utilized the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag more than one million times in less than three weeks. ³²³ In under a month, the movement had amassed around two million uses of the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag, with posts coming from prominent political figures such as Michelle and Barack Obama, Hillary Clinton, and David Cameron, as well as celebrities including Kerry Washington, and Chris Brown. ³²⁴ The seemingly large size of membership and attention from celebrities and politicians via digital means are what brought international attention to this movement, which ultimately put pressure on the Nigerian government to respond to the abduction. The U.S. government, the British government, and even the United Nations all got involved, reaching out to the Nigerian government to discuss how they could assist in safely rescuing and returning the missing Nigerian school girls. ³²⁵ The impact of the massive following of this movement in a short amount of time is what finally led to a response from the president of Nigeria, something that the movement had been waiting for since the abduction happened.

However, after the popularity of the hashtag campaign died down, the number of followers of the movement fell as well. Looking at the social media pages, for example, the Twitter profile that is linked on the Bring Back Our Girls has 35,000 followers, and their official Facebook page has just over 8000 followers. The Bring Back Our Girls movement is not exclusively online, though, so while this is one metric to use when looking at current followers of the movement, it is not the only one of significance for BBOG. In fact, daily protests and sit-ins in Abuja, as well as weekly and bi-weekly events held in Lagos, are still attended by members of the movement regularly, though those numbers, too, are dwindling. As national and global attention refocused on

various other events, the Bring Back Our Girls movement lost followers, and many to this day are not aware of the status of the missing Chibok girls.³²⁸

The fluctuation in the membership for the Bring Back Our Girls movement has significant importance to the movement as a whole. When followers were massive and attention was directed right at Nigeria and the missing young girls, the Nigerian government could no longer avoid the situation and had to make efforts to find and rescue the girls. However, as attention and membership waned, the government's involvement in rescuing the girls also dissipated. The wide international attention did not bring all of the girls home, but it did put a magnifying glass on how the Nigerian government was handling the abductions and gave a louder voice to those who had been fighting on the ground in Nigeria from day one to rescue the girls.

As membership faded over the years, knowledge of the situation, and some might argue, care for the missing girls, too faded. Sizable membership has had a direct relationship with the longevity of the Bring Back Our Girls movement here. There are still many people in Nigeria fighting for the return of the girls, but globally, that fight is no longer there, and, six years later, more than 100 girls are still missing.

The sizable membership is a significant factor in the sustainability of a movement, and unfortunately for BBOG, the large membership that developed internationally through digital means dissipated over time as other news stories took precedence and the missing Chibok girls received very little international attention, resulting in a decline of followers. In Nigeria, though, some followers are still showing up daily, weekly, and bi-weekly to protests and sit-outs to keep the Nigerian government's attention on the 100+ girls who are still missing some six years later.

From the ultimate shift from what is to what ought to be, to the communication between the movement and the Nigerian government, to the organization and use of social media platforms, and ultimately the fluctuating membership size, the Bring Back Our Girls movement is indeed a social movement, but it is clear to see that some aspects of this movement have impacted the longevity and potentially even the impact that the movement as a whole has had over the years. Next, I will look at the specific forms of activism Bring Back Our Girls has done over the years both traditionally and non-traditionally, as well as discussing the four styles of Internet engagement, and finally I discuss the connections among youth, digital, social movement, and activism.

Bring Back Our Girls Activism

The BBOG movement has utilized both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism. First, I look at where the movement started, beginning with a very traditional form of activism, a protest. Nigerians began marching immediately after the young girls were abducted from Chibok. The protest was originally meant to be a one-day event in Nigeria's capital, Abuja. However, a relative of an abducted girl begged for the small group of protestors not to leave, arguing that the government would forget about the people of Chibok and the abducted girls if the group disappeared. The protests did, in fact, continue with several hundred attendees marching in the rain toward the National Assembly, nearly all dressed in red and carrying signs to find and return the missing girls.

The purpose of these protests taking place in different parts of Nigeria was to bring together the people of Nigeria, rich and poor, "the high and the low," people with influence coming together with people from Chibok who felt they had no influence.³³⁰

All of these Nigerian people's voices came together with the hopes of getting national attention from the Nigerian government. With such great attention and voices expressing their concern over the issue, the government could not ignore the abduction and they would have to come together and "do the right thing" to rescue the abducted girls.³³¹

The Bring Back Our Girls marches continued, with a march on the Nigerian Defense Headquarters in Abuja on May 6, 2014. After the movement grew international attention via social media, people around the globe began joining in protests at the Nigerian embassies in London, Los Angeles, and New York. By June 2014, however, the Nigerian government had banned demonstrations about the abduction of the Chibok girls, citing a security threat to citizens in the capital.

This ban has not stopped the Bring Back Our Girls movement from continuing with their activism in both traditional and non-traditional settings. To date, there are daily gatherings in Abuja at the Unity Fountain from 5 p.m.–6 p.m., and in Lagos there are gatherings every Saturday at the Falomo Roundabout and every other Saturday at the International School from noon to 1 p.m.³³⁴ These gatherings may not be as massive as the original protests, but members of the movement continue to show up and fight for the still over 200 missing girls of Chibok.

The use of traditional forms of activism by the Bring Back our Girls movement is significant because it first relates to the grassroots nature of this movement. Bring Back Our Girls came about from a group of locals who were intimately connected to the girls who had been abducted and all came together to try and get the attention of their government. There was no "higher up" who attempted to control the movement or its

members, but rather a group of equals who all worked together toward a similar goal of bringing back the missing girls.

While the Bring Back Our Girls movement began with and continues to utilize traditional forms of activism like protests and sit-ins, they gained international attention through their use of non-traditional forms of activism. On April 23, 2014, the hashtag #BringBackOurGirls was first used after being chanted at the World Book Capital celebration in Port Harcourt. The phrase spread via Twitter across the globe and was used by celebrities and world leaders alike. Within a month, the hashtag was shared on Twitter alone more than four million times.³³⁵

This form of activism, while non-traditional, was an avenue in which the message about the abducted girls from Chibok, and the dangers of Boko Haram that the people of Nigeria have to face every day, was able to reach an audience that otherwise might not have heard or cared about. However, simply posting a photo holding a sign that says "Bring Back Our Girls" or sharing a tweet using the #BringBackOurGirls hashtag alone is not where the use of non-traditional activism stopped for the Bring Back Our Girls movement. This movement also worked to incorporate both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism together in order to not just make their cause known but to also ultimately make change and rescue the abducted Chibok girls.

Bring Back Our Girls has used social media to spread their message across the world. With their ultimate goal being to put pressure on the Nigerian government to pay attention to the people in this poorer part of Nigeria and to act on their behalf in the rescue of over 200 young girls, international viral attention was right on course with what the movement needed. This international attention was not exclusively through social

media, though. Florida Representative Frederica Wilson, for example, is a U.S. Congresswoman who continues to fight at the congressional level to rescue the abducted girls of Chibok. 336 California Representative Barbara Lee, a representative to the U.N. General Assembly, has also worked to bring bipartisan collaboration on the issue. 337 And Minority Leader Nancy Pelosi continues to wear red on Wednesdays to show solidarity with the Bring Back Our Girls cause, working to make sure the girls are not forgotten in the U.S. Congress as they continue to work toward their release. 338 Outside of the United States, the International Red Cross and Swiss government mediated the release of twenty-one Chibok girls following two months of negotiations in 2017, three years after they were abducted. 339 This international effort from everyday citizens to political leaders speaks to the impact of blending digital and traditional activism.

Lost in the Aftermath of a Flash Flood of Activism: Why Bring Back Our Girls Seemed to Disappear After their Massive Hashtag Campaign

From a global perspective, the Bring Back Our Girls movement used digital activism most notably to spread awareness. However, the use of digital activism was taken on more by followers of the movement than movement leaders themselves. The hashtag campaign blew up internationally, but the Bring Back Our Girls movement's digital footprint aside from that has been rather small. Below I explore implications of the movement relying so heavily on their digital activism and not planning for the future.

Much of the conversation surrounding the Bring Back Our Girls movement focuses on the digital activism that the movement became known for, their hashtag campaign. The #BringBackOurGirls campaign gained international attention with celebrities and politicians, along with average everyday people suddenly flooding Twitter

along with other social media platforms with a very clear call to action: returning the abducted Chibok girls. In a few short weeks, the #BringBackOurGirls hashtag had been used over a million times worldwide.³⁴¹ And while this is an impressive and viral aspect of the movement, it is virtually where the digital activism ends.

To date, the Bring Back Our Girls digital presence has remained limited aside from the hashtag campaign. The movement leaders continue to post on their social media accounts, but those posts are less forms of activism and more information sharing, reminding people how many girls are still missing and how long it has been since they were abducted. There are fewer instances of calls to action, fewer international and digital rallies being organized, and fewer ways for members to get or stay involved with the movement.

The movement has not had an official end, and there are still dozens of girls missing, of course. But based on the digital presence of the movement, both from leaders and followers alike, that is an easy conclusion to draw. The Bring Back Our Girls movement essentially got lost online without a follow-through of next steps of where to go or what to do after sharing their selfie along with the hashtag.

As communication scholars continue to study social movements, specifically digital social movements, this is an important lesson to take away from the Bring Back Our Girls movement. This movement has shown that massive amounts of people around the world can, and will, rally around an important cause. People are even willing to move further than simply sharing content about the cause and including their personal image attached to the cause as seen with the selfies as a part of the hashtag campaign. Bring Back Our Girls also shows the power of this kind of attention through large and

widespread gathering of not just everyday Internet users, but also political leaders with potential international pull and power. The Bring Back Our Girls movement seemingly had the perfect storm of digital activism in front of them. They brought together a large, captivated audience through anger at atrocious act and had powerful forces that seemed ready and willing to intervene however they could. Nevertheless, the movement still seemed to fizzle out without all of the girls being returned.

Activism, Slacktivism, Both, or Neither?

A common question surrounding the Bring Back Our Girls movement is whether the acts of the movement were activism or simply feel-good slacktivism from a group of young online people with no real vested interest in the movement or the end result, whenever it may come. Research has shown, though, that young people are, in fact, using social media as a way to connect with others and to produce and share information. These are steps to being a part of participatory culture, which is ultimately changing the way people operate and their expectations about how to approach various activities ranging from learning and creating to civic and community engagement. So, by this understanding, young people may not, from a traditional perspective, be seen as participating in activism, but to these people who engage in and embrace participatory culture, this is, in fact, seen as a productive kind of activism.

Below I explore additional ways in which the Bring Back Our Girls movement worked to overcome the issue of slacktivism using the Clark and Marchi's ladder of political engagement to highlight the importance of each step taken, and where in this climb the movement struggled.

Sharing: The First Step Up the Ladder

Sharing content is the first step of moving up the ladder of political engagement. This includes sharing content about the movement, retweeting or sharing a post from the movement, either from leaders or other members, and ultimately doing what one can to spread the movement's message far and wide. This is important for social movements because it is through this first step that individuals are really able to bypass gatekeepers of traditional media and to share and attempt to make known the issues that they are concerned with.

The Bring Back Our Girls movement did exactly this. They used social media to create their own news. They created a hashtag that spread across the world and gained attention to a cause that they deemed important. It was not just the leaders spreading and sharing their message anymore. Because of their use of digital technologies, outsiders were able to hear about this cause and they, too, were able to share the message. It was through this step that the BBOG movement was able to circumvent traditional media by going through nontraditional means in order to get the worldwide attention that they decided their movement needed. Their ultimate hope was to put pressure on their own government to act.

This first step is relatively low-stakes for those who participated in it, though.

That means that British people who shared tweets with the #BringBackOurGirls hashtag were not really risking much by doing so; they were not sticking their necks out for the cause through a share. The low cost of this step is not to be diminished, though, because it is the first step toward future engagement. If individuals are not sharing information

about the movement online, then they are not likely to continue to climb the ladder for that particular cause. This is the first step that shows true interest in a cause.

Inserting Oneself into the Story: A Second Step Up the Ladder

Next, the BBOG movement provided participants an opportunity to insert themselves into the story on social media through the use of the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag campaign. This campaign was two-fold in that there was the hashtag attached to tweets shared across social media, but the movement also encouraged participants to take pictures of themselves holding a sign that said #BringBackOurGirls. These were two ways where members can insert themselves into the Bring Back Our Girls story. Specifically, including a picture holding a sign that said #BringBackOurGirls, by including the hashtag in the post, individuals of no political or social significance got the sense of being included in making a change.

Posing in a picture along with the hashtag not only appealed to the youth, it potentially gave them a sense of empowerment and agency. Research on images of oneself that are shared online (selfies) highlights various reasons why people share these images online. For instance, Cruz and Thornham have found consistently that selfies have been a source of empowerment feelings for individuals who post them, and those selfies help individuals build identity performance in the social media era. As it relates to the Bring Back Our Girls movement, the posting of selfies with the Bring Back Our Girls hashtag was not only an easy way for individuals to participate in the movement., but also to build an identity of someone who cared, of someone who wanted to be a part of the change to rescue the abducted Chibok girls.

While this was a way for individuals across the globe to insert themselves into the story, the Bring Back Our Girls movement did not provide additional ways, resources, or steps for those who became interested in the movement to do much other than post their pictures or share the hashtag. The inserting oneself into the story ended digitally with the pictures and hashtags. Without a step forward, interested participants were not able to take the final step of making the story their own in order to fully transition from interest to participation.

Making the Story their Own: Where Bring Back Our Girls Fell Short

What this movement lacked, was the ability for users to make their own story as it related to the Bring Back Our Girls movement. Because of the distance those outside of Nigeria were to the cause, both physically, and perhaps even emotionally insofar as it came to being able to relate to the mass abduction as a whole, it was difficult for this movement to sustain its massive influx of attention. Those who had been involved in the movement thus far were not as easily able to connect emotionally with the cause enough to move into more tangible forms participation. There was also difficulty, especially without the explicit help from movement leaders, for followers of the movement to make the story their own to push them into the actual participation stage of activism.

The inability for users to make the story their own resulted in a disconnection from the movement at large. Without more direction, simply sharing a post or retweeting a tweet seemed sufficient enough because there was nothing more that other users outside of those immediately affected knew to do; they had no other connection to the cause other than sharing the tweet and/or photo using the hashtag.

This speaks to some of the difficulty of social movements reaching out internationally might face. A movement can create their own news and make their cause popular, and it can give people a way to participate through a hashtag campaign, but if others are not able to make the story their own and connect on a personal level and do something on the ground, those followers' engagement in the movement wanes. As a chart from Topsy shows, the hashtag hit its peak on April 10, 2014, and immediately began declining just one day later.³⁴⁴ For a social movement that is already physically distant from those being vocal on its behalf, not having a clearly established next step forward leaves too much ambiguity and difficulty for followers to make the movement their own, take it up, and become active participants outside of online engagement.

With no clear next steps and this lack of connection, the Bring Back Our Girls movement is often dismissed or labeled as a lesson in slacktivism of what *not* to do. But there is more to learn here than simply brushing this movement of as a failure because of lazy, young people only willing to click the 'Share' button. The takeaway from this movement as a whole is the importance of looking for and planning for the next step. After getting the rally cry to bring back the girls spread across the globe, then what? What was the movement's next step? What was the next step for the followers of the movement? Without that clearly denotated and shared as widely as the hashtag itself, participants, and specifically outsiders, will not know what else to do and how else to contribute. Taking a look at the ultimate end result and then working backward, step by step, as much as possible, lining the path from point A to point B is an important step to keep digital social movements from getting lost in the aftermath of their flash flood activism.

I do not, of course, argue that issues as complex as negotiating with terrorist groups like Boko Haram can be solved with a more detailed plan from movement leaders. I am arguing that for the movement to stay in the forefront of people's minds, to continue getting political and international attention, a movement cannot rest on one large swell, but rather continue to build from swell to swell.

Conclusion

This chapter has focused on the Bring Back Our Girls movement, starting with the unique connection BBOG has to youth, moving into the relationship the movement has with the digital realm, what makes Bring Back Our Girls an actual social movement, focusing on the specific activism that has been done over the years, and finally ending on a discussion of the efforts of the movement in relation to the argument of activism versus slacktivsm.

In the section focusing on youth, I highlight the connection the movement has had with being youth-affected, midly youth-led, and the involvement of youth as online activists. I concluded the youth section with an important discussion about the implications behind the rhetoric used throughout the movement, including the use of "girls" in the movement's name, and the idea of education as a rescue narrative. By bringing attention to the young age of the girls who were abducted, and drawing on the emotional appeal, especially of those in the West, of the importance of education, created an image of a vulnerable person that they should help. Drawing upon the need to help the vulnerable, and this idea that education is the answer to help "save" people is perhaps some of the strongest moves the Bring Back Our Girls movement made in their existence.

Where their connection and usage of the digital realm fell short or became disjointed, the emotional connection to the movement was what got so many people invested so quickly.

I ended with a discussion on where and how the Bring Back Our Girls movement stalled and fizzled out due to a lack of future direction and inability for members to connect deeply with the cause and make it their own. While the initial emotional connection to the movement drew in people, the distance between them and the movement made it difficult to have a deeper connection to the cause. The issue was far away, the problem seemed like something out of their immediate ability to change, and so, outside of sharing Tweets and posting pictures as forms of support, there were no real next steps for those online activists. I concluded with what I argue future digital social movements, and scholars in the area, can learn from this movement as opposed to brushing it off as a complete failure.

Chapter 4: Parkland: Contemporary Digital Era Youth Social Movement Activism

On February 14th, 2018, in Parkland Florida, the students of Marjory Stoneman Douglas (MSD) High School experienced six minutes that would change their lives forever as shots rang through the halls of their campus, resulting in seventeen lives lost. The shooting at MSD was the eighth school shooting of 2018,³⁴⁵ but the students of Marjory Stoneman Douglas refused to let their tragedy be reduced to nothing more than just a one-day headline where government officials offered "thoughts and prayers" and where the same type of tragedy could shake the lives of other young people while they did nothing more than attend school.

Over the next two years, student leaders from Marjory Stoneman Douglas have organized and promoted student walk-outs across the country, one of the largest youth protests that the United States has seen since the Vietnam era, 346 city hall meetings, and a national tour focusing on the youth vote in the 2018 midterm elections. The national tour included information sharing, voter registration, and information about voting, which ultimately culminated in what turned out to be the largest youth turn-out in a midterm election that the U.S. had seen in the last 40 years. 347

This chapter explores the Never Again movement from its inception through the following two years. First, I explore the impact of youth on the movement from various angles, including being youth affected, youth led, and youth involved. I then discuss the rhetoric surrounding youth and the movement as a whole. Next, I look at the relationship the Never Again movement has had with the digital realm, including the time in which the movement came about, and the location of the movement as it relates to its

connections and infrastructure, and then potential digital concerns that the movement has faced. Following the digital section, I discuss what it means to be a social movement and how the Never Again movement fits into the specifics designated in this dissertation. I then break down the traditional and non-traditional activism that the Never Again movement has done over the years and provide insight on the argument of activism or slacktivism. Finally, I end on key lessons we can take away from the Never Again movement as a whole for future youth digital social movements and research in the same area.

The Youth Say Never Again

The main areas of specific focus as it relates to youth are the movement being youth-affected, youth-led, and youth-involved. The Never Again movement was created explicitly and directly as a result of an act of violence targeted at youth. The shooting at Marjory Stoneman Douglas on February 14, 2018, took the lives of fourteen students along with three staff members. The attack on the school and the murder of more than a dozen young people is where this movement's relationship to youth begins.

Youth-affected

Mass shootings in the United States are not uncommon. A *Metro News* article reported on forty of the most highly publicized mass shootings in the United States (involving a lone active shooter or pair of active shooters) since 2000, highlighting that this list is merely a glimpse into the list of mass shootings that have happened across the country.³⁴⁸ Since the 1999 massacre at Columbine High School, the United States has

seen more than 230 school shootings, and over 228,000 children have seen a shooting happen at their school, not including those that have taken place at colleges or universities.³⁴⁹ The shooting at Marjory Stoneman Douglas was not, by any means, the first school shooting to take place in the United States, and it was not the last school shooting in the United States, with twenty-two school shootings happening in the first half of 2019 alone.³⁵⁰

Due to the frequency of mass shootings, or even more specifically, school shootings, the Marjory Stoneman Douglass shooting does not stand out because of the shooting itself, but rather because of what unfolded after the shooting. The students of MSD were determined to not let the tragedy that just unfolded before their eyes be just another name on the list of mass shootings in the United States, and, thus, immediately began to act. The following section explores the youth-led aspect of the Never Again movement.

Youth-led

One of the first Marjory Stoneman Douglas students to make headlines was seventeen-year-old David Hogg, who returned to the school the day after the shooting to speak to the press. Hogg spoke out for the youth, for students who have to live in a society where they practice active shooting drills in class, and for those who, like him and his schoolmates, have experienced these acts of violence in the place where they are supposed to be getting an education. Two days after the shooting, students gathered together alongside organizer Cameron Kasky with the intention of "rewrit[ing] the entire national dialogue about school shootings." The group established their main priorities,

along with a hashtag to rally behind. Shortly after the group formed, the Never Again leaders began organizing nationwide walkouts, large national and international demonstrations, and voter registration campaigns, ultimately culminating in a push for youth voters to show up at the polls. While the movement has been almost exclusively led by youth on a global level, youth play one final, and very important role in the Never Again movement.

Youth-involved

The Never Again movement's goal has been to change gun legislation, and while that large task may not seem, or be, in the hands of young people, the Never Again movement leaders set out to prove that idea wrong. Because the movement was created as a result of *another* youth-affected school shooting, the movement was seeking those youth voices as the powerhouse of the movement. Like with all the cases of this study, non-youth participants are, of course, a part of the movement, but the Never Again movement was hyper-focused on connecting with, motivating, and ultimately mobilizing youth voices.

The one-month anniversary walkout took place at schools across the United States with students of various ages participating, some even against the behest of their school's administrations, who threatened suspension for participating. The Never Again movement involved youth most notably by developing and organizing the March for Our Lives event. According to the *Associated Press*, March For Our Lives, which took place less than six weeks after the massacre at Marjory Stoneman Douglas, was one of the largest youth protests since the Vietnam War. ³⁵² The protest focused on bringing about

the gun reforms that students originally outlined just two short days after the school shooting. The Washington, D.C. protest brought over 800,000 attendees, including many students. Along with the massive protest happening in D.C., large protests were also taking place simultaneously in various cities across the United States, including Boston, Minneapolis, Houston, and the students' hometown of Parkland, Florida. These protests did not just take place in large cities in the United States, but also in over 800 other marches that happened in smaller U.S. cities. It even inspired sister marches across the globe in other countries, such as France, Germany, England, and Brazil. Speakers at these events were youth, attendees were also youth, and the signs and posters were made by the youth and spoke to this issue that has been impacting them directly.

Outside of the walkouts and protests, the Never Again movement focused on getting the youth registered to vote and then making sure that those young voters would turn out to vote in the 2018 midterm elections about six months later (along with the longer-term goal of a massive youth turnout for the 2020 Presidential election). Inspired by the Civil Rights Movement Freedom Riders of the 1960s, who traveled across Mississippi to register African American voters, the Never Again leaders toured the United States in the summer of 2018 in what they called the Road to Change. On this tour, they made stops across the United States getting youth educated, registered, and motivated to vote in the Fall.

Along with nationwide participation from the youth with the Never Again movement in the United States, youth from across the globe have participated in various Never Again movement events as well. Students in Israel, Tanzania, Iceland, and Great Britain participated in the March 14 school walkout from their respective countries,

showing their support for the movement and making their voices heard across the globe in protest of gun violence.³⁵⁸

While youth from other countries are not able to participate in U.S. elections and voter registration, and their countries do not seem to have the same gun crisis that the United States is witnessing, youth across the globe recognize this issue and the importance of their voice in the matter as well. An eighteen-year-old from Finland who protested in Denmark commented that he believed he had an impact on this cause, stating that we all live in a global world, and no issue is only a local issue anymore.³⁵⁹

The work of the Never Again movement has not stopped either. The movement continues to focus on gun reform at the state and federal level, they continue to encourage and help young people register to vote in the United States, and they provide helpful voting information, such as how to find polling locations, mail-in voting information, and voter rights. The leaders continue to connect with youth as youth themselves, many just voted in their first presidential election this Fall.

Throughout each of these steps, the youth leaders from Marjory Stoneman

Douglas High School took charge and pushed forward with their agenda for political and social change related to gun reform through their communication and various movement activities. The Never Again movement represents a youth social movement that was developed and led by youth as a result of those youth being directly affected by another school shooting. Throughout their work, the Never Again movement have had their eyes on big state and federal goals, but they have focused their attention to youth as those change agents. I next explore some of the affect rhetoric from the Never Again

movement and how the emotional responses elicited have contributed to the movement as a whole.

"We're Children": The Rhetorical Impact of Youth on the Never Again Movement

The students of Marjory Stoneman Douglas present an interesting dynamic as they relate to youth and the rhetoric surrounding them. Student David Hogg is popularly quoted as saying, "Please... we're children. You guys are the adults. You need to take some action, and play a role. Work together, come over your politics and get something done." Through statements like this one, Hogg and his classmates explicitly highlighted the youth aspect of this tragedy. While speaking eloquently and passionately, Hogg's words reminded his audience that he and his fellow schoolmates were, in fact, children who had been attacked in their school. And they were; all of the students at MSD were just high school students, most under eighteen years old, many of them even just fourteen, as the shooting took place in the Freshman Building. As mentioned throughout this dissertation, there is a sense of vulnerability, and an innate desire to protect children, but Hogg, in that moment, was pleading with the "adults" to do something, because, as children, they did not feel, and on that day were not being, protected.

With that in mind, though, the Never Again leaders knew simply being "children" was not enough. After all, no sweeping federal changes happened after the mass shooting took place at Sandy Hook Elementary School in 2012. MSD students felt like the country could "shrug off 20 dead first graders" and not make changes, so they and others asked what chances this group of teens might have.³⁶¹

With the MSD students caught in between the adults who are supposed to "do something" and the young children of Sandy Hook, the Never Again movement had to find a way to navigate somehow not quite belonging to one, and not quite belonging to the other. They are both, and neither, children or adults. The group is still somewhat vulnerable and in need of some protection, and yet they are old enough, perhaps wise enough, to know how to fight for that protection themselves. Bradley A. Serber argues that this is actually an advantage that these students have that victims of other shootings and those advocating on their behalf did not have. Focusing on their dual status as young adults, or soon-to-be adults, he argues that as *young* adults, they retain some of the vulnerability and hope of children, like those from Sandy Hook Elementary, but as young *adults*, they have the autonomy that those young students lacked in their ability to understand the situation and speak up for themselves.³⁶²

The Never Again leaders have worked through their activism to push the boundaries on both of those categories. They have focused on the fact that so many school shootings have happened, that kids are in school to learn (a place that, by law, children under a certain age are required to attend in some form), and that they are not doing anything to cause these shootings, but rather are simply just taking tests and editing videos and studying history like they are supposed to be doing. By all counts, students are doing all the right things, and are *still* being targeted and attacked in their schools. This is a resounding message from the Never Again movement, and this type of rhetoric is used as a means to garner some more of that sympathy from outsiders, from lawmakers, and from voters. Put simply, the message is, "students are fish in a barrel, *help*." They speak to other students about how this could happen anywhere. It happens at

normal schools across the country, and that instills this idea that any school could be next. While statistically speaking, the reality of a school shooting happening to many U.S. school students may not be a reality they actually face, the perception, and fear, of this threat seems very real for youth in schools across the country, and as a result, youth have joined the movement and become active participants.

But on the other side of their communication, the Never Again movement is using powerful rhetoric to motivate the youth to make the changes they wish to see themselves. They do not exclusively use fear as their only weapon, however. The Never Again movement makes it a point to each youth they are speaking so that they can make a difference, that they can make change. The Never Again movement does not just *talk* about changes youth can make. They show up. They traveled the country to get people registered to vote, they attended town hall meetings, and they voted. The youth turned out to vote in historic numbers for the U.S. midterm elections of 2018 with an estimated 31% of youth participation compared to just 21% only four years prior in the 2014 midterm elections. Of course you cannot link *all* of the increased youth voter turnout to the Never Again movement, but they definitely played a role in mobilizing other youth to vote.. Their words and actions sent a powerful message to other youth that this is an important cause, that this cause is worth fighting for, and that youth can affect change.

The Never Again movement has strong ties to youth in every aspect. The movement came about as a result of youth being directly affected by an act of violence, the movement has been, and continues to be, led by youth activists, and finally youth have been major players in the activism by the movement over the last two years. In addition to the role of youth throughout the movement, Never Again also uses rhetoric

around being able to get both the attention of, and hopefully help from, the "adults" by reminding them that they are just kids and they are being shot at, and in schools of all places. They highlight their vulnerability and plead for someone to help them. On the other hand, the Never Again movement does not let their being a group of youth activists stop them from enacting change themselves. In fact, the movement specifically uses rhetoric that empowers other youth and motivates them to become active in civic engagement and to show up and make their voices be heard. The Never Again movement has a distinctive advantage of balancing in this unique area between vulnerable youth and articulate activists because they fall into this "young adult" or "soon-to-be adult" category where they are not quite one or the other yet. This is not the only advantage the Never Again movement has as it relates to their age demographic, but it is an important one. Below I explore the movement's relationship to the digital realm.

#Digital: How the Never Again Movement Incorporated Digital Aspects

As it relates to the Never Again movement and the digital aspects of the movement as a whole, I explore three main areas, including the time in which the movement took place, the location of the movement and its followers, and the digital means that have been and continue to be used by the movement. I then discuss specific digital concerns that the movement faces as it relates to the areas mentioned above.

The Right People at the Right Time: How Age and Time Benefitted the Never Again Movement Leaders

As explored in the previous chapters, the relationship a movement has to digital technology is tied to both the time and place that the movement comes about. The Never

Again movement and its leaders have a strong relationship to digital technology. To begin, the Never Again movement started in 2018. At this time, globally, the number of internet users reached just over four billion, representing 53% of the world's population. At this time, Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram were the number one, number two, and number seven, respectively, most used social platforms on a global scale, with Twitter and Snapchat ranking at number eleven and number sixteen. Additionally, the annual growth of social media users worldwide in 2018 was 13%, with nearly one million new social media users every day over the previous year. These data represent the growth of not only internet use worldwide, but also the growth of social media across the globe. Much of the internet user growth that took place leading into 2018 was driven by affordable smartphones and data plans with over 200 million people getting their first mobile device. As of January 2018, there were over five billion unique mobile phone users, equating to nearly 70% of the population at that time.

While these numbers might seem high, at the beginning of 2018, more than four billion people were not connected to the internet.³⁶⁷ However, the timing of the Never Again movement as it relates to 3G or 4G network coverage worldwide obviously plays to their advantage. Comparing these numbers to those of 2014, the percentage of uncovered individuals has nearly halved by 2018, dropping from 25% to 13%.³⁶⁸

In addition to the large amount of internet and social media users across the globe, the founding members of the Never Again movement have intimate connections to the digital world, all being born within the turn of the century, many falling into what generational expert Meagan Johnson refers to as *Linksters*, as this group is the first to grow up being linked to technology from birth.³⁶⁹ Quite literally growing up with

"native speakers" of the digital language. This means that the leadership, and much of the following, of the Never Again movement have a native pulse on how to use digital technologies and social media that appeal to others in that same demographic; developing a hashtag is not a second thought, but a natural part of developing a social movement, sharing information via Twitter and Instagram is *the* way to connect with members, not *a* way to connect with members. This is not to say other generations cannot learn and adapt to these technologies and ways of communicating – some better than digital natives – but, those who are referred to as "digital immigrants" have to adapt, and often come along with an "accent" that shows that they are not quite as native in the digital realm. ³⁷¹

Benefits of Location: How Being U.S.- Based and U.S.-Focused Benefited the Never Again Movement

The time in which the Never Again movement came about and the fact that the leaders and many members are digital natives are not the only advantages that this movement has as it relates to digital technology. The Never Again movement also is centrally focused in the United States. The event that sparked this movement happened in the United States, and the movement is reaching out to members primarily in the United States, though the message and support has spread worldwide. The significance of the location of the movement is related to both to access to infrastructure as well as issues of censorship.

The Never Again movement is located in the, United States and that serves the movement a great advantage in terms of digital communication. According to the Digital in 2018 special report, North America has 88% internet penetration rate, compared to the

12-27% internet penetration rate in Central and Eastern Africa for the Invisible Children movement that is affecting Uganda, and the 39% internet penetration rate in Western Africa where the Bring Back Our Girls movement is located in Nigeria. With more of the population in North America having access to the internet, the Never Again movement has been able to reach a greater portion of individuals in the region where the catalyst that started the movement took place. This not only helps the leaders spread their message through digital means because of their access, but it also allows more individuals in North America to hear about the issue and the proposed solutions that the movement is promoting.

Over 80% of U.S. Americans own smartphones, and 96% of youth 18-29 years old own smartphones.³⁷³ Smartphones make documenting and sharing aspects of social movements easier than relying on desktops or laptops, and they also allow leaders and members of the movement to document and share their experiences in real-time across various media platforms. The ability of the Never Again movement to share their content to the majority of Americans is an advantage this movement has that other movements that arise in other places of the world with less internet and smartphone penetration do not have.

In addition to an 88% internet penetration of the North American population, 95% of the population has broadband mobile connectivity in this region.³⁷⁴ Having broadband connectivity is high-speed internet access that is faster than dial-up and always on, which is an important factor to consider when examining digital social movements.³⁷⁵ The ability to connect to the Internet seamlessly is important in times of tension, specifically in times of tension with one's own government or government officials.

The Never Again movement has been actively working to change aspects of the U.S. government and go against a powerful lobbyist group, the National Rifle Association (NRA). The Never Again movement's ability to reach out to its members continually to spread and share information, to contact members of U.S. Congress, and to reach out to leaders of the NRA are all significantly easier due to the ease of access to digital infrastructure and the ability to spread their information to large portions of the people directly impacted by the Never Again movement's cause.

Digital Activism: The Four Styles of Internet Engagement

To study Internet engagement, I continue again here, as I did in my previous chapters, with Earl et. al's work, which helps classify various types of work done on the Internet by movements to better understand the intricacies of what has been done online.

Internet Engagement: Brochureware

Brochureware is how movements spread their messages through the Internet. Essentially a digital brochure on the issue at large that does not require paper, printing, or traveling/mailing out physical documents to people. This is especially significant for the Never Again movement because of its low cost and wide reach. Because this movement was so exclusively run by youth, without huge financial backing, and because they were working so quickly, the use of brochureware to spread their message was especially important. In just over a month from when the shooting took place at their school, this movement was able to spread the word to over 800,000 individuals to join and/or start their own marches across not just the U.S., but also around the world, for the March for

Our Lives event. The movement continues to take advantage of digital technologies to share their message, be it on voting registration, early voting, or election day materials.

Because of the dynamics that make up this movement, brochureware is one of their most-used forms of Internet engagement.

Internet Engagement: E-mobilization

In tandem with brochureware, the Never Again movement engaged in e-mobilization. This is when a movement uses the various tools on the Internet to bring people together in-person. Of course, this has most prominently been seen with the Never Again movement in their work on the March for Our Lives event. This is very closely tied into their online organizing.

Internet Engagement: Online Organizing

Online organizing is when a movement organizes an entire campaign or event exclusively online and does not require a physical place to meet in order to plan. While the movement leaders did meet with each other in person to plan and execute the March for Our Lives, they did not have to physically meet with people around the world to organize and plan massive protests elsewhere. The movement has local chapters throughout various places in each state, and even within other countries, which all worked together through the use of digital technologies to plan and organize this march all without ever having to physically be together. This speaks to the ability of the movement to be so widespread as well. Because they did not need to meet face-to-face to organize, they could grow bigger than their physical reach.

Internet Engagement: Online Participation

Finally, online participation is when movements participate in activism that takes place exclusively online, such as signing petitions, coming together to attack a company or deny them service, virtual sit-ins, etc. The Never Again movement fostered online participation, in part, through their online work to put pressure on companies who either took money from or had special deals and privileges with the NRA. Members of the movement took to social media and questioned companies about their support for the NRA and threatened to pull their patronage if they did not distance themselves from the NRA. Companies such as Delta Airlines, MetLife, and Hertz all cut ties as a result of this pressure.³⁷⁶

This type of activism is incredibly important in today's digital age, not only because so many potential patrons are online, but because so many companies are also so predominantly on social media as well and are very easy to find and publicly contact. The Never Again organizers were able to flood a company's account right after a mass school shooting with questions about who they are aligned with, tagging the company in posts about how other companies have cut ties, and asking why this company had not done the same. This type of online participation acted as a type of social pressure cooker. With the spotlight on these companies to make a decision, and with all eyes on them, even a non-decision is a decision. This gives a lot of power to those online activists, and, as the Never Again movement has shown, this can result in actual changes, and thus should not be overlooked as a form of activism.

A Divisive Subject: Echo Chambers

The ability for a movement to spread its message through digital platforms, like social media, also comes with some potential setbacks. One of the biggest concerns when it comes to this type of communication through social media is the creation of echo chambers. As discussed, an echo chamber is a phenomenon when an individual online seeks out and is then surrounded by similar or reaffirming views that that person already has on an issue. Research on this topic has shown that people are more likely to search out similar opinions than to search for differing opinions. This practice reinforces divisive forms of information rather than content that challenges a person's ideas or beliefs.³⁷⁷

Because the Never Again movement came about and has worked heavily online, it is important to consider the potential impacts of echo chambers and issues of political engagement, even though the research on the topic is conflicting. As leaders and followers of a movement, being conscious of falling into these potential holes could ultimately halt a movement from growing. As I discuss in more detail in the activism section below, there is evidence that the Never Again movement is not just an echo chamber, but is reaching people in different regions and across party lines in the United States in order to create change.

Land of the Free, Home of the Shadowbanning: Issues of Censorship in the United States

In the United States, the government is not able or allowed to censor content that
is put out or spread, barring a few specific cases, such as instances of libel or slander.

This lack of government censorship has allowed the Never Again movement's message to be shared and spread to the masses across the country through digital means.

However, while the government cannot censor content, private companies do have the ability to censor content. This issue of private censorship does cause reason for concern. For instance, according to law professor Danielle Keats Citron, companies are using blunt algorithms to filter out hate speech with vague definitions, which could lead to more filtering and removal of content, which will "likely include critiques of hate speech and dissenting speech." This is a type of censorship is called algorithmic censorship, and it can be detrimental to a social movement. For example, with the Occupy Wall Street movement, when the movement was surging and gaining massive media attention, the hashtag #OccupyWallStreet was nowhere to be found in the trending topics. This was seen as censorship by Twitter, but was marked up as the result of a complex algorithm.³⁷⁹ Today, some argue that social media platforms, like Instagram and Twitter, participate in what is called *Shadowbanning*. Shadowbanning is the partial censorship of online accounts, pulling their content, shutting down pages, and/or making their hashtags not show up in searches, all the while not informing the owner of the page these changes have been made; instead, it happens in the shadows.³⁸⁰ With shadowbanning, the censorship is often not realized until the effects of that ban have happened.

So, while government censorship may not be of concern for the Never Again movement, potential censorship from private companies, such as Twitter, Facebook, and even Google, is important for the movement and its followers to consider. If content disappears or if a large event does not show up on the "Trending Topics" of Twitter, this

could impact the movement's reach and potential future activists for the movement.

Specifically for the Never Again movement, which relies heavily on the Internet and those complex algorithms to promote and keep their movement in the trending topics and on others' newsfeed to gain more attention and followers for their movement, this is a potential concern that they have to be aware of and address.

The Never Again movement has a unique relationship to the digital sphere that social movements of the past have not enjoyed, but a relationship movements of the future will move beyond. This movement came about during the height of social media and a time where the internet and internet access are growing at rapid rates. While there is still a digital divide, in 2018, more than half of the world's population had access to the internet in some capacity, and in the United States, that number was even higher. This period of time, coupled with the fact that the leaders, and many followers, of the Never Again movement are digital natives, creates a perfect storm for digital communications to take place and spread across the U.S. and other parts of the world.

The movement must, however, be aware of and attempt to work against the creation of echo chambers where their message is only being shared among those who already agree with their message and make sure they utilize digital technology to reach outside of that sphere. The Never Again movement taking place almost exclusively in the United States means that the movement does not have to worry about censorship at a governmental level, however, private censorship is something they need to be aware of when utilizing platforms provided by these companies.

Ultimately, due to the youth-led and youth-involved components of the Never

Again movement, along with the location in which the movement is taking place and the

lack of governmental censorship in the United States, the Never Again movement has a strong and natural connection to the digital realm. The ability of the young people involved with the movement to navigate multiple platforms, know how to reach out to other youths, and find ways to attempt to make change. The variables that contribute to the Never Again movement create a unique environment for this type of social movement to come about, gather followers, and work toward making change.

Never Again as a Social Movement

The definition of a social movement for this research highlights a few important areas: a change of an element of the current social structure, sustained interaction between those with authority and those who are challenging that authority, a shift from what is to what organizers think "ought" to be, at least minimal organization, and finally, sizable membership. The Never Again movement touches each of these requirements, making it a social movement, which I will explore below.

The first component of being a social movement is to discover if the movement is working to change an element of the current social structure. The Never Again movement's ultimate goal is to change legislation that is currently in place in the United States in relation to gun control. According to their website, this movement has a "peace plan for a safer America." In this plan, the Never Again movement details six steps to address their plan for a safer America ownership, using the acronym CHANGE. Their first step is to Change the standards of gun ownership. Second, they want to Halve the rate of gun deaths in 10 years. Third, they want accountability for the gun lobby and industry. Fourth, the movement wants to Name a director of gun violence prevention. Fifth, they

want to Generate community-based solutions. Finally, they want to Empower the next generation. Each step listed above is a movement toward changing elements of the current social structure, with the overall goal to change the current social structure of the ease of accessing a firearm in the United States with little federal involvement on the issue of mass shootings, and a gun lobby that has run Washington without any repercussions.³⁸² These are big goals for a movement, but goals that are indeed aimed at changing the current social structure as it relates to firearms in the United States.

One of the biggest messages of this movement is to work toward changing both legislation around gun control and the mass shooting society that U.S. Americans live in. The movement highlights the legislation that citizens currently abide by, which makes gun access too easy in many instances. Along with laws and policies, the movement draws attention to and hopes to change the U.S. culture that has become desensitized to mass shootings in schools and directed at children, to the point to where these events happen and "thoughts and prayers" are sent, and then society moves on, waiting for the next one to happen to send more "thoughts and prayers." Marjory Stoneman Douglas senior Delaney Tarr stated that "we've had enough of thoughts and prayers… we are coming after every single (elected official) and demanding that you take action, demanding that you make a change." Both of these issues seek to change what currently "is" in the United States to what they believe "ought to be."

The next aspect of a social movement looks at the sustained interaction between those in authority and those who are challenging said authority. The Never Again movement has reached out to authority figures, including members of congress, both nationally and locally.³⁸⁴ Members of the movement have been in contact with those in

authority in a variety of ways, including going to local legislation buildings, contacting members of Congress, directly interacting with political leaders in Town Hall events, and directly responding to government officials and NRA members via social media communication. The Never Again movement also uses social media, most specifically Twitter, to engage continually with those who are in authority.

The next aspect of this movement that makes it a movement is the organization this movement has. To be considered a social movement, the group must be at least minimally organized. The Never Again movement is organized on a nationwide level as well as at a local level. Their website promotes finding local chapters with a zip-code search to help individuals "organized with other high school and college students near you." The official website is also an indication of the organization of the movement, with forms to join the movement, 386 information on registering to vote, 387 and how to donate to the movement.

The movement has a few prominent leaders, including David Hogg, Emma González, Cameron Kasky, and Jaclyn Corin, all students at Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School at the time of the shooting. Each of these leaders are verified on Twitter, 389 along with the March For Our Lives Twitter account, which is used to continue tweet information for the Never Again movement. 390 On Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube, the March for Our Lives accounts are also verified. 391 Being verified on these platforms helps with the ease of accessing those heavily involved in the movement leadership. A verified Facebook page is one to follow for information that is guaranteed to be connected with the movement, comparted to a page that is not verified and could be run by any number of people who are not in direct connection to the movement.

In addition to verified accounts, membership size is important. Again, there is difficulty in figuring exact number of members of any given social movement with both an online and offline presence, but the March for Our Lives official website has information stating that their social media followers amount to over 1 million across the March for Our Lives verified accounts, leader Emma González has more than 1.6 million twitter followers, and the other three young leaders collectively have an additional 1.5 million twitter followers. Perhaps the biggest event that is a testament to the size of this movement is the amount of people who participated in the March for Our Lives on March 24, 2018. Various reports mark the attendance of the march in Washington, D.C., anywhere from $200,000^{392}$ to over $800,000^{393}$ attendees at the single location. According to The Washington Post, between 1.3 and 2.1 million protesters took part in the march across the United States.³⁹⁴ Marches were held across the United States in cities like Manhattan, Chicago, Los Angeles, Boston, Atlanta, Pittsburgh, Parkland, and more, including smaller cities across the country such as Wichita, Kansas and Corpus Christi, Texas.³⁹⁵ Outside of the U.S., several cities globally also participated in this March, with over 100 solidarity marches outside of the U.S. including marches in Geneva, Sydney, Tokyo, Edinburgh, and London.³⁹⁶ Outside of physically being a part of the March for Our Lives Marches, over 3.3 million tweets were sent with the hashtag #MarchForOurLives on the March 24.397

In their short existence, the Never Again movement has managed to create a strong and, thus far, sustainable movement through their strong organization. The strength of the Never Again movement begins with their approach and development as a movement. With local chapters throughout the country, the Never Again movement has

identified local issues and mobilized those local members, while ultimately working toward not just local and state changes, but changes at the federal level as well.

Not only has the Never Again movement developed as a movement in a grassroots style, but it has also adopted a grassroots mentality when it comes their activism as well. This relationship of starting from the ground-up when building a movement has translated to the way the Never Again movement has tackled their issues and overall cause. With the overall goal to create a nationwide adjustment of gun reform, the movement has worked from the ground-up to achieve their goal.

Never Again and Activism

In this section, I explore the activism that the Never Again movement has done over the past two years. First, I discuss traditional and non-traditional activism, as well as activism that blends the two types together and a discussion of Internet engagement. I then explore the relationship between youth and activism, followed by the connection between activism and the digital realm. Finally, I end with a discussion of the Never Again movement and activism or slacktivism and what we can learn and take away from this movement as a whole.

Traditional and Non-Traditional Activism: A Connected Approach

The Never Again movement has set their goals boldly to "end the gun violence epidemic in America," but it is the steps they have taken and continue to take to get there that mirror the grassroots development of the movement itself.³⁹⁸ Starting with the large goal to end gun violence in the United States, the movement has essentially worked

backwards to obtain that goal; starting from the bottom and working their way up to their goal through their activism.

The movement focused on bringing the youth voice to the forefront of political conversation. They went on tour to educate young people about their politicians, specifically to inform them of who takes money from the NRA and who has a voting history of supporting or not supporting gun reform, in order to help them better understand who and what they were voting for. Much of this information aspect of the movement has been done through non-traditional digital means. Through the use of social media, the Never Again movement shares information and resources to help those who are following the movement learn more about the cause from a holistic perspective; they are not just demanding that followers show up and do something, but they are also presenting information to support their reasons for their call to action through the use of digital technologies.

According to the March for Our Lives website, the first form of activism the Never Again movement took was organizing what turned out to be the "largest single day of protest against gun violence in history" with the March for Our Lives protests that took place across the globe. Planning for the March began just four days after the shooting took place at MSD, and the group of youth leaders encouraged young people across the country and beyond to join. The protest focused on bringing about gun reform and reportedly brought over 800,000 attendees to the Washington D.C. protest alone. ³⁹⁹ Along with the massive protest happening in D.C. large protests were also taking place simultaneously in various cities across the United States. ⁴⁰⁰ The March for Our Lives protests did not just take place in large cities in the United States, but protests also took

place in over 800 other smaller U.S. cities. 401 More than two million people participated in the March for Our Lives protests, 402 with demonstrations being held in 387 congressional districts, making up 90% of all U.S. voting districts and with the protests reaching across party lines. 403

The March for Our Lives protests took place in both red and blue districts, including 28 of the 33 "red to blue" districts identified by Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee. 404 This bipartisan participation across locations and districts in the United States shows how the Never Again movement, and the March for Our Lives event specifically, managed to avoid the digital pitfall of echo chambers by only reaching to a demographic who already agrees with them. This speaks to the ability of social movements today that do use, and even heavily use, social media to gain followers, to garner support. It shows that they can organize activism to reach outside of their own interest groups and spread their messages to a wide variety of potential future members of the movement, and to transition that online presence to large offline activism as well.

In addition to U. S. activism, March for Our Lives marches were happening across the globe in other countries, such as, France, Germany, England, and Brazil, with activists showing support from Australia, Costa Rica, Mexico, Azerbaijan, Nigeria, and Venezuela. This global support speaks to the spreadability of the Never Again movement, as the problem occurs most frequently in the United States, and the ultimate goal of the movement to change U.S. legislation, and yet, support from around the world still poured in for the cause. The Never Again movement had the advantage of having the digital infrastructure to spread their message worldwide, the leaders were all digital natives who knew how to use the digital realm to get their messages heard, and

ultimately, the movement as a whole had to worry very little about censorship of their message even as they argued against some of the oldest Untied States legislation in the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution.

As a way to reach their large goal of changing gun control laws in the U.S., the Never Again movement set their sights on the 2018 midterm election, the Never Again movement focused their attention on bringing continued awareness to the issue of gun reform, local leaders' stance on the matter, and registering new voters. The group visited schools, townhalls, and college campuses to share information about their cause and ultimately work to help youth register to vote. During this national tour, the Never Again movement continued to engage in both traditional forms of activism and digital forms of activism. The Road to Change was more of a traditional type of activism by the Never Again movement. This specific form of activism follows closely to what Leslie Crutchfield discusses in her book *How Change Happens* as the 10/10/10/20 = 50tactic. 406 This specific technique came about through the LGBTQ movement in an attempt to get same-sex marriage legalized in the United States. Instead of setting their goals as trying to get all fifty states to completely legalize same-sex marriage, they made the decision to get ten states with full marriage, ten with civil unions, ten with some form of relationship recognition, and the other twenty states with non-discrimination laws.⁴⁰⁷ This plan essentially focuses on making smaller, local changes rather than focusing on large federal reforms. This change happens through local advocacy, going town to town, state to state, and making small wins that build momentum. With this momentum and connection with people on a more individual level, the movement is then able to work together to make bigger changes down the line.

The Road to Change essentially took on aspects of this format through their visiting of towns across America, stopping at colleges, town halls, and other local venues to engage with individuals on a personal level about making changes in their local elections. With the ultimate goal of changing federal regulations as they pertain to guns in the United States, the youth leaders of the Never Again movement began tackling the issue on smaller, more localized levels in order to build momentum and support to lead to bigger statewide and ultimately federal reform. The Road to Change was not only about sharing information with young people, but the Never Again leaders also focused on getting youth to register to vote for the upcoming 2018 midterm elections. And while the number of reported new registered voters is impressive, their website citing more 50,000 new voter registrations throughout the national tours, 408 it is not only the number of new voters the movement registered that is important to look at, but also how the movement went about getting those voters registered.

While touring the nation was a display of more traditional activism, it was the registering of youth voters where the Never Again leaders begin engaging in more modern and non-traditional forms of activism. In forty-nine of the fifty U.S. states, excluding North Dakota, an individual must register to vote in order to cast a ballot. As of January 2020, thirty-nine states plus the District of Columbia allow online voter registration. This digital option to register to vote supplements the traditional paper-based process for individuals who have state-issued driver's licenses or identification cards.

Through both their website and a unique t-shirt design, the Never Again movement worked to make online voter registration even simpler for new youth voters.

On their website, the Never Again movement has a short form to fill out, including an

email address and zip code, which then takes the new voter to the more detailed form, which asks for all the personal information required to vote, including address and ID number. While the online form on the movement's website is a more non-traditional type of voter registration than the paper registration process, the movement went even further with their clothing.

Jammal Lemy, the creative director for March for Our Lives, set out to design clothing with the hopes of encouraging more youth voting. In an interview with *Dezeen*, Lemy expressed his desire to mobilize young people across the country and said that the group needed a shirt that would "help personify what (their) message was." Lemy designed both t-shirts and hoodies with the image of an American flag, with the top left corner being a blue QR code in the place of the stars, and the stripes giving the appearance of a barcode. The QR code in the top left of the image is scannable by digital scanners such as smartphones through their standard camera function. Scanning this code takes individuals straight to the movement's voter registration page.

Through his design, Lemy also used visual rhetoric with the flag symbolism. He notes that the design came about after looking at tactics the NRA use. The National Rifle Association often utilizes the image of the American flag in their campaigns and has garnered major support, in part, built off a feeling of patriotism. The use of this symbol in the Never Again scannable clothing was done with the intention of highlighting the vast differences between the NRA and the Never Again movement. Lemy contends that the Never Again movement is also patriotic, that the movement believes in the political system that exists in the United States, and this image represents both of those aspects in

one.⁴¹³ Through these shirts, the Never Again movement leaders say that around 10,000 people have registered to vote using the shirt alone, as of August, 2018.⁴¹⁴

The use of the QR codes on clothing that link right to voter registration forms through something as common in American youth as smartphones speaks to the ability of the Never Again movement to not only identify their target audience, but also unique ways to reach that audience. According to Pew research, 96% of U.S. youth from ages 18-29 have smartphones, meaning that most of today's youth have a smartphone with the ability to scan these QR codes. Additionally, while QR codes began with a bumpy start, the use of QR codes today has not only improved, but QR codes are also very popular in messenger apps with younger generations, such as Snapchat, Facebook, Twitter, WeChat, LinkedIn, and Instagram. The Never Again movement tapped into a technology (smartphones) that most youth in the U.S. have, and a technology feature (QR scanning) that young people are familiar with and utilizing regularly in their social media usage.

Following the Road to Change tour, the Never Again movement held events across the nation with over 200 mayors, called Mayors for Our Lives. In these events, the movement claims to have helped register over 800,000 people on National Voter Registration Day, setting an all-time record. According to the Miami Herald, Never Again leader David Hogg announced on MSNBC's show *Morning Joe* that the movement would be working mayors across the nation in a bipartisan campaign to register the newest generation of voters. The purpose of this kind of activism was to get mayors help make sure students in their cities were informed and able to easily register to vote. This type of activism resembles more traditional activism in that it

involved more of the person-to-person interaction. However, the Never Again movement did use both traditional and digital media to spread awareness of this event by speaking on television, posting on social media, and even providing a form on their website for individuals to email their mayors asking them to sign the pledge and join the movement to educate and get young people registered to vote. 419

After the National Voter Registration Day event and the end of the Road for Change tour, the social media for the Never Again movement (Amarch4OurLives on Twitter, marchforourlives on Instagram, and facebook.com/marchforourlives) began promoting their next step of activism, Vote for Our Lives. This form of activism was targeted at the 2018 U.S. midterm elections. Historically, national voter turnout for midterm elections is below 50%. The 2014 midterms had the lowest turnout nationally from 1978 until today, with only 41.9% of voting-aged citizens voting. ⁴²⁰ The Never Again movement focused their attention at making sure young voters were not just registering to vote, but now, taking the next step and actually getting out and voting, be it early voting, absentee ballots, or voting on November 6.

Kicking off their Vote for Our Lives tour at the University of Minnesota, the Never Again movement partnered with Giffords, a nonprofit organization led by former Congresswoman Gabrielle Giffords, which works to tackle the gun violence crisis in the Unite States. This event was scheduled for late October and was promoted as a "townhall and tailgate party" that included free food and giveaways. The following week, the tour visited Florida International University (FIU) where they bussed people to polls with refreshments, music, and raffles every twenty minutes for two hours, followed by two and a half hours of "dorm storming," where students were taken from their dorms

to the polls to vote via golf cart, and finally ending the evening with a campus cookout. 423 Events like this continued across college campuses over the next two weeks through the November 6 election. The movement was once again, reaching their demographic in ways that appealed to them: they came right to college students, and provided a fun, tailgate/party atmosphere, some events even encouraging Halloween costumes and promoting a "haunted ride to the polls" in order to get the youth voters in colleges involved and excited about being a part of the democratic process. 424 Some of the events that were held across the nation were attended by musicians such as DJ Roxci and DJ Khaled. 425

In addition to the Vote for Our Lives campaign, the Never Again movement joined forces with over twenty other youth-led organizations to participate in the national Walkout to Vote project on election day. This project encouraged students of every age, demographic, and geographical location to walkout of their schools on election day to go to the polls and vote on election day, or to encourage those who can vote if a student is not eligible to vote. Working with other movements in a coalition like this is one of the positive consequences that Earl discusses with online social movements. The argument here is the benefit of using the online realm to connect with other movements because, while each of the different movements or organizations may not have every issue in common, they are often able to connect with one another and find common themes within their movements to support one another on. 427

Even scholars who are skeptical of the impacts of online activism do note the importance of utilizing the internet to build these coalitions. ⁴²⁸ For example, with the Walkout and Vote project, the Never Again movement joined forces with Bridge the

Divide, an organization for youth to bridge the divide between Republicans and Democrats in order to participate in conversations that are collectively important for the future. These two groups have different overarching goals, but through the connections that are made possible through the internet, both the Never Again movement and Bridge the Divide are able to come together for a common cause. This connection ultimately brought followers of each group together which, added momentum and numbers to the individual movements as well as the collective effort they were working toward together, in this case, Walkout to Vote.

On November 6, the day of the 2018 midterm election, the Never Again movement's local chapters went to work canvassing their local communities, marching, bussing, and even parading to the polls. Even youth activists of the movement who were not old enough to vote yet spent the day phone-banking, calling people in their areas and encouraging them to go out and vote. The movement posted memes and videos, shared tweets and pictures on Instagram, included celebrities, and highlighted members of various local March for Our Lives chapters. Just as the youth of this movement used what Clark and Marchi term *collective journalism* to communicate with each other about what was going on in their schools and neighborhoods and to expose what they viewed as important and in need of an urgent response, the movement used this same type of model on election day to highlight what they found to be newsworthy: youth voting. 430 The movement leaders and participants went to social media, this time not to voice their concerns in order to mobilize their communities, but instead to highlight the impact the youth were having as a community and to encourage more and more people to join the movement.

While there is no way to make a direct connection between the work the Never Again movement did prior to the 2018 midterm elections and the results of those elections, voter turnout was the highest for a midterm election it had ever been in the last four decades. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, youth turnout for 18–29 year-olds went from 20% in the 2014 midterm elections to 36% in 2018, a 79% increase, the largest for any age group.⁴³¹

Throughout their larger acts of engagement, the Never Again leaders continually spoke to local and national media, met with Senators and Representatives, and proposed legislation. All proposed legislation. The group of youth leaders sat in town hall meetings, made phone calls, made their presence known, and, as Florida Governor Rick Scott stated, "turned tragedy to action. They coupled their face-to-face communication and more "traditional" forms of activism with unique types of digital activism as well. Their digital activism ranged from tweets to leaders to digital PSA videos to memes to QR codes on t-shirts. Through every step of activism that the Never Again movement did, they were able to engage their followers in a way that moved them from this idea of youth being disinterested in politics to driving interest in the issues and ultimately to youth participating in various forms of activism.

The Never Again movement created their own news. They took their concerns, which they felt were not being addressed or addressed well enough, and made them public concerns. These included issues that directly impacted the youth, that disproportionately impacted people of color, and issues that were not getting solved that were resulting in youth dying. The movement spread their messages like wildfire through social media, reaching young people and people of color, and shared their concerns and

plans for change. Their momentum eventually gained the attention of traditional media as well, garnering even more publicity, reaching more individuals who could relate to their cause. Leaders and members of the movement across the country found their place and inserted themselves into the story. Youth across the globe related to the movement's cause on different levels, for various reasons, but all finding something within the movement that spoke to them, something worth fighting for, and they began inserting themselves in those places, making room for all of the stories and all of the connections, all for one cause. The youth then began building the overarching story through the use of digital media. They used the hashtag and the filters and tagged the movement and movement leaders, each part of which contributed to creating story as a whole.

These three steps are all parts of the ladder of political engagement. ⁴³⁴ These steps are how youth move from simply being interested in politics to being participants in the political sphere in today's social media age. It is through this work, throughout the entirety of the Never Again movement, to date, that the youth leaders were able to engage their followers over social and digital media without weakening their movement to mere "clicktivism" or "slacktivism." The ability to create their own news, to allow followers to insert themselves into the story, and ultimately allow those followers to build their own stories. In these ways, the Never Again movement has done that has managed to keep the momentum around their cause going for over two years.

Activism or Slacktivism

Because the Never Again movement was so wrapped up in youth, from leadership to involvement, and because the movement implemented digital aspects so naturally

throughout every step of their activism, they often get criticized as being a movement of slacktivism, rather than recognized for the activism done throughout all of their work.

Below I explore the ladder of political engagement a final time as a conversation against the critique of slacktivism directed at this movement.

Throughout their activism, the Never Again movement used digital means to help move their followers from interest to participation, following Clark and Marchi's ladder of political engagement nearly perfectly. The first step of this movement involves sharing the story, the second step is inserting oneself into the story, and finally, the last step is when followers of the movement take the story and make it their own through personal connections to the content. Below I discuss how the Never Again movement made this possible and how their movement participants went from online to offline in their attempt to make change.

Sharing: Step One of the Ladder

The first aspect of digital activism that moves individuals from interest to participation is their ability to share content. Specifically, this comes from the ability for users to find, sort, and share content that they feel connected to, content that matters to them. This is different from simply getting content from mainstream media, these users are sharing information and content that they are explicitly connected to. For the Never Again movement, this was an important part of their strategy. Leaders of the movement knew that the traditional news media would disappear from their lawns and town shortly after the shooting and move on to the next big story. But the students of MSD did not

want their story to be forgotten that easily, so they took to social media to make sure it was not.

The Never Again movement has created and shared many hashtags depending on the specific event they were focusing on at that time, along with their movement's namesake hashtag, #NeverAgain. These hashtags provided a way to spread their message and help others share it as well. The most popular was the #MarchForOurLives hashtag. This specific hashtag was used in over 3.3 million tweets during the week of March 24, 2018. In a pull of 63,000 sample tweets that used both the hashtags #NeverAgain and #MarchFourOurLives between March 23 and March 25, multimedia artist Erin Gallagher made a graph that shows how many impressions these two hashtags alone made in the span of two days: nearly three million impressions, which means those 63,000 tweets were seen three million times. 436

In just this small example, it is clear that participants of the Never Again movement were able to make their voices heard and were actually sharing the story and cause to a large audience. This wide reach does not even include the days before the march and the conversations happening online during the planning and organizing stages of that movement, or the days after either as participants and followers continued to talk about this one event.

Inserting Oneself into the Story: Step Two

The second step of moving from interest to participation is the ability for followers of a movement to be able to insert themselves into the story. The Never Again movement followers were able to engage in this step relatively easily. One way in which

individuals could insert themselves into the story of the Never Again movement digitally was through Snapchat. On March 14, the day of the nation-wide school walk-outs, there was a Snapchat filter available that said "What _______'s schoolday looks like" with various city and school names filled in the blank based on their location. While this filter was not created by the Never Again movement, it was used by the Never Again movement participants and gave them a way to insert themselves into the story of that day. Whether the student was able to join the walkout, or their school was prohibiting walkouts, whether they were joined by huge crowds or if they were the lone walkout in their location, anyone with a Snapchat account could take a picture or a selfie and share it with others participating across the nation.

The walkout was not the only time Snapchat was used by members of the movement. During the March 24 March for Our Lives protests, Snapchats were being shared from all of the various locations where these events were taking place. On Snapchat, there is a feature called Snap Maps where anyone can view the world map and see hotspots where a lot of snaps are being posted at that time (e.g. Disney World is usually a hotspot because there are generally a lot of people posting from Disney World). During the March for Our Lives protests, Snap Maps was alight with hotspots worldwide during the March for Our Lives protests. ⁴³⁸ This highlights the mass influx of participants and the dominant social media presence the Never Again movement; participants were inserting themselves into the story, and they were doing so en masse.

Making the Story their Own: The Final Step

The final step that the Never Again movement was able to accomplish through their digital work, which helped push followers from interest to participation, was the ability for those people to make the story their own. It is in this step that young people bring in their feelings toward the issue, where they make connections to their lives and their feelings on the issue. 439 It is in these moments of involving one's own emotions that Zizi Papacharissi states that the affective public is formed. These are people who are bound together for a cause through their shared feelings and emotions on an issue. As discussed above, while statistically it may not be highly likely that most students in the United States will be in a school shooting, their perception, and their feeling like it is possible is a strong, and shared, emotion that brings this group together on this issue.

The fight for a safe place for kids to learn was the resounding chorus among those movement participants. They have come together over the feeling that "enough is enough" a chant heard throughout the protests and movement as a whole, that something has to change to protect kids. The group has come together with a feeling of being fed up with the NRA telling them that "nothing could have been done to prevent this" and that "good guys with guns stop bad guys with guns." They collectively said "we call BS," a quote from MSD student and Never Again leader Emma Gonzalez.⁴⁴⁰

Emotionally connecting over an issue that they shared feelings on was never an issue for the Never Again movement. From the rhetoric used by the leaders to help solidify that school shootings like theirs could happen anywhere, that there was nothing special about them or their school, to the frequent *enough* occurrence of mass and school shootings that take place in the United States, followers of the movement felt a deep and

personal connection to the cause. Additionally, the leaders instilling in these young people the feeling that they could make change, and that if they wanted change they had to be the ones to do something about it, also connected the members of the movement emotionally.

The Never Again movement did not have to go door-to-door or school-to-school to talk to students. They did not even need to rely on traditional forms of media to cover their movement, even though they still benefited from traditional media covering their work. The movement leaders and their followers took to social media and flooded the system where other students most likely already were and shared their message. They inserted themselves into the story, and they connected on an emotional level to the cause, and this is what has led the Never Again movement participants from interest in the movement to participation.

Conclusion

Ultimately, it is not the accomplishment of the biggest, flashiest goal of a movement that determines the impact of that movement. In the digital activism world, the ability to share, to allow others to relate and connect, is what leads to impact. The ability to build a base of followers who feel they have a stake in the cause will lead them to participation. As the Never Again movement has shown and done, participation at the lowest level, at the grassroots level, has the ability to lead to larger goals. Without this first and most important step of moving from interest to involvement, the biggest goals will never be achieved. For the Never Again movement, accomplishing the biggest goal of gun reform at the federal level cannot be done without first tackling the smaller ones,

informing youth voters, registering those voters, getting those voters to the polls over and over again. This movement highlights the importance of, and provides the steps to, achieving goals through a youth digital social movement.

As with all digital social movements today, the argument of whether the work being done is true activism, or just slacktivism without any impact comes up. The Never Again movement has integrated both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism throughout its entirety, from speaking directly to news reporters, to posting on social media, to organizing protests, to creating QR codes to put on t-shirts to register voters. The Never Again movement has had a very specific goal to change legislation on gun laws in the United States, and they have used, and continue to use, both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism to work toward achieving that goal. The combination of these two types of activism has helped the Never Again movement reach large audiences, make traditional news, and enact real change. The movement worked to move followers from interest to participation through their continual engagements online that encouraged offline actions, such as marching, registering to vote, and ultimately going out to vote. Through the use of both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism, the Never Again movement is able to avoid falling into the slacktivism criticism.

While the Never Again movement is not a perfect movement, if a perfect movement even exists, it does provide insight into how movements that come about and benefit from digital technologies when leaders and members alike who are familiar with and have access to said technology run the show. Additionally, an important aspect of this movement is the ability to, either through digital technology or face-to-face, connect on an emotional level with those whom the movement is trying to engage and motivate to

act. Future research can and should continue to study the Never Again movement as their leaders continue to age, learn, and fight for radical change in United States gun regulation.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this final chapter, I look across each of the cases for similarities and differences as they relate to the important aspects of this dissertation including the relationship between the movements and youth, digital, and social movement activism. I then move into addressing the specific research questions of this project, including my findings on how with youth in the forefront of these movements, they used affect rhetoric as a means to promote and gain support for their movement, and how youth digital social movements have evolved over the years. It is in these collective reflections that I discuss what scholars and activists alike can learn from these movements and as we move forward.

Cross-Case Analyses

Youth

When looking across each of these cases and their relationship to youth, the first striking note is that each of these movements all came about as a result of youth being the victims of an attack. The young boys of Uganda being taken by the Lord's Resistance Army in the night and forced to be child soldiers spurred the Invisible Children movement, the young girls of Nigeria being abducted from their school by Boko Haram became the cause of the Bring Back Our Girls movement, and finally, the school shooting and death of fourteen students at Marjory Stoneman Douglas in the United States became the catalyst for the Never Again movement.

Youth are viewed, almost universally, as a vulnerable population, susceptible to harm, not necessarily able to protect themselves from potentially harmful situations.

Consequently, adults often feel the need to help and/or protect them from those

situations.⁴⁴¹ This is seen through anti-smoking campaigns delivered at schools to help educate and protect children and young adults from the dangers of smoking, safe-sex education provided to teens and pre-teens to help give them the tools to be able to protect themselves from harmful situations such as sexually transmitted infections, and in higher education with the extra precautions one has to go through with the Institutional Review Board when studying children, who are listed as a vulnerable subject population.⁴⁴²

While experiences and opportunities vary across the globe for youth, organizations such as Save the Children argue that children in every country are at risk of violence and that every child deserves to grow up safe from this harm. 443 It is this overarching understanding of youth and that they deserve to be safe and protected that seems to elicit the implementation of these movements after youth have been attacked, where they are not safe or were not adequately protected. This common thread across each of these cases leads to the first research question of this dissertation: with youth in the forefront of these movements, how have they each utilized affect rhetoric as a means to promote and gain support for their cause?

Specifically, the implications of using terms related to youth within these movements is an important aspect to consider. The Invisible Children movement has the word "child" in their name, signaling to those who simply hear about the movement that youth, this vulnerable population, are the focus of the movement. Similarly, the Bring Back Our Girls movement refers to the kidnapped Chibok girls as "girls" though many of the girls are in their middle to late teens and could be seen as "young adults." However, the use of "girls" signals to those who are exposed to the movement that, again, these are young, vulnerable, females who are in need of outside help.

While a youth term is not in the Never Again movement's name, the Never Again movement does emphasize youth in all aspects of their movement; from being the ones who speak to the media, to having young people speaking at events, to creating public service announcement-type videos that emphasize the youth and their relationship to gun violence, they keep youth in the forefront and as the face of their movement. This continual reminder from the movement that youth are the ones being impacted by the current gun violence and laws, that the youth are the ones making political waves, highlights the vulnerability of this group, but also the power that they have, the 'no more' attitude they have toward the violence they are having to face at school, in a place that is supposed to be safe.

By keeping youth in the forefront of each of these movements through their rhetoric, each movement is tapping into the emotions people have in relation to youth and children to evoke a more urgent response. If children are being kidnapped in the middle of the night to be turned into child-soldiers, that elicits a more extreme response from people than saying adults are taken and turned into soldiers. The same can be said for the Chibok girls who were abducted, the emotional response to that is stronger than saying even teenagers or young adults were taken from their school.

The youth who were victims of the Marjory Stoneman Douglas school shooting were not the youngest school shooting victims, and they weren't the oldest victims of a school shooting in the United States either, with mass shootings happening at colleges and universities as well. The Marjory Stoneman Douglas students fell right in between these two groups; they were still young enough to be seen as youth, as a vulnerable group in need of protection, but they were old enough to be their own advocates, to be the voice

driving for change. Their voices and faces being the driving force behind the Never Again movement reminds people that *they* were the victims. This has a double-impact on those who hear their message. Their rhetoric along with their physical presence and appearance together are what make the connection between this movement and affect rhetoric significant.

The next similarity across the cases is the aspect of being youth-led. The two cases that have the most similarities in this way are the Invisible Children movement and the Never Again movement. They were both started and run by individuals who themselves are youths. The three recent college graduates who traveled to Uganda and created a movement around the humanitarian crisis they saw unfolding in front of them in route to a different humanitarian crisis in Darfur and the students who survived the school shooting in Parkland, Florida in the United States and within forty-eight hours of the event created what has become a worldwide movement for gun reform in the United States are the most similar in their youth-led aspect. The Bring Back Out Girls movement, while was not originally started or run by the youth, was supported, associated with, and partly led by youth activist Malala Yousafzai.

Cross comparison of these movements and their youth leadership shows that having young people who are more familiar with the current digital technologies helps movements use them in ways to connect with potential members and sustain a following for more than their first quick flash of attention. Future research in this area could focus on whether this adaptability from these digital natives continues on throughout their lives and later activism, or, if technology outpaces them and the older they get the more difficult it is to keep up with and continually adapt to.

All three cases emphasized the youth as part of, if not their main, target demographic for their movements. This is not to say that they expected the youth to solve the problems, make the policy changes, or physically go rescue other young people, but they did empower other youth to be a part of solving the problems, vote for leaders who would make the policy changes they were looking for, and use their own voices to bring enough attention to these issues that other youth would be saved and would be rescued. The Invisible Children and the Never Again movements had similar patterns in their traveling to places where young people were localized; both movements made stops at colleges, universities, and high schools. At these stops, the youth were encouraged to engage with each movement by contributing funds, by participating in events, and by registering to vote. While their goals of being at the colleges, universities, and high schools were not identical, both the Invisible Children and Never Again movements went directly to the youth and got them involved in their movements and did not just rely on their messages reaching them via technology.

The Bring Back Our Girls and Never Again movements were similar in their getting youth participation via technology concerning their movement and issues. The use of specific hashtags helped rally youth online to engage with the movement and message. The use of social media, as will be discussed in a future chapter, was a key way to engage the youth demographic in the movement, and it is a place where voices that are traditionally not as listened to or valued are able to be expressed and heard.

Finally, the last connection that all three movements have in relation to youth is how they used youth in their affective rhetoric. Specifically, all three movements drew attention to the vulnerability of the individuals they were attempting to help. The

Invisible Children movement and the Bring Back Our Girls movement explicitly highlighted the youth in need of help in their movement name, strategically using "children" and "girls." This rhetorical move, while not necessarily nefarious in nature, does have an affective impact on those who see and hear it, picturing young children who need their help. While the Never Again movement did not explicitly use a term for youth in their name, they did explicitly refer to themselves as kids and children throughout their activism. Again, directly drawing attention to the young age of those who were attacked worked as a plea to get listeners to forget everything else and remember their instinct to protect children—that that should come first before everything else.

While the three movements share similarities amongst them when it comes to their relationships with youth, they also differ in important ways as well. Specifically, the movements engaged youth differently, stemming, in part, from when the movement began, as well as differences due to those leading the movement. The Invisible Children movement began in the early 2000s, during a time when the social media platforms that are commonly used among youth today were either not around, such as YouTube (2005) Twitter (2006), Instagram (2010), and Snapchat (2011), or they were still in their early stages of implementation including Facebook (2004). This created a difference when it came to the ways in which the Invisible Children reached the youth at the time compared to the Bring Back Our Girls and Never Again movements. Both of these movements came about after these major platforms were not only developed, but also had been used for bringing social groups together prior to either movement's usage of them. This difference in *how* the youth were reached and engaged by the movements is significant.

Prior to the use of these digital media platforms, connecting with youth was done through more direct, interpersonal relationship-building connections between the movements and the individuals they were attempting to engage. Invisible Children went from school to school, university to university, talking with the youth there, screening their videos and engaging those young people in a direct one-on-one manner. One of the main points of emphasis for the Invisible Children movement is the interconnectedness of individuals around the world, that no person, community exists in isolation, and they place high value on the work they do on an interpersonal level. As technology developed alongside the movement, Invisible Children was able to use new technology to reach large masses of youth and share their videos without having to physically be in those places, even though their roots were started on a person-to-person, face-to-face level of communication.

The Bring Back Our Girls movement and the Never Again movement both came about in a more developed social media era and thus had a different experience and relationship with connecting to youth through digital means. Individuals who have grown up with today's technology view technology as a seamless method for interacting and communicating with each other, and social media is a major contributor in how younger generations manage their interpersonal relationship. 444 Because of this shift in how the youth interact and manage relationships, it is a logical move for both the Bring Back Our Girls movement and the Never Again movement to use digital means as their way of connecting with and getting the youth involved with their movement. The use of digital means to share their message with youth also helps the message extend outside of

physical boundaries and restrictions of where the leaders of those movements are able to travel.

The Invisible Children movement began their work by creating a movie in Uganda, they then had to travel to schools and universities (mostly across the United States) to share their movie and sell their merchandise to these young people in person. However, the Bring Back Our Girls and Never Again movements were able to reach well beyond places they could physically travel to and get youth across the globe seeing their videos, their messages, contributing to their causes in ways in which the Invisible Children movement was not able to do during the beginning stages of their movement.

The movements also differed in part with their engagement with youth because of the leadership of the movements themselves. The Bring Back Our Girls movement leaders were not themselves youth leaders, and while they did have youth activist Malala Yousafzai as a leading voice in the movement, she and other young people around her age were not the ones in charge of, or running the movement at its core. This impacted, in part, the movement's familiarity and ability to navigate the digital platforms in sustaining ways to help lead to more lasting change. The youth demographic makes up the majority of the users of major social media platforms worldwide, and with the leaders of the Bring Back Our Girls movement not being youths themselves, connecting to the largest audience on social media that is a different demographic than that of the leaders is different from communicating to people who belong in the same age demographic and are equally as savvy digitally such as what the Never Again movement was able to do.

Communicating across generations poses more potential interpersonal communication barriers to overcome than communicating to individuals within one's

own generation.⁴⁴⁵ The added difference of the Bring Back Our Girls movement having non-youth leaders communicating through platforms that are used in masses by the youth adds another level of difficulty to the Bring Back Our Girls' ability to relate and connect with youth about their movement.

Additionally, the location of the movement creates differences when examining the engagement that does, and that even *can* take place. In Central Africa, 12% of the population uses the Internet, in Western Africa, 41% of the total population are users of Internet, 50% of the total population in Northern Africa uses the Internet, and in North America, 95% of the population uses the Internet. 446 If a larger portion of the population has access to and uses the Internet, connecting to the youth of a particular region is impacted by overall Internet users in that region. The differences in Internet usage makes a difference in engagement with these social movements through the Internet and social media.

Digital

Each of the three cases of this dissertation have a unique relationship to the digital sphere, including the time in which they came about, the age of those involved in the movement, the location in which the movement took/is taking place, and ultimately the infrastructure and means available to those who created and engaged in the movement itself. Though unique, these cases all have similarities that are important in the discussion of youth digital social movement activism.

Across each case, there is a relationship between the time in which the movement came about and the digital era. The Invisible Children movement came about at the

beginning of the digital era, but they have continued to function as a movement throughout the last decade when both the Bring Back Our Girls and Never Again movement have also come about. The three cases have similarly navigated through the digital landscape by using social media to reach out to their followers, gain attention, and share ways to act.

Through the use of hashtags, videos, and social media exposure, all three social movements have made themselves known through their social media presence. The Kony 2012 media blitz from the Invisible Children movement that became the most viral video of the time, the #BringBackOurGirls hashtag campaign that gathered international attention from not only civilians, but also political leaders, and the March for Our Lives worldwide protest for gun reform from the Never Again movement that was organized and spread almost exclusively online. Despite the different times in which these movements came about, they each were able to take advantage of digital means to massively spread their specific message.

In addition to the time in which the movements came about, the age of the creators and followers of the movements in relation to the time the movements came about has impacted their relationship with the digital realm. Specifically, the Invisible Children leaders, while youth, were close to, but not exactly, digital natives. However, their youth was an advantage in their relationship to the digital realm. As the movement moved forward and the digital era progressed, the young age of the leaders enabled them to adapt to the changing landscape and produce content and relate to followers in the newest digital ways.

The leaders of the Bring Back Our Girls movement, however, were not youth or digital natives, and thus, were not as seamless in their digital connection with the movement and followers. BBOG did use the hashtag, a popular form of communicating on social media, but they did not create other content to continue their presence digitally and continue to engage followers on digital media. The age of the movement leaders will not always mean a lesser ability to adapt and implement digital technologies, but it is an interesting aspect that sets this movement apart from the other two in this study, and the digital presence of the Bring Back Our Girls movement was definitely lacking in comparison.

The Never Again movement stands out as a youth digital social movement because of their relationship to the digital realm based on the leaders and many of their followers being digital natives and their integrated use of various digital platforms. The Never Again movement spread across different social media sites, utilizing them in unique ways, all to reach and connect to as many people as possible and provide places for others who were or wanted to be involved in the movement to gather digitally. In addition, the Never Again movement did not remain exclusively online with their digital work, rather, this movement used their digital reach to motivate people to act together offline.

Evolution of Youth Digital Social Movement Activism

The activism done across the movements are strikingly similar, and yet importantly different at the same time. To begin, each movement has utilized both traditional and non-traditional forms of activism. They have had rallies and protests,

walk-outs and sit-its, letters and tweets sent to political figures. Important to note about each of these movements is the interplay between traditional and non-traditional activism. This is where I really explore the research question about how youth digital social movements have evolved over the twenty-first century. The relationship between the movements and activism leads to the findings of the research question: how have youth digital social movements evolved throughout the twenty-first century?

As discussed throughout, as the times change, so too will social movements change how they use digital means as a part of their movement. The Invisible Children movement used digital technologies as a secondary aspect of their movement. They used more traditional forms of connection and activism to move people online to watch their Kony 2012 video, talking about it at gatherings and events, sending emails, and even through the Kony 2012 kit filled with posters and stickers to post around town for those who purchased the kits that encouraged others to go online and watch their video. Moving forward in the timeline, the Bring Back Our Girls movement used digital technologies via their hashtag campaign to reach and share their cause with people across the globe, but there was no additional offline component for most users outside of Nigeria to participate in, and even the ones in Nigeria were somewhat limited. The most recent movement of this study, the Never Again movement, essentially flipped the order of using both digital and traditional activism from that of the Invisible Children movement. The Never Again movement used digital technologies to reach their audiences and share their message, much like the Bring Back Our Girls movement, but they then directed their followers offline to participate in various different forms of traditional activism, like marches, walk-outs, and voting.

This is an interesting insight into youth digital social movements that sometimes get a bad reputation for one or more of the aspects that make them the focus of this study. Young people and their use of digital technologies for activism is not minor or dismissible forms of slacktivism; they are not all simply slacktivists who only care about their image and appearing to support a movement. As discussed throughout this dissertation, young people do see the work they are doing online as engaging in civic and political activism, they do *want* to make change and they do *want* the world to be a better place, but they each uniquely define that. What these young activists need, though, is direction. Young people know how to use social media today, they know how to use it effectively in various ways, but it is true that tweets do not end wars and shares do not return missing children.

Young activists need direction, through the digital technologies that are available and familiar for them to use, of what the next step of their activism needs to be. Youth will share, they will post, they will tweet, they will live-stream, and, we have seen, that youth will also show up, at least sometimes; they will walk out, they will march, they will register, and they will vote. Having direct, explicit, communication through whatever medium reaches them, of what their next step is, is the key to keeping youth social movements moving and not getting stuck in the digital vortex of only liking and sharing content.

Overall, when communication scholars study youth social movements, and social movements as a whole, it is difficult to not look at their big, overarching, goals and say whether or not the movement was successful or whether or not the activists did anything,

but it is not always the big moves that contribute to social movements that are the most significant.

As I have stated, the purpose of this dissertation is not to place a value judgement of whether these social movements have been successful or not. I do, however, believe the way we study and talk about social movements, especially youth social movements, is important. I am arguing that we can be critical of social movements without deeming them a complete failure simply because goal number one was not "achieved." Did the Invisible Children movement bring an end to the stronghold the LRA has in Uganda? No, they did not. But did they accomplish other things throughout the movement, like the Crisis Tracker and helping with getting clean water and marketable skills for women there? Yes, and that is not something to shrug off and say "the movement was a failure." Similarly, did Bring Back Our Girls bring back all of the kidnapped Chibok girls? No, but it brought back some of them and hasn't given up the fight to find the rest. Did Parkland end mass shootings once and for all? No, but they also made a difference by registering young people to vote, encouraging companies to divest from the NRA, and fighting for gun reform.

When we broadly speak about these movements, we ignore the intricacies that have taken place that we can learn from, what has worked well for the movement, what obstacles they have faced and how future movements can work to overcome them, and what we can learn about potential pitfalls that come with digital movements and how future movements can try to avoid them. Not everything the Invisible Children movement, the Bring Back Our Girls movement, or the Never Again movement have

done are necessarily moves all future social movements should implement, but there are aspects from each that future social movements can learn from nonetheless.

back.html?src=pm&pagewanted=2&pagewanted=all&module=inline.

¹ We are the Fourth Estate | Invisible Children. Retrieved 16 December 2019, from https://invisiblechildren.com/blog/2013/03/05/we-are-the-fourth-estate-2/

² Erin Blakemore, "Youth In Revolt: Five Powerful Movements Fueled By Young Activists", News.Nationalgeographic.Com, 2018,

https://news.nationalgeographic.com/2018/03/youth-activism-young-protesters-historic-movements/.

³ Gavin Brown and Helen Yaffe, *Youth Activism And Solidarity: The Non-Stop Picket Against Apartheid* (repr., New York: Routledge, 2018).

⁴ Laura Phillips, "Add To E-Shelf Going To Jail: What Was It Like To Be 9 Years Old And In Jail?(Children's Crusade, Birmingham, Alabama, 1963)", *Appleseed* 16, no. 2 (2013): 22.

⁵ "Don't Laugh But the Next Step Could Be Pop as a Political Power," Melody Maker, 26 October 1968.

⁶ Nicholas Kristof, "CRACKDOWN IN BEIJING; TROOPS ATTACK AND CRUSH BEIJING PROTEST; THOUSANDS FIGHT BACK, SCORES ARE KILLED", *The New York Times*, 1989, https://www.nytimes.com/1989/06/04/world/crackdown-beijing-troops-attack-crush-beijing-protest-thousands-fight-

⁷ Hussain, Muzammil M., and Philip N. Howard. "Opening Closed Regimes." In *Digital Media and Political Engagement Worldwide*, edited by Eva Anduiza, Michael James Jensen, and Laia Jorba, 200–220. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139108881.011.

⁸ "About — IIYC", IIYC, 2016, https://indigenousyouth.org/about/.

⁹ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism*. Cambridge University Press, 2017.

¹⁰ Zachary Jason, "Student Activism 2.0: A Look Back At The History Of Student Activism And Whether Today'S Protesters Are Making A Difference.", *Harvard Ed.*, 2018, https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/18/08/student-activism-20.

¹¹ Manuel Castells, Networks Of Outrage And Hope: Social Movements In The Internet Age, 2nd ed. (Cambridge: Polity Press, 2015).

¹² https://invisiblechildren.com/

¹³ https://bringbackourgirls.ng/

¹⁴ https://marchforourlives.com/

¹⁵ Maggie Astor, "7 Times In History When Students Turned To Activism", Nytimes.Com, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/03/05/us/student-protest-movements.html.

¹⁶ Jason, Zachary "Student Activism 2.0: A Look Back At The History Of Student Activism And Whether Today'S Protesters Are Making A Difference.", Harvard Ed., 2018, https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/18/08/student-activism-20.

¹⁷ Lynn Schofield Clark and Regina M Marchi, *Young People And The Future Of News* (Cambridge: Cambridge University, 2017).

¹⁸ Russell J Dalton. *The good citizen: How a younger generation is reshaping American politics*. CQ press, 2015.

¹⁹ Maureen Johnson, *How I Resist: Activism And Hope For A New Generation* (repr., St. Martin's Press, 2018).

https://minors.uslegal.com/age-of-majority/.

http://english.ahram.org.eg/NewsContent/1/64/120441/Egypt/Politics-/Egyptian-cabinet-approves-amendment-to-lower-age-o.aspx.

http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/nigeria.pdf.

²⁵ "Federal Legislation", *Instituto De Investigaciones Juridicas*, 2016,

https://web.archive.org/web/20160304050734/http://info4.juridicas.unam.mx/ijure/fed/1/659.htm?s=.

²⁶ "Juvenile Justice Information Portfolio - Committee On The Rights Of The Child - 3. State Party Reports: Uganda", Unicef-Irc.Org, accessed 5 January 2019,

https://www.unicef-irc.org/portfolios/documents/450_uganda.htm.

http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/iran.pdf.

²⁸ Adults Before Their Time: Children in Saudi Arabia's Criminal Justice

System" (PDF). Human Rights Watch. March 2008. p. 14.

http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/indonesia.pdf.

³⁰ "Factsheet: Yemen", Youthpolicy.Org, 2014,

 $\underline{http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/yemen.pdf}.$

 $\underline{http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/cuba.pdf}.$

32 "Factsheet: Cambodia", *Youthpolicy.Org*, 2014, http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/cambodia.pdf.

³³ "Vietnamese Lawmakers Vote To Keep Age Of Majority At 16", *Thanh Nien Daily*, 2016, http://www.thanhniennews.com/education-youth/vietnamese-lawmakers-vote-to-keep-age-of-majority-at-16-60924.html.

³⁴ "Factsheet: North Korea", Youthpolicy.Org, 2014,

http://www.youthpolicy.org/pdfs/factsheets/north-korea.pdf.

³⁵ "Children's Rights: Canada | Law Library Of Congress", Loc.Gov, 2017, https://www.loc.gov/law/help/child-rights/canada.php#_ftn1.

³⁶ Alison D Howard and Donna R. Hoffman. "Policy-Making Rhetoric and Youth Issues in the 2004 Presidential Campaign." *American Behavioral Scientist* 50, no. 9 (May 2007): 1264–72. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764207299365.

³⁷ "Young People And Political Engagement", Pew Research Center, 2012, http://www.pewresearch.org/2012/07/16/ask-the-expert-young-people-and-political-engagement/.

³⁸ Page, Kelly, and Mark Mapstone. "How Does the Web Make Youth Feel? Exploring the Positive Digital Native Rhetoric." *Journal of Marketing Management* 26, no. 13–14 (December 2010): 1345–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2010.523709.

³⁹ "Terms Of Service". Facebook. Accessed 3 May 2019. https://www.facebook.com/terms.php.

²⁰ Zachary Jason, "Student Activism 2.0" 2018

²¹ "Age Of Majority – Minors", Minors. Uslegal. Com, 2016,

²² "Age of Majority" 2016

²³ "Egyptian Cabinet Approves Amendment To Lower Age Of Legal Adulthood To 18 - Politics - Egypt - Ahram Online", English.Ahram.Org.Eg, 2015,

²⁴ "Factsheet: Nigeria", Youthpolicy.Org, 2014,

²⁷ "Factsheet: Iran", Youthpolicy.Org, 2014,

²⁹ "Factsheet: Indonesia", Youthpolicy.Org, 2014,

³¹ "Factsheet: Cuba", Youthpolicy.Org, 2014,

⁴⁰ "Twitter Terms Of Service". Twitter.Com. Accessed 3 May 2019. https://twitter.com/en/tos.

⁴¹ "Terms Of Use | Instagram Help Centre". Help.Instagram.Com, 2018. https://help.instagram.com/478745558852511.

- ⁴² "Snapchat Terms Of Service Explained In Plain English Tldrlegal". Tldrlegal.Com, 2017. https://tldrlegal.com/license/snapchat-terms-of-service.
- ⁴³ "Terms Of Service". Pinterest Policy. Accessed 3 May 2019.

https://policy.pinterest.com/en/terms-of-service.

- ⁴⁴ "How Old Does My Teen Need To Be To Use Kik?". Kik Help Center. Accessed 3 May 2019. https://help.kik.com/hc/en-us/articles/217681788-How-old-does-my-teen-need-to-be-to-use-Kik-.
- ⁴⁵ "Tencent 腾讯 Terms Of Service". Tencent.Com, 2014. https://www.tencent.com/en-us/zc/termsofservice.shtml.
- ⁴⁶ "Terms Of Service Youtube". Youtube.Com, 2018.

https://www.youtube.com/static?template=terms.

⁴⁷ "Wechat - Terms Of Service". Wechat.Com, 2018.

https://www.wechat.com/en/service_terms.html.

⁴⁸ "Whatsapp: A Guide For Parents And Carers". Parentinfo, 2018.

https://parentinfo.org/article/whatsapp-a-guide-for-parents-and-carers.

- ⁴⁹ "Tumblr". Tumblr.Com, 2018. https://www.tumblr.com/policy/en/terms-of-service.
- ⁵⁰ "Twitter Terms Of Service"
- ⁵¹ Bruce Mutsvairo. Digital Activism in the Social Media Era. Switzerland: Springer Nature, 2016.
- ⁵² Ralph Schroeder, *Social Theory After The Internet* (London: UCL Press, 2018). http://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt20krxdr?refreqid=search-gateway:5e2a36f57a0553b6410dec25a71c04fb
- ⁵³ Manuel Castells. Networks of outrage and hope: Social movements in the Internet age. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- ⁵⁴ Shelley Goldman, Angela Booker, and Meghan McDermott. "Mixing the Digital, Social, and Cultural: Learning, Identity, and Agency in Youth Participation," n.d., 22.
- ⁵⁵ Schroeder, Ralph. *Social theory after the Internet: Media, technology and globalization*. UCL Press, 2018.
- ⁵⁶ Matthew J. Kushin, and Kelin Kitchener. "Getting political on social network sites: Exploring online political discourse on Facebook." First Monday 14, no. 11 (2009). doi: https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v14i11.2645; Diana C. Mutz. "Facilitating communication across lines of political difference: The role of mass media." American Political Science Review 95, no. 1 (2001): 97-114. Retrieved from http://people.virginia.edu/~psm4d/mutz_martin2001.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ Pablo Barberá, John T. Jost, Jonathan Nagler, Joshua A. Tucker, and Richard Bonneau. "Tweeting from left to right: Is online political communication more than an echo chamber?." Psychological science 26, no. 10 (2015): 1531-1542.
- ⁵⁸ Walter Quattrociocchi, Antonio Scala, and Cass R. Sunstein. "Echo Chambers on Facebook." *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 2016. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2795110.
- ⁵⁹ Patricia Wallace, *The Psychology Of The Internet* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999).

https://www.unwantedwitness.org/download/Analysed-cyber-laws-of-Uganda.pdf

- ⁶² Manuel Castells. Networks of outrage and hope: Social movements in the Internet age. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- ⁶³ "Freedom On The Net 2018: Uganda", *Freedomhouse.Org*, 2018, https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2018/uganda.
- ⁶⁴ UCC, Registration of Online Data Communication and Broadcast Service Providers, Public Notice, https://bit.ly/2HXYUz4;
- ⁶⁵ John D. McCarthy and Mayer N. Zald, "Resource Mobilization And Social Movements: A Partial Theory", *American Journal Of Sociology* 82, no. 6 (1977): 1212-1241, doi:10.1086/226464.
- ⁶⁶ William A. Gamson "Stable unrepresentation in American society." *American Behavioral Scientist* 12, no. 2 (1968): 15-21; Zald, Mayer N., and Roberta Ash. "Social movement organizations: Growth, decay and change." Social forces 44, no. 3 (1966): 327-341.
- ⁶⁷ John McCarthy and Mayer Zald. (1977). Resource Mobilization and Social Movements: A Partial Theory. *American Journal of Sociology*, 82(6), pp.1212-1241. P.1217
- ⁶⁸ Charles Tilly (1979). "Social movements and national politics." P. 12
- ⁶⁹ Social movements and national politics 1979
- ⁷⁰ Charles J Stewart, Craig Allen Smith and Robert E Denton, *Persuasion And Social Movements* (repr., Long Grove, Ill.: Waveland Press, 2012).
- ⁷¹ Persuasion And Social Movements 2012
- ⁷² Persuasion And Social Movements 2012
- ⁷³ Persuasion And Social Movements 2012
- ⁷⁴ Pamela E. Oliver and Gerald Marwell, "Mobilizing Technologies for Collective Action," Frontiers in Social Movement Theory, ed. Aldon D. Morris and Carol McClurg Mueller (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1992), 258. Stewart, Charles J.; Smith, Craig Allen; Denton Jr., Robert E.. Persuasion and Social Movements (Page 25). Waveland Pr Inc. Kindle Edition.
- ⁷⁵ Marcelo Svirsky. "Defining activism." *Deleuze Studies* 4, no. supplement (2010): 163-182.
- ⁷⁶ Lee, Yu-Hao, and Gary Hsieh. "Does Slacktivism Hurt Activism?: The Effects of Moral Balancing and Consistency in Online Activism," n.d., 10.
- ⁷⁷ Stephanie Madden, Melissa Janoske, and Rowena L. Briones. "The Double-Edged Crisis: Invisible Children's Social Media Response to the Kony 2012 Campaign." *Public Relations Review* 42, no. 1 (March 2016): 38–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2015.10.002.
- ⁷⁸ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism*. Cambridge University Press, 2017 ⁷⁹ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism*. Cambridge University Press, 2017

⁶⁰ Hanibal Goitom. 2015. "Tanzania: Cybercrimes Bill Enacted | Global Legal Monitor". *Loc.Gov.* https://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/tanzania-cybercrimes-bill-enacted/.

⁶¹ Analyzed cyber laws of Uganda, 2016.

⁸¹ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism.* Cambridge University Press, 2017

- ⁸² Christensen, Henrik Serup. "Political activities on the Internet: Slacktivism or political participation by other means?." *First Monday* (2011).
- ⁸³ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism*. Cambridge University Press, 2017
 ⁸⁴ Christensen, Henrik Serup. "Political activities on the Internet: Slacktivism or political

84 Christensen, Henrik Serup. "Political activities on the Internet: Slacktivism or political participation by other means?." *First Monday* (2011).

- ⁸⁵ Elizabeth A. Brunner, and Kevin Michael DeLuca. "The argumentative force of image networks: Greenpeace's panmediated global detox campaign." *Argumentation and Advocacy* 52, no. 4 (2016): 281-299.
- ⁸⁶ Gilles Deleuze, and Félix Guattari. *A thousand plateaus: Capitalism and schizophrenia*. Bloomsbury Publishing, 1988.
- ⁸⁷ Cory Holding. "Affecting Rhetoric." *College Composition and Communication* 59, no. 2 (2007): 317-29. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20457003.
- ⁸⁸ Christine Harold. "On Target: Aura, Affect, and the Rhetoric of "Design Democracy"." *Public Culture* 21, no. 3 (2009): 599-618.
- ⁸⁹ "The argumentative force of image networks" (2016).
- ⁹⁰ Stevenson, J. L., Harp, B., & Gernsbacher, M. A. (2011). Infantilizing Autism. *Disability studies quarterly*, *31*(3), dsq-sds.org/article/view/1675/1596. https://doi.org/10.18061/dsq.v31i3.1675
- ⁹¹ "Invisible Children", Oprah.Com, 2009, http://www.oprah.com/oprahshow/invisible-children.
- ⁹² "UN Relief Official Spotlights World'S Largest Neglected Crisis In Northern Uganda", UN News, 2004, https://news.un.org/en/story/2004/10/118692-un-relief-official-spotlights-worlds-largest-neglected-crisis-northern-uganda.
- ⁹³ International Criminal Court, "Statement By The Chief Prosecutor On The Uganda Arrest Warrants", 2005, https://www.icc-cpi.int/nr/rdonlyres/3255817D-fd00-4072-9F58-fdb869F9B7cf/143834/lmo_20051014_English1.pdf.
- ⁹⁴ ICC "Statement By The Chief Prosecutor", 2005.
- ⁹⁵ International Criminal Court, "Kony et al. Case: The Prosecutor v. Joseph Kony and Vincent Otti", 2005, https://www.icc-cpi.int/uganda/kony
- ⁹⁶ "Our Story | Invisible Children". 2019. *Invisible Children*.

https://invisiblechildren.com/our-story/.

- ⁹⁷ "Our Story | Invisible Children". 2019
- ⁹⁸ *Invisible Children: The Rough Cut.* 2005. Video. Invisible Children. https://youtu.be/RUKsyA z7n8
- 99 "Film | Invisible Children". 2019. *Invisible Children*.

https://invisiblechildren.com/program/film/.

- ¹⁰⁰ Internal Revenue Service. 2006. "501 (C) (3) Application". Cincinatti: Department of the Treasury. https://invisiblechildren.com/wp-
- $\underline{content/themes/invisible children 2.0/images/financials/forms/other/501c3-ruling.pdf}$
- ¹⁰¹ "Kony 2012: Invisible Children'S Viral Video Sparks Criticism That Others Say Is Unfounded", 2012

⁸⁰ Papacharissi, Zizi. *Affective publics: Sentiment, technology, and politics*. Oxford University Press, 2015.

¹⁰² "Quality Education - The ONE Campaign". 2019. *ONE*. Accessed July 23. https://www.one.org/us/issues/quality-education/.

¹⁰³ Daniel A. Tonwe and Surulola J. Eke, "State Fragility And Violent Uprisings In Nigeria", *African Security Review* 22, no. 4 (2013): 232-243, doi:10.1080/10246029.2013.838794.

- ¹⁰⁴ Zenn, Jacob, and Elizabeth Pearson. "Women, Gender and the evolving tactics of Boko Haram." *Journal of terrorism research* (2014) p. 46.
- ¹⁰⁵ Peters, M. A. (2014). 'Western education is sinful': Boko Haram and the abduction of Chibok schoolgirls.
- ¹⁰⁶ "Boko Haram: Behind The Rise Of Nigeria's Armed Group". 2016. *Aljazeera.Com*. https://www.aljazeera.com/programmes/specialseries/2016/11/boko-haram-rise-nigeria-armed-group-161101145500150.html.
- ¹⁰⁷ Abimbola Adesoji. "The Boko Haram Uprising and Islamic Revivalism in Nigeria." *Africa Spectrum* 45, no. 2 (August 2010): 95–108. doi:10.1177/000203971004500205.
- ¹⁰⁸ "Nigeria President Declares Emergency", BBC News, 2013, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-22533974.
- ¹⁰⁹ Oke, R. O., & Labeodan, H. A. (2015). Boko Haram Insurgence, the Chibok Girls' Abduction and the Implication for the Girl Child in Nigeria. *Unraveling and Reweaving the Sacred Canon in Africana Womanhood*, 93-106.
- Annual Report of the Secretary General: Children and Armed Conflict A/69/926-S/2015/409 (2015)
- ¹¹¹ Abubakar, Aminu. 2014. "As Many As 200 Girls Abducted By Boko Haram, Nigerian Officials Say CNN". *CNN*. https://www.cnn.com/2014/04/15/world/africa/nigeria-girls-abducted/index.html?no-st=99999999999; "Nigeria School Kidnap '230 Seized'".
- 2014. *BBC News*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-27101714. ¹¹² "Nigeria's Chibok Falls To Boko Haram". 2014. *Aljazeera.Com*.

https://www.aljazeera.com/news/africa/2014/11/reports-nigeria-chibok-falls-boko-haram-20141114161534122730.html

- ¹¹³ Media Insight, Goodluck Jonathan's Presidential Media Chat, May, 4, 2014, video, 2014, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m7Te60RB_Qw
- 114 "Boko Haram 'To Sell' Abducted Girls". 2014. BBC News.

https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-27283383.

- ¹¹⁵ Laura Heaton. 2014. "Nigeria: Kidnapped Schoolgirls 'Sold As Wives To Islamist Fighters". *Telegraph.Co.Uk*.
- https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/africaandindianocean/nigeria/10797454/Nigeria-kidnapped-schoolgirls-sold-as-wives-to-Islamist-fighters.html.
- ¹¹⁶ Greg Wiser, "The Tweet That Launched #Bringbackourgirls", DW.COM, 2014, https://p.dw.com/p/1ByW0.
- ¹¹⁷ Sam Olukoya, "#Bringbackourgirls Activist Runs For Nigeria's Presidency", AP NEWS, 2018, https://apnews.com/9ce6a56753db4309b9a5d52384f74e2a.
- ¹¹⁸ Innocent Chiluwa, and Presley Ifukor. "'War against our Children': Stance and evaluation in# BringBackOurGirls campaign discourse on Twitter and Facebook." *Discourse & Society* 26, no. 3 (2015): 267-296. DOI:

10.1177/0957926514564735

- ¹²² Nicole Chavez, "What Happened, Moment By Moment, In The Florida School Massacre", Www-M.Cnn.Com, 2018, https://www-m.cnn.com/2018/02/15/us/florida-school-shooting-timeline/index.html?r=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F.
- ¹²³ Gregg Toppo. 2018. "'Generation Columbine' Has Never Known A World Without School Shootings". *Usatoday.Com*.

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/2018/02/22/generation-columbine-has-never-known-world-without-school-shootings/361656002/.

- ¹²⁴ Christine Hauser, and Anahad O'Connor. 2007. "Virginia Tech Shooting Leaves 33 Dead". *Nytimes.Com.* https://www.nytimes.com/2007/04/16/us/16cnd-shooting.html.
- ¹²⁵ Steve Vogel, Sari Horwitz, and David A. Fahrenthold. 2012. "Sandy Hook Elementary shooting leaves 28 dead, law enforcement sources say". *The Washington*

Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/sandy-hook-elementary-school-shooting-leaves-students-staff-dead/2012/12/14/24334570-461e-11e2-8e70-

<u>e1993528222d_story.html?utm_term=.989b14b86dc0</u>

¹²⁶ Ian Lovett, and Adam Nagourney. (2014). *Video Rant, Then Deadly Rampage in California Town*. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at:

https://www.nytimes.com/2014/05/25/us/california-drive-by-shooting.html [Accessed 25 Jul. 2019].

- ¹²⁷ Charlotte Alter, "The School Shooting Generation Has Had Enough", Time, 2018, http://time.com/longform/never-again-movement/.
- ¹²⁸ Sean Rossman. 2018. "'We're Children. You Guys Are The Adults': Shooting Survivor, 17, Calls Out Lawmakers". *Usatoday.Com*.

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation-now/2018/02/15/were-children-you-guys-adults-shooting-survivor-17-calls-out-lawmakers/341002002/.

- ¹²⁹ #NeverAgain 2018.
- ¹³⁰ #NeverAgain 2018.
- ¹³¹ #NeverAgain 2018.
- Associated Press, "The Latest: Anti-Gun Rallies Among Biggest Since Vietnam War", *Wkyt.Com*, 2018, https://www.wkyt.com/content/news/Organizers-hope-to-draw-half-a-million-to-gun-control-rally-477816963.html.
- ¹³³ Jessica Durando, "March For Our Lives Could Be The Biggest Single-Day Protest In D.C.'S History", Usatoday.Com, 2018,

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2018/03/24/march-our-lives-could-become-biggest-single-day-protest-d-c-nations-history/455675002/.

¹³⁴ Zameena Mejia, "How The March For Our Lives Gen Z Organizers Changed The Gun Control Conversation When No One Else Could", CNBC, 2018,

 $https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/23/how-the-march-for-our-lives-organizers-changed-the-gun-control-conversation. \\html.$

¹¹⁹ "'War against our Children': Stance and evaluation in# BringBackOurGirls campaign discourse on Twitter and Facebook." (2015)

¹²⁰ Maeve Shearlaw, "Did The #Bringbackourgirls Campaign Make A Difference In Nigeria?", The Guardian, 2015, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/apr/14/nigeria-bringbackourgirls-campaign-one-year-on.

¹²¹ "Nigeria's Goodluck Jonathan: #Bringbackourgirls 'Political'", BBC News, 2014, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-28318259.

https://invisiblechildren.com/challenge/kony/.

¹⁴⁰ "UN Relief Official Spotlights World'S Largest Neglected Crisis In Northern Uganda", UN News, 2004, https://news.un.org/en/story/2004/10/118692-un-relief-official-spotlights-worlds-largest-neglected-crisis-northern-uganda.

¹⁴¹ "Our Story | Invisible Children", Invisible Children, 2009, https://invisiblechildren.com/our-story/.

¹⁴² The Paris Principles: Principles and Guidelines on Children Associated with Armed Forces or Armed Groups UNICEF, January, 2007, p. 7. Reprinted with the permission of UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/emerg/files/ParisPrinciples310107English.pdf
¹⁴³ "47 Children, Formerly Abducted By LRA, Come Back Home". 2019. *UNICEF*.

https://www.unicef.org/media/media_23404.html.

¹⁴⁴ "The Warlord". *Invisiblechildren.Com*. Accessed 5 June 2020. https://invisiblechildren.com/challenge/kony/.

¹⁴⁵ Eayrs, CB & Ellis, N 1990, 'Charity advertising: For or against people with a mental handicap', British Journal of Social Psychology, 29(4), pp. 349-366.

¹⁴⁶ Burt, Christopher DB, and Karl Strongman. "Use of images in charity advertising: Improving donations and compliance rates." *International Journal of Organisational Behaviour* 8, no. 8 (2005): 571-580.

¹⁴⁷ Amy C. Finnegan. "The White Girl's Burden." *Contexts* 12, no. 1 (February 2013): 30–35. doi:10.1177/1536504213476243.

¹⁴⁸ "The 25 Campaign: Invisible Children", Oprah.Com, 2011,

http://www.oprah.com/oprahshow/invisible-childrens-25-campaign

¹⁴⁹ "Grassroots Advocacy | Invisible Children". 2019. *Invisible Children*. Accessed August 9. https://invisiblechildren.com/program/grassroots-advocacy/.

¹⁵⁰ James Montgomery, "Fall Out Boy Put 'Money Where Our Mouth Is,' Plan Humanitarian Trip To Uganda", MTV News, 2007,

 $\underline{http://www.mtv.com/news/1558476/fall-out-boy-put-money-where-our-mouth-is-plan-humanitarian-trip-to-uganda/}.$

James Montgomery, "Fall Out Boy Turn Spotlight On War-Torn Uganda In 'Compelling' New Video", MTV News, 2007, http://www.mtv.com/news/1570094/fall-out-boy-turn-spotlight-on-war-torn-uganda-in-compelling-new-video/.

¹⁵² "Fourth Estate Summit | Invisible Children", Invisible Children, 2014, https://invisiblechildren.com/program/fourth-estate-summit/.

¹⁵³ Fourth Estate Summit | Invisible Children. Retrieved 16 December 2019, from https://invisiblechildren.com/program/fourth-estate-summit/

¹³⁵ Lois Beckett. 2018. "'Vote For Our Lives': Youth Turnout Could Jump After Parkland Shooting". *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2018/nov/05/vote-for-our-lives-youth-midterm-elections-nra.

¹³⁶ #NeverAgain 2018. P. 104

¹³⁷ "Invisible Children", Oprah.Com, 2009, http://www.oprah.com/oprahshow/invisible-children.

¹³⁸ International Criminal Court, "Statement By The Chief Prosecutor On The Uganda Arrest Warrants", 2005, https://www.icc-cpi.int/nr/rdonlyres/3255817D-fd00-4072-9F58-fdb869F9B7cf/143834/lmo_20051014_English1.pdf.

¹³⁹ "The Warlord". *Invisiblechildren.Com*. Accessed 5 June 2020.

¹⁵⁴ Derluyn, Ilse, Eric Broekaert, Gilberte Schuyten, and Els De Temmerman. "Post-traumatic stress in former Ugandan child soldiers." *The Lancet* 363, no. 9412 (2004): 861-863.

¹⁵⁵ Stevenson, Jennifer L., Bev Harp, and Morton Ann Gernsbacher. "Infantilizing Autism." *Disability studies quarterly: DSQ* 31, no. 3 (2011).

¹⁵⁶ Moeller, Susan D. "A hierarchy of innocence: The media's use of children in the telling of international news." *Harvard International Journal of Press/Politics* 7, no. 1 (2002): 36-56.

¹⁵⁷ Hesford, Wendy. *Spectacular rhetorics: Human rights visions, recognitions, feminisms*. Duke University Press, 2011.

¹⁵⁸ Lerner, Richard M., Jacqueline V. Lerner, Jason B. Almerigi, Christina Theokas, Erin Phelps, Steinunn Gestsdottir, Sophie Naudeau et al. "Positive youth development, participation in community youth development programs, and community contributions of fifth-grade adolescents: Findings from the first wave of the 4-H study of positive youth development." *The journal of early adolescence* 25, no. 1 (2005): 17-71.

¹⁵⁹ Moran, Kate. "Millennials As Digital Natives: Myths & Realities". *Nielsen Norman Group*, 2016. https://www.nngroup.com/articles/millennials-digital-natives/.

¹⁶⁰ Moran, Kate. "Millennials As Digital Natives: Myths & Realities". *Nielsen Norman Group*, 2016. https://www.nngroup.com/articles/millennials-digital-natives/.

¹⁶¹ Prensky, Marc. "Digital natives, digital immigrants." On the horizon 9, no. 5 (2001).

¹⁶² Hsiao, Yuan. "Understanding digital natives in contentious politics: Explaining the effect of social media on protest participation through psychological incentives." *New Media & Society* 20, no. 9 (2018): 3457-3478.

¹⁶³ Hendricks, Drew. "The Complete History Of Social Media: Then And Now". *Small Business Trends*, 2019. https://smallbiztrends.com/2013/05/the-complete-history-of-social-media-

infographic.html#:~:text=The%20first%20recognizable%20social%20media,sensation%20that's%20still%20popular%20today.

¹⁶⁴ Wood, Jennie. "Timeline: Social Media". *Infoplease*, 2017.

https://www.infoplease.com/science/timeline-social-media.

¹⁶⁵ Wood, Jennie. "Timeline: Social Media". *Infoplease*, 2017.

https://www.infoplease.com/science/timeline-social-media.

¹⁶⁶ KONY 2012 | Invisible Children. Retrieved from https://invisiblechildren.com/kony-2012/

¹⁶⁷ KONY 2012 | Invisible Children. Retrieved from https://invisiblechildren.com/kony-2012/

¹⁶⁸ Perrin, Andrew, and Meave Duggan. "Americans Internet Access: Percent Of Adults 2000-2015". *Pew Research Center: Internet, Science & Tech*, 2015.

https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2015/06/26/americans-internet-access-2000-2015/.

¹⁶⁹ Clement, J. "United States Digital Population 2020 | Statista". *Statista*, 2020.

https://www.statista.com/statistics/1044012/usa-digital-platform-audience/.

¹⁷⁰ Winslow, Joyce. "America'S Digital Divide". *Pewtrusts.Org*, 2019.

https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/trust/archive/summer-2019/americas-digital-divide.

¹⁷¹ "Bridging The Digital Divide For All Americans". *Federal Communications Commission*. Accessed 9 June 2020. https://www.fcc.gov/about-fcc/fcc-initiatives/bridging-digital-divide-all-americans.

```
<sup>172</sup> World Bank. Uganda data profile. Washington (D. C.): World Bank; 2005. Available: <a href="http://devdata.worldbank.org/external/CPProfile.asp?PTYPE=CP&CCODE=UGA">http://devdata.worldbank.org/external/CPProfile.asp?PTYPE=CP&CCODE=UGA</a>.
```

¹⁷³ "Africa Internet Users, 2020 Population And Facebook

Statistics". Internetworldstats. Com, 2020. https://www.internetworldstats.com/stats1.htm.

¹⁷⁴ "| Media-Based Community Sensitization". *Invisible children. Com*, 2020.

https://invisiblechildren.com/program/media-based-community-sensitization/.

¹⁷⁵" | Crisis Mapping & Conflict Analysis". *Invisiblechildren.Com*. Retrieved from: https://invisiblechildren.com/program/crisis-tracker/.

¹⁷⁶" | Early Warning Network". *Invisible children. Com.* Accessed 17 June 2020.

https://invisiblechildren.com/program/early-warning-network/.

¹⁷⁷ "| Early Warning Network". *Invisiblechildren.Com*. Accessed 17 June 2020. https://invisiblechildren.com/program/early-warning-network/.

¹⁷⁸ "Crisis Tracker". *Crisistracker.Org*. https://crisistracker.org/.

¹⁷⁹ "Crisis Tracker". *Crisistracker.Org*. https://crisistracker.org/about.

¹⁸⁰ "Crisis Tracker". Crisistracker.Org. https://crisistracker.org/.

¹⁸¹ Earl, Jennifer, Katrina Kimport, Greg Prieto, Carly Rush, and Kimberly Reynoso. "Changing the world one webpage at a time: Conceptualizing and explaining Internet activism." *Mobilization: An International Quarterly* 15, no. 4 (2010): 425-446.

¹⁸² Earl, Jennifer, and Katrina Kimport. *Digitally enabled social change: Activism in the internet age.* Mit Press, 2011.

¹⁸³ Breaking down our four-part model: Mobilization | Invisible Children

¹⁸⁴ Taylor, Adam. "Was #Kony2012 A Failure?". *Washingtonpost.Com*, 2014. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/worldviews/wp/2014/12/16/was-kony2012-a-failure/.

¹⁸⁵ Earl, Jennifer, and Alan Schussman. "The new site of activism: on-line organizations, movement entrepreneurs, and the changing location of social movement decision-making." *Research in social movements, conflicts and change* 24 (2003): 155-187.

¹⁸⁶ Earl, Jennifer, Katrina Kimport, Greg Prieto, Carly Rush, and Kimberly Reynoso. "Changing the world one webpage at a time: Conceptualizing and explaining Internet activism." *Mobilization: An International Quarterly* 15, no. 4 (2010): 425-446.

¹⁸⁷ Earl, Jennifer, Katrina Kimport, Greg Prieto, Carly Rush, and Kimberly Reynoso. "Changing the world one webpage at a time: Conceptualizing and explaining Internet activism." *Mobilization: An International Quarterly* 15, no. 4 (2010): 425-446.

¹⁸⁸ Loveman, Mara. "High-risk collective action: Defending human rights in Chile, Uruguay, and Argentina." *American Journal of Sociology* 104, no. 2 (1998): 477-525; McAdam, Doug. "Recruitment to high-risk activism: The case of freedom summer." *American journal of sociology* 92, no. 1 (1986): 64-90.

¹⁸⁹ Taylor, Verta, and Nella Van Dyke. "'Get up, stand up': Tactical repertoires of social movements." *The Blackwell companion to social movements* (2004): 262-293.

¹⁹⁰ Bandyopadhyay, Ranjan. "Volunteer tourism and "The White Man's Burden": globalization of suffering, white savior complex, religion and modernity." *Journal of Sustainable Tourism* 27, no. 3 (2019): 327-343.

¹⁹¹ U.S. Const. amend I.

¹⁹² Nott, Lata, and Brian Peters. "Free Expression On Social Media | Freedom Forum Institute". *Freedomforuminstitute.Org*. Accessed 10 June 2020.

https://www.freedomforuminstitute.org/first-amendment-center/primers/free-expression-on-social-media/.

¹⁹³ The Collaboration on International ICT Policy for East and Southern Africa. *State Of Internet Freedom In Uganda | 2016 Charting Patterns In The Strategies African Governments Use To Stifle Citizens' Digital Rights*. CIPESA, 2016. http://cipesa.org/?wpfb_dl=235.

¹⁹⁴ Neiman, Sophie. "Uganda Expands Its Internet Clampdown, Stifling The Last Space For Free Speech". *Worldpoliticsreview.Com*, 2019.

https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/articles/28159/uganda-expands-its-internet-clampdown-stifling-the-last-space-for-free-speech.

¹⁹⁵ The Collaboration on International ICT Policy for East and Southern Africa. *State Of Internet Freedom In Uganda | 2016 Charting Patterns In The Strategies African Governments Use To Stifle Citizens' Digital Rights*. CIPESA, 2016. http://cipesa.org/?wpfb_dl=235.

¹⁹⁶ Unwanted Witness. *The State Of Digital Rights In Uganda; Repression On The Internet Sprouted In 2018*. UnwantedWitness.org, 2018.

 $https://www.unwantedwitness.org/download/uploads/THE-STATE-OF-DIGITAL-RIGHTS-IN-UGANDA_-REPRESSION-ON-THE-INTERNET-SPROUTED-IN-2018-FINAL.pdf.\\$

¹⁹⁷ "Freedom On The Net 2019: Uganda". Freedom House, 2019.

https://freedomhouse.org/country/uganda/freedom-net/2019.

¹⁹⁸ Napio, Janet. "Internet Censorship In Uganda Is Neither Necessary Nor Proportionate – CIPESA". *African Centre For Media Excellence*, 2019. https://acme-

ug.org/2019/05/06/internet-censorship-in-uganda-is-neither-necessary-nor-proportionate-cipesa/.

¹⁹⁹ "Freedom On The Net 2019: Uganda". *Freedom House*, 2019.

https://freedomhouse.org/country/uganda/freedom-net/2019.

²⁰⁰ John McCarthy and Mayer Zald. (1977). Resource Mobilization and Social

Movements: A Partial Theory. American Journal of Sociology, 82(6), pp.1212-1241.

²⁰¹ Charles Tilly (1979). "Social movements and national politics."

²⁰² Charles J Stewart, Craig Allen Smith and Robert E Denton, *Persuasion And Social Movements* (repr., Long Grove, Ill.: Waveland Press, 2012).

²⁰³ Persuasion And Social Movements 2012

²⁰⁴ Lord's Resistance Army - The Enough Project. Retrieved from https://enoughproject.org/conflicts/lra

²⁰⁵ U.S. Department of the Treasury. Internal Revenue Service. 2006 ID# 50505 Retrieved from: https://invisiblechildren.com/wp-

content/themes/invisiblechildren2.0/images/financials/forms/other/501c3-ruling.pdf

²⁰⁶ 501c3 Requirements: Everything You Need to Know. Retrieved 21 December 2019, from https://www.upcounsel.com/501c3-requirements

²⁰⁷ Neil Patel. Why Your Business Isn't Verified On Social Media (And What To Do About It). Retrieved from https://neilpatel.com/blog/social-media-verified/

²⁰⁸ How do I request a verified badge on Facebook? | Facebook Help Centre | Facebook. Retrieved from https://www.facebook.com/help/1288173394636262

- ²⁰⁹ Lodge, K. What is a Verified Social Media Account (and How Can You Get It?). Retrieved from https://www.commonplaces.com/blog/what-is-a-verified-social-media-account-and-why-does-it-matter/
- ²¹⁰ Verified Badges | Instagram Help Centre. Retrieved from

https://help.instagram.com/854227311295302

- 211 https://twitter.com/invisible?lang=en
- https://www.facebook.com/invisiblechildren/
- https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTfiNvrrwuhJjyGuUjH_kEg
- ²¹⁴ National Tour | Invisible Children. Retrieved from

https://invisiblechildren.com/program/national-tour/

- ²¹⁵ Fourth Estate Summit | Invisible Children. Retrieved from
- https://invisiblechildren.com/program/fourth-estate-summit/
- ²¹⁶ International Events | Invisible Children. Retrieved from

https://invisiblechildren.com/program/international-events/

- ²¹⁷ KONY 2012 | Invisible Children. Retrieved from https://invisiblechildren.com/kony-2012/
- 218 https://twitter.com/invisible?lang=en
- https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTfiNvrrwuhJjyGuUjH_kEg
- 220 https://www.facebook.com/invisiblechildren/
- ²²¹ Marcelo Svirsky. "Defining activism." *Deleuze Studies* 4, no. supplement (2010): 163-182.
- ²²² The truth behind the 'bra-burning' feminists. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-45303069
- ²²³ Jeanne Theoharis. *The Rebellious Life of Mrs. Rosa Parks*. Beacon Press, 2015.
- ²²⁴ nvisible Children Incorporation, 2012 Annual Report,

https://invisiblechildren.com/wp-

- content/themes/invisiblechildren2.0/images/financials/forms/2012/financial-statement.pdf ²²⁵ Russell, J. Breaking down our four-part model: Media | Invisible Children. Retrieved, from https://invisiblechildren.com/blog/2013/07/02/breaking-down-our-four-part-model-media/
- ²²⁶ Breaking down our four-part model: Mobilization | Invisible Children. Retrieved from https://invisiblechildren.com/blog/2013/06/25/breaking-down-our-four-part-model-mobilization/
- ²²⁷ Breaking Down Our Four-Part Model: Recovery". *Invisiblechildren.Com*. Accessed 30 June 2020. https://invisiblechildren.com/blog/2013/06/11/breaking-down-our-four-part-model-recovery/.
- ²²⁸ Steingrimsen, Katrine. "Review Kony 2012". *E-Ir.Info*, 2013. https://www.e-ir.info/pdf/32789.
- ²²⁹ Davis, Jesse (2011), "Cause Marketing: Moving Beyond Cor- porate Slacktivism," http://evidencebasedmarketing.net/ cause-marketing-moving-beyond-corporate-slacktivism/; Morozov Evgeny (2009), "The Brave New World of Slacktivism" *Foreign Policy*, May 19.
- ²³⁰ Kahne, Joseph, Ellen Middaugh, and Danielle Allen. "Youth, new media, and the rise of participatory politics." *From voice to influence: Understanding citizenship in a digital age* 35 (2015). https://clalliance.org/wp-

content/uploads/files/ypp_workinpapers_paper01_1.pdf

²³⁵ "Al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb: Condolence, Support and Comfort for our Brothers and People in Nigeria 20/08/09," available at

www.ansar1.info/showthread.php?t=11556; "North Africa Qaeda Offers to Help Nigerian Muslims," Reuters, February 1, 2010.

²³⁶ "Nigeria's Boko Haram Chief 'Killed'". *Aljazeera.Com*, 2009.

²³⁷ "Nigeria President Declares Emergency", BBC News, 2013, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-22533974.

²³⁸Oke, R. O., & Labeodan, H. A. (2015). Boko Haram Insurgence, the Chibok Girls' Abduction and the Implication for the Girl Child in Nigeria. *Unraveling and Reweaving the Sacred Canon in Africana Womanhood*, 93-106.

²³⁹ Annual Report of the Secretary General: Children and Armed Conflict A/69/926-S/2015/409 (2015)

²⁴⁰ Abubakar, Aminu. "FACTSHEET" (2015)

²⁴¹ Ritchie, Hannah. "How Many Children Are Not In School?". *Our World In Data*, 2019. https://ourworldindata.org/how-many-children-are-not-in-school.

²⁴² Mishal Husain, "Malala: The Girl Who Was Shot For Going To School", BBC News, 2013, https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-24379018.

²⁴³ "Malala Yousafzai: 16Th Birthday Speech At The United Nations | Malala Fund Newsroom". *Malala Fund | Newsroom*, 2013.

https://malala.org/newsroom/archive/malala-un-speech.

²⁴⁴ Amy Robach, Teri Whitcraft and Kaitlyn Folmer, "Malala's Mission: 'Bring Back Our Girls, Now And Alive'", ABC News, 2014,

https://abcnews.go.com/International/malalas-mission-bring-back-girls-now-alive/story?id = 24545792.

²⁴⁵ Josh Levs, "Malala's Letter To Nigeria's Abducted Schoolgirls: 'Solidarity, Love, And Hope'", Www-M.Cnn.Com, 2015, https://www-m.cnn.com/2015/04/13/world/malalanigeria-schoolgirls-abducted-boko-

haram/index.html?r=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F.

²⁴⁶ Katherine Curtiss, "Malala Calls On World To Remember #Bringbackourgirls", Global Citizen, 2016, https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/malala-continues-to-stand-in-solidarity-with-the-f/.

²⁴⁷ Bennett, W. Lance. "Changing Citizenship in the Digital Age." Civic Life Online: Learning How Digital Media Can Engage Youth. Edited by W. Lance Bennett. The John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation Series on Digital Media and Learning. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2008. 1–24. doi: 10.1162/dmal.9780262524827.001

²³¹ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism.* Cambridge University Press, 2017.

²³² Daniel A. Tonwe and Surulola J. Eke, "State Fragility And Violent Uprisings In Nigeria", *African Security Review* 22, no. 4 (2013): 232-243, doi:10.1080/10246029.2013.838794.

²³³ Zenn, Jacob, and Elizabeth Pearson. "Women, Gender and the evolving tactics of Boko Haram." *Journal of terrorism research* (2014).

²³⁴ Peters, M. A. (2014). 'Western education is sinful': Boko Haram and the abduction of Chibok schoolgirls.

²⁴⁸ Porter, B., 2019. *Essential (And Surprising) Social Media Statistics To Inform Your Strategy*. [online] Buffer Resources. Available at: https://buffer.com/resources/social-media-stats-facts/

²⁴⁹ Clement, J., 2020. *Global Twitter User Age Distribution 2020 | Statista*. [online] Statista. Available at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/283119/age-distribution-of-global-twitter-

users/#:~:text=Twitter% 3A% 20distribution% 20of% 20global% 20audiences% 202020% 2 C% 20by% 20age% 20group&text=During% 20the% 20survey% 20period% 20it,between% 2 025% 20and% 2034% 20years.>

²⁵⁰ Kirkland, Pamela. "Can Twitter Activism #Bringbackourgirls?". *The Washington Post*, 2014. https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/she-the-people/wp/2014/07/23/can-twitter-activism-bringbackourgirls/?noredirect=on.

²⁵¹ "#Bringbackourgirls". *CARTO*, 2014. https://srogers.carto.com/viz/2c938718-d4b9-11e3-a2ef-

0edbca4b5057/public_map?title=true&description=true&search=true&shareable=true&c artodb_logo=true&layer_selector=false&legends=false&scrollwheel=true&fullscreen=tru e&sublayer_options=1&sql=&zoom=2¢er_lat=7.013667927566642¢er_lon=3. 1640625.

²⁵² Hesford, Wendy. *Spectacular rhetorics: Human rights visions, recognitions, feminisms*. Duke University Press, 2011 (p. 158).

²⁵³ Prensky, Marc. "Digital natives, digital immigrants." *On the horizon* 9, no. 5 (2001).

²⁵⁴ Hsiao, Yuan. "Understanding digital natives in contentious politics: Explaining the effect of social media on protest participation through psychological incentives." *New Media & Society* 20, no. 9 (2018): 3457-3478.

²⁵⁵ Crook, J., 2013. *Techcrunch*. [online] Techcrunch.com. Available at:

https://techcrunch.com/2013/03/25/twitter-verification-has-more-to-do-with-being-good-at-twitter-than-with-identity/

²⁵⁶ Clement, J. "Twitter: Number Of Active Users 2010-2019 | Statista". Statista, 2019. https://www.statista.com/statistics/282087/number-of-monthly-active-twitter-users/. ²⁵⁷ "ITU Releases 2014 ICT Figures". Itu.Int, 2014.

https://www.itu.int/net/pressoffice/press_releases/2014/23.aspx.

²⁵⁸ Guimarães, Thiago. "REVEALED: The Demographic Trends For Every Social Network". Business Insider, 2014. https://www.businessinsider.com/2014-social-media-demographics-update-2014-9.

²⁵⁹ "Twitter: Regional User Distribution 2012-2018 | Statista". Statista, 2019.

https://www.statista.com/statistics/303684/regional-twitter-user-distribution/.

²⁶⁰ "Twitter: Regional User Distribution 2012-2018 | Statista". Statista, 2019.

https://www.statista.com/statistics/303684/regional-twitter-user-distribution/.

²⁶¹ Greg Wiser, "The Tweet That Launched #Bringbackourgirls", DW.COM, 2014, https://p.dw.com/p/1ByW0.

²⁶² Nigerian Communications Commission, "Active Internet Subscriptions (GSM) and (CDMA)," http://bit.ly/1kAqyVk.

²⁶³ International Telecommunication Union, "Percentage of Individuals Using the Internet," 2000-2013, http://bit.ly/1cblxxY.

²⁶⁴ "Freedom On The Net 2014: Nigeria". Freedomhouse.Org, 2014. https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2014/nigeria.

²⁶⁵ "Freedom On The Net 2015: Nigeria". Freedomhouse.Org, 2015.

https://freedomhouse.org/print/47737.

²⁶⁶ International Telecommunication Union, "Mobile-cellular subscriptions," 2000-2013, http://bit.ly/1cblxxY.

²⁶⁷ "Active Internet Subscriptions (GSM) and (CDMA)," Nigerian Communications Commission, http://bit.ly/1kAqyVk.

²⁶⁸ International Telecommunication Union, "Nigeria Profile (latest data available: 2013)," ICT-Eye, http://www.itu.int/net4/itu-

d/icteye/CountryProfileReport.aspx?countryID=8.

²⁶⁹ Akamai, "Average Connection Speed: Nigeria," map visualization, The State of the Internet Q1 (2014), http://www.akamai.com/stateoftheinternet/sotivisualizations.html#stoi-map.

²⁷⁰ International Telecommunication Union, "Fixed (Wired)-Broadband Subscriptions, 2000-2013."

²⁷¹ Clara Nwachukwu, "Nigeria maintains lead in generator imports in Africa...," *Vanguard*, January 10, 2011, http://bit.ly/1RKDVPI.

²⁷² Andrew Airahuobhor, "67 percent Nigerians saw no power supply improvement in 2 years," *Daily Independent*, April 8, 2015, http://bit.ly/1EUlsvT.

²⁷³ "Freedom On The Net 2015: Nigeria". Freedomhouse.Org, 2015.

https://freedomhouse.org/print/47737.

²⁷⁴ Obiageli Ezekwesili, April 23rd, 2014, 11:01,

https://twitter.com/obyezeks/status/459014297872793600

²⁷⁵ "Nigeria President Declares Emergency", BBC News, 2013,

https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-22533974.

²⁷⁶ Ons.gov.uk. 2014. *Internet Access - Households And Individuals, Great Britain - Office For National Statistics*. [online] Available at:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/bulletins/internetaccesshouseholdsandindividuals/2014-08-07#:~:text=11.-

"Household% 20Internet% 20access, with% 2010% 20million% 20in% 202006.

²⁷⁷ "Nearly 8 In 10 Americans Have Access To High-Speed Internet". *The United States Census Bureau*, 2014. https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2014/cb14-202.html.

²⁷⁸ Gotter, Ana. "7 Techniques To Create A Hashtag That Boosts Your

Brand". *Adespresso*, 2015. https://adespresso.com/blog/7-techniques-to-create-a-hashtag-that-boosts-your-brand/.

²⁷⁹ Kywe, Su Mon, Tuan-Anh Hoang, Ee-Peng Lim, and Feida Zhu. "On recommending hashtags in twitter networks." In *International conference on social informatics*, pp. 337-350. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012.

²⁸⁰ Earl, Jennifer, and Katrina Kimport. *Digitally enabled social change: Activism in the internet age.* Mit Press, 2011.

²⁸¹ Littlejohn, Janice. Twitter Post.May 6th, 2014, 1:38 AM. https://twitter.com/JaniceRhoshalle/status/463568445410263040

²⁸²Bennett, Daniel, and Pam Fielding. 1999. The net effect: How Cyberadvocacy Is Changing the Political Landscape. Merrifield VA: e-advocates Press.

```
<sup>283</sup> Taylor, Verta, and Nella Van Dyke. "'Get up, stand up': Tactical repertoires of social movements." The Blackwell companion to social movements (2004): 262-293.
```

²⁸⁴ Loveman, Mara. "High-risk collective action: Defending human rights in Chile, Uruguay, and Argentina." *American Journal of Sociology* 104, no. 2 (1998): 477-525.

²⁸⁵ Abdullahi, Ibrahim. TechPresidentInterview by . Via email, 2014.

http://techpresident.com/news/24996/bringbackourgirls-how-hashtag-took-hold

- ²⁸⁶ Jennifer Earl. 2016. "Protest online: theorizing the consequences of online engagement." The Consequences of Social Movements, edited by Lorenzo Bosi, Marco Giugni, and Katrin Uba, 363-400. Cambridge: University Printing House.
- ²⁸⁷ Walgrave, Stefaan, and Rens Vliegenthart. "The complex agenda-setting power of protest: Demonstrations, media, parliament, government, and legislation in Belgium, 1993-2000." Mobilization: An International Quarterly 17, no. 2 (2012): 129-156.

²⁸⁸ "Freedom On The Net: Nigeria". Freedomhouse.Org, 2014.

https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2014/nigeria.

²⁸⁹ Kelly, Sanja, Madeline Earp, Laura Reed, Adrian Shahbaz, and Mai Truong. *Freedom On The Internet 2014*. Freedom On The Internet. Freedom House. Accessed 4 November 2020.

https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/FOTN_2014_Full_Report_compressedv2_0.p df.

- ²⁹⁰ OpenNet Initiative, "Internet Filtering in Nigeria," October 1, 2009, http://bit.ly/1j6ff5u; OpenNet Initiative, "Internet Watch Report: The 2007 Presidential Elections in Nigeria," November 2007, http://bit.ly/L1rWjs.
- ²⁹¹ Eziukwu, Arodiegwu. "Nigeria's Secret Police Accuse Reuters Journalist Of Spying Premium Times Nigeria". Premium Times Nigeria, 2015.

https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/more-news/176981-%E2%80%8Bnigerias-secret-police-accuses-reuters-%E2%80%8Bjournalist-spying.html.

- ²⁹² Phillip Eta, "Clamp down on Social Media now! "It is now an avenue for abusing government," David Mark," *Daily Post*, July 28, 2012, http://bit.ly/1NeOwR3.
- ²⁹³ Hauwa Gambo, "Get ready, guys: Legislator wants law against "abuse" of social media," *Naija*, November 2, 2012, http://bit.ly/1GfDV8T.
- ²⁹⁴ Nigerian Constitution, Chapter IV, Article 39. http://www.nigeria-law.org/ConstitutionOfTheFederalRepublicOfNigeria.htm#Chapter_4
- ²⁹⁵ Silenced Voices, Threatened Lives: The Impact of Nigeria's Anti-LGBT Law on Freedom of Expression.
- ²⁹⁶ Peter Nkanga, "In election year, Nigeria's press feeling the pressure," Committee to Protect Journalists (blog), March 24, 2015, http://bit.ly/18X01gI.
- ²⁹⁷ Ojebode, Ayo. "How Bring Back Our Girls Went From Hashtag To Social Movement, While Rejecting Funding From Donors From Poverty To Power". Oxfamblogs.Org, 2018. https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/how-bring-back-our-girls-went-from-hashtag-to-social-movement-while-rejecting-funding-from-donors/.
- ²⁹⁸ Zenn, Jacob, and Elizabeth Pearson. "Women, Gender and the evolving tactics of Boko Haram." *Journal of terrorism research* (2014).
- ²⁹⁹ Read, James S. "The New Constitution of Nigeria, 1979: "The Washington Model"?" *Journal of African Law* 23, no. 2 (1979): 131-74. Accessed March 3, 2020. www.jstor.org/stable/745031.

- ³⁰⁰ "Women's Rights In Nigeria: What'S Holding Nigeria'S Women Back?". Worldpoliticsreview.Com, 2017.
- https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/insights/20822/womens-rights-in-nigeria-what-s-holding-nigeria-s-women-back.
- ³⁰¹ Onuzo, Chibundu. "#Bringbackourgirls. And Bring Back Our Country, President Jonathan | Chibundu Onuzo". The Guardian, 2014.
- https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2014/may/07/bring-back-our-girls-nigeria-president-jonathan-boko-haram.
- ³⁰² Cole, Teju. "The white-savior industrial complex." *The Atlantic* 21, no. March (2012).
- ³⁰³ Ibrahim Abdullahi, 2014. Retrieved from: https://thegrio.com/2014/05/09/nigeria-bringbackourgirls-twitter-missing-girls/
- ³⁰⁴ Gaffey, Conor. "Nigeria: Goodluck Jonathan Denies Turning Down Chibok Girls Rescue Offer". Newsweek, 2017. https://www.newsweek.com/goodluck-jonathan-chibok-girls-boko-haram-564260.
- ³⁰⁵ "Nigeria's Goodluck Jonathan: #Bringbackourgirls 'Political'". BBC News, 2014. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-28318259.
- 306 "Nigeria Abductions: Timeline Of Events". BBC News, 2014.
- https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-27342757.
- ³⁰⁷ Rhodan, Maya. "'Bring Back Our Girls' Protests Banned In Nigerian Capital". Time, 2014. https://time.com/2815958/bring-back-our-girls-protests-banned-in-nigerian-capital/.
- ³⁰⁸ "Nigeria's Goodluck Jonathan: #Bringbackourgirls 'Political'". BBC News, 2014. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-28318259.
- ³⁰⁹ Onuzo, Chibundu. "#Bringbackourgirls. And Bring Back Our Country, President Jonathan | Chibundu Onuzo". The Guardian, 2014.
- https://www.theguardian.com/comment is free/2014/may/07/bring-back-our-girls-nigeria-president-jonathan-boko-haram.
- Gaffey, Conor. "Nigeria: Goodluck Jonathan Denies Turning Down Chibok Girls Rescue Offer". Newsweek, 2017. https://www.newsweek.com/goodluck-jonathan-chibok-girls-boko-haram-564260.
- ³¹¹ Bennett, Daniel, and Pam Fielding. 1999. *The net effect: How Cyberadvocacy Is Changing the Political Landscape*. Merrifield VA: e-advocates Press.
- ³¹² "Meet The Nigerian Lawyer Who Created #Bringbackourgirls Campaign Thegrio". Thegrio, 2014. https://thegrio.com/2014/05/09/nigeria-bringbackourgirls-twitter-missing-girls/.
- ³¹³ Gaffey, Conor. ""The Fight For The Chibok Girls Is A Fight For The Soul Of Nigeria." Comments From @Obyezeks And @Aishayesufu". Newsweek, 2016. https://www.newsweek.com/finding-chibok-girls-fight-soul-nigeria-415208.
- ³¹⁴ Strochlic, Nina. "Six Years Ago, Boko Haram Kidnapped 276 Schoolgirls. Where Are They Now?". *Nationalgeographic.Com*, 2020.
- https://www.nationalgeographic.com/magazine/2020/03/six-years-ago-boko-haram-kidnapped-276-schoolgirls-where-are-they-
- now/#:~:text=Of%20the%20276%20Chibok%20students,then%2C%20there's%20been%20relative%20silence.
- ³¹⁵ "The Guardian View On Nigeria And Boko Haram: Bring Back Our Girls Again | Editorial". The Guardian, 2018.

https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/mar/06/the-guardian-view-on-nigeria-and-boko-haram-bring-back-our-girls-again.

³¹⁶ Amy Robach, Teri Whitcraft and Kaitlyn Folmer, "Malala's Mission: 'Bring Back Our Girls, Now And Alive'", ABC News, 2014,

https://abcnews.go.com/International/malalas-mission-bring-back-girls-now-alive/story?id=24545792.

³¹⁷ Freeman, Colin. "Missing Nigerian Schoolgirls: Boko Haram Issues New Video Mocking Bringbackourgirls Campaign". Telegraph.Co.Uk, 2014.

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/africaandindianocean/nigeria/10964606/Missing-Nigerian-schoolgirls-Boko-Haram-issues-new-video-mocking-BringBackOurGirls-campaign.html.

³¹⁸ Ojebode, Ayo. "How Bring Back Our Girls Went From Hashtag To Social Movement, While Rejecting Funding From Donors - From Poverty To Power". Oxfamblogs.Org, 2018. https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/how-bring-back-our-girls-went-from-hashtag-to-social-movement-while-rejecting-funding-from-donors/.

³¹⁹ Halimah Yahaya. "Nigeria: BBOG Leaders Step Down To Back Oby Ezekwesili's Presidential Ambition". 2018. Premium Times.

 $\frac{https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/more-news/289256-bbog-leaders-step-down-to-back-oby-ezekwesilis-presidential-ambition.html}{}$

³²⁰ Halimah Yahaya. "Nigeria: BBOG Leaders Step Down To Back Oby Ezekwesili's Presidential Ambition". 2018.

³²¹ Crutchfield, Leslie R. *How Change Happens: Why Some Social Movements Succeed While Others Don't.* John Wiley & Sons, 2018.

³²² Charles J Stewart, Craig Allen Smith and Robert E Denton, *Persuasion And Social Movements* (repr., Long Grove, Ill.: Waveland Press, 2012).

³²³ Gaffey, Conor. ""The Fight For The Chibok Girls Is A Fight For The Soul Of Nigeria." Comments From @Obyezeks And @Aishayesufu". Newsweek, 2016. https://www.newsweek.com/finding-chibok-girls-fight-soul-nigeria-415208.

³²⁴ Chiluwa, Innocent, and Presley Ifukor. "'War against Our Children': Stance and Evaluation in #BringBackOurGirls Campaign Discourse on Twitter and Facebook." *Discourse & Society* 26, no. 3 (2015): 267-96. Accessed March 11, 2020. www.jstor.org/stable/26376358.

³²⁵ Gaffey, Conor. "Three Years On, Here's What We Know About The Missing Chibok Girls". Newsweek, 2017. https://www.newsweek.com/chibok-girls-boko-haram-583584; Curry, Colleen. "Nigeria To UN: Help Us Negotiate With Boko Haram To #Bringbackourgirls". Global Citizen, 2016.

https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/nigeria-un-help-negotiate-boko-haram-bringbackourg/.

https://twitter.com/BBOG_Nigeria; https://www.facebook.com/BringBackOurGirlsNG

³²⁷Rotinwa, Ayodeji. "Inside A #Bringbackourgirls Protest | Page 2 Of 2 | This Is Africa". This Is Africa, 2016. https://thisisafrica.me/politics-and-society/inside-a-bringbackourgirls-protest/2/.

³²⁸ Diep, Francie. "The True Story Of The Nigerian Schoolgirls Who Survived Boko Haram". Pacific Standard, 2019. https://psmag.com/ideas/the-true-story-of-the-nigerian-schoolgirls-who-survived-boko-haram.

³²⁹ Ojebode, Ayo. "How Bring Back Our Girls Went From Hashtag To Social Movement, While Rejecting Funding From Donors - From Poverty To Power". From Poverty To Power, 2018. https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/how-bring-back-our-girls-went-from-hashtag-to-social-movement-while-rejecting-funding-from-donors/.

³³⁰ "Hundreds March Over Nigeria Schoolgirl Kidnappings". The Guardian, 2014. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/apr/30/hundreds-march-nigeria-chibok-schoolgirl-kidnappings-boko-haram.

³³¹ "Hundreds March Over Nigeria Schoolgirl Kidnappings". The Guardian, 2014.

³³² Howard, Emma. "Bring Back Our Girls: Global Protests Over Abduction Of Nigerian Schoolgirls". The Guardian, 2014.

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/may/07/bring-back-our-girls-global-protests-abduction-nigerian-schoolgirls.

³³³ Abubakar, Aminu. "Protests For Kidnapped Girls Banned In Nigerian Capital - CNN". CNN World, 2014. https://www.cnn.com/2014/06/02/world/africa/nigeria-protests-ban/index.html.

³³⁴ "BRING BACK OUR GIRLS". Bringbackourgirls.Ng. Accessed 31 March 2020. https://bringbackourgirls.ng/#schedule.

³³⁵ "Hashtag Fail? Two Years After The First #Bringbackourgirls Tweet Not Much Has Changed". Public Radio International, 2016. https://www.pri.org/stories/2016-04-13/hashtag-fail-two-years-after-first-bringbackourgirls-tweet-not-much-has-changed.

³³⁶ Ogles, Jacob. "Frederica Wilson Continues Effort To 'Bring Back Our Girls'". Florida Politics - Campaigns & Elections. Lobbying & Government., 2019.

https://floridapolitics.com/archives/293618-frederica-wilson-continues-effort-to-bring-back-our-girls.

Gangitano, Alex. "Lawmakers Recommit To 'Bring Back Our Girls' - Roll Call". Roll Call, 2016. https://www.rollcall.com/2016/04/14/lawmakers-recommit-to-bring-back-our-girls/.

338 "Lawmakers Recommit To 'Bring Back Our Girls' - Roll Call". Roll Call, 2016.

³³⁹ Matfess, Hilary. "Three Years Later, A Look At The #Bringbackourgirls Catch-22". The Daily Beast, 2017. https://www.thedailybeast.com/three-years-later-a-look-at-the-bringbackourgirls-catch-22.

Smith, Chelsey. "The technology of hope: twitter and the# BringBackOurGirls campaign." (2015); "Hashtag Fail? Two Years After The First #Bringbackourgirls Tweet Not Much Has Changed". Public Radio International, 2016; Chiluwa, Innocent, and Presley Ifukor. "'War against our Children': Stance and evaluation in# BringBackOurGirls campaign discourse on Twitter and Facebook." Discourse & Society 26, no. 3 (2015): 267-296; Harrison, Teresa M., Catherine Dumas, Nic DePaula, Tim Fake, Will May, Akanksha Atrey, Jooyeon Lee, Lokesh Rishi, and S. S. Ravi. "E-Petitioning and online media: the case of# bringbackourgirls." In Proceedings of the 18th Annual International Conference on Digital Government Research, pp. 11-20. 2017.

³⁴² Kahne, Joseph, Ellen Middaugh, and Danielle Allen. "Youth, new media, and the rise of participatory politics." *From voice to influence: Understanding citizenship in a digital age* 35 (2015). https://clalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/files/ypp_workinpapers_paper01_1.pdf

³⁴³ Cruz, Edgar Gómez, and Helen Thornham. "Selfies beyond self-representation: the (theoretical) f (r) ictions of a practice." Journal of Aesthetics & Culture 7, no. 1 (2015): 28073.

³⁴⁴ Image Retrieved from: https://www.dw.com/en/the-tweet-that-launched-bringbackourgirls/a-17630568

³⁴⁵ Ahmed, S., & Walker, C. (2018). There has been, on average, 1 school shooting every week this year. Retrieved 10 February 2020, from

https://www.cnn.com/2018/03/02/us/school-shootings-2018-list-trnd/index.html

³⁴⁶ Associated Press, "The Latest: Anti-Gun Rallies Among Biggest Since Vietnam War", *Wkyt.Com*, 2018, https://www.wkyt.com/content/news/Organizers-hope-to-draw-half-a-million-to-gun-control-rally-477816963.html.

³⁴⁷ Misra, J. (2019). Behind the 2018 U.S. Midterm Election Turnout. Retrieved 10 February 2020, from https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2019/04/behind-2018-united-states-midterm-election-turnout.html

³⁴⁸ Whitaker, Lenyon. "MAP: Timeline Of Mass Shootings In The US Since 2000". *Metro US*, 2019. https://www.metro.us/news/map-timeline-of-mass-shootings-in-the-us-since-2000/tmWmll---14WH11UWCww.

³⁴⁹ Woodrow Cox, John, Steven Rich, Allyson Chiu, John Muyskens, and Monica Ulmanu. "More Than 228,000 Students Have Experienced Gun Violence At School Since Columbine". *The Washington Post*, 2019.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2018/local/school-shootings-database/.

³⁵⁰ Lou, Michelle, and Christina Walker. "There Have Been 22 School Shootings In The US So Far This Year". *Www-M.Cnn.Com*, 2019. https://www-

m.cnn.com/2019/05/08/us/school-shootings-us-2019-

trnd/index.html?r=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F.

³⁵¹ David Hogg and Lauren Hogg, *#Neveragain* (repr., New York City: Random House Publishing Group, 2018).

³⁵² Associated Press, "The Latest: Anti-Gun Rallies Among Biggest Since Vietnam War", *Wkyt.Com*, 2018.

³⁵³ Rebecca Shabad, Chelsea Bailey, & Phil McCausland. (2018). At March for Our Lives, survivors lead hundreds of thousands in call for change. Retrieved from https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/march-our-lives-draws-hundreds-thousands-washington-around-nation-n859716

³⁵⁴ Jessica Durando, "March For Our Lives Could Be The Biggest Single-Day Protest In D.C.'S History", Usatoday.Com, 2018,

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2018/03/24/march-our-lives-could-become-biggest-single-day-protest-d-c-nations-history/455675002/.

³⁵⁵ Zameena Mejia, "How The March For Our Lives Gen Z Organizers Changed The Gun Control Conversation When No One Else Could", CNBC, 2018,

https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/23/how-the-march-for-our-lives-organizers-changed-the-gun-control-conversation.html.

³⁵⁶ Katz, Andrew. "Scenes From The March For Our Lives Rallies Around The World". *Time*, 2018. https://time.com/longform/march-for-our-lives-protests-around-theworld/.

³⁵⁷ Mother Jones (2018). The March for Our Lives Activists Showed Us How to Find Meaning in Tragedy. Retrieved 4 February 2020, from

https://www.smithsonianmag.com/innovation/march-for-our-lives-student-activists-showed-meaning-tragedy-180970717/



Snap Maps for March 14th walk-outs (from Mashable: https://mashable.com/2018/03/14/snapchat-national-walkout-day-filter/)



Snap Maps for March 14th walk-outs (Tony Morrison, March 14th, 2018, 10:04 AM, <a href="https://twitter.com/THETonyMorrison/status/973937933353934849?ref_src=twsrc%5Etfw%7Ctwcamp%5Etweetembed%7Ctwterm%5E973937933353934849&ref_url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.businessinsider.com%2Fsnapchat-snap-maps-student-walkouts-on-gunviolence-photos-2018-3)



Snap Maps for March 24th March for Our Lives Protests (dailykos.com)



Snap Maps for March 24th March for Our Lives Protests – Dallas to Chicago to Boston zoomed in (dailykos.com)



Snap Maps for March 24th March for Our Lives Protests Sacramento to SLC to Albuquerque (dailykos.com)

³⁵⁸ Criss, Doug, and Gianluca Mezzofiore. "The School Walkout Isn't Just Happening In The United States". *Www-M.Cnn.Com*, 2018. https://www-

m.cnn.com/2018/03/14/world/school-walkout-world-

trnd/index.html?r=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F.

³⁵⁹ Andone, Dakin, Amanda Jackson, and Isabella Gomez. "The March For Our Lives Isn't Just Happening In The United States". *Www-M.Cnn.Com*, 2018. https://www-m.cnn.com/2018/03/24/world/march-for-our-lives-around-the-world-trnd/index.html?r=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F.

³⁶⁰ CNN. *Survivors Of High School Massacre Speak Out*. Video, 2018. https://www.cnn.com/videos/us/2018/02/15/student-survivor-need-action-or-students-diesot-newday.cnn.

³⁶¹ David Hogg and Lauren Hogg, *#Neveragain* (repr., New York City: Random House Publishing Group, 2018).

³⁶² Serber, Bradley A. "'The Last Mass Shooting': Anticipating the End of Mass Shootings, Yet Again." In *Rhetoric & Guns*, edited by Lydia Wilkes, Ryan Skinnell, and Nathan Kreuter. Logan, UT: Utah State University Press, forthcoming.

³⁶³ We Are Social and Hootsuite. "Digital In 2018", 2018.

https://wearesocial.com/blog/2018/01/global-digital-report-2018.

³⁶⁴ We Are Social and Hootsuite. "Digital In 2018", 2018.

³⁶⁵ We Are Social and Hootsuite. "Digital In 2018", 2018.

³⁶⁶ We Are Social and Hootsuite. "Digital In 2018", 2018.

³⁶⁷ GSMA. "State Of Mobile Internet Connectivity In 2018". Reprint, GSMA, 2018. https://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/State-of-Mobile-Internet-Connectivity-2018.pdf.

³⁶⁸ GSMA. "State Of Mobile Internet Connectivity In 2018".

```
<sup>369</sup> Johnson, Meagan, and Larry Johnson. Generations, Inc.: From boomers to linksters-Managing the friction between generations at work. Amacom, 2010.
```

https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/.

³⁷⁷ Matthew J. Kushin, and Kelin Kitchener. "Getting political on social network sites: Exploring online political discourse on Facebook." First Monday 14, no. 11 (2009). doi: https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v14i11.2645; Diana C. Mutz. "Facilitating communication across lines of political difference: The role of mass media." American Political Science Review 95, no. 1 (2001): 97-114. Retrieved from

http://people.virginia.edu/~psm4d/mutz_martin2001.pdf.

³⁷⁸ Hudson Jr., David. "Free Speech Or Censorship? Social Media Litigation Is A Hot Legal Battleground". *ABA Journal*, 2019.

http://www.abajournal.com/magazine/article/social-clashes-digital-free-speech.

- ³⁷⁹Cobbe, Jennifer. "Algorithmic Censorship by Social Platforms: Power and Resistance." *Philosophy & Technology* (2020): 1-28.
- ³⁸⁰ Middlebrook, Callie. "The Grey Area: Instagram, Shadowbanning, and the Erasure of Marginalized Communities." *Shadowbanning, and the Erasure of Marginalized Communities (February 17, 2020)* (2020).
- 381 https://marchforourlives.com/peace-plan/
- 382 https://marchforourlives.com/peace-plan/
- ³⁸³ Dan Linden. Twitter Post. February 21, 2018, 11:56 AM.

 $\frac{https://twitter.com/DanLinden/status/966371076686139402?ref_src=twsrc\%5Etfw\%7Ctwcamp\%5Etweetembed\%7Ctwterm\%5E966371076686139402\&ref_url=https\%3A\%2F\%2Fwww.thedailybeast.com\%2Fparkland-florida-shooting-survivors-tell-off-pro-gun-politicians-in-florida-weve-had-enough-of-thoughts-and-prayers}$

³⁸⁴ Klas, Mary Ellen, and Kyra Gurney. "After Parkland, How The #Neveragain Movement Proved Tallahassee Wrong". *Tampa Bay Times*, 2018.

https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2018/03/11/after-parkland-how-the-neveragain-movement-proved-tallahassee-wrong/.

- 385 https://marchforourlives.com/
- 386 https://marchforourlives.com/
- 387 https://marchforourlives.com/vote-for-our-lives/
- https://secure.everyaction.com/45zW1UMUqUycXs7bfGH8gA2
- 389 <u>https://twitter.com/davidhogg111</u>; <u>https://twitter.com/Emma4Change</u>;

https://twitter.com/cameron_kasky; https://twitter.com/jaclyncorin?lang=en

390 https://twitter.com/AMarch4OurLives

³⁷⁰ Prensky, Marc. "Digital natives, digital immigrants." *On the horizon* 9, no. 5 (2001).

³⁷¹ Prensky, Marc. "Digital natives, digital immigrants." *On the horizon* 9, no. 5 (2001).

³⁷² We Are Social and Hootsuite. "Digital In 2018", 2018.

³⁷³ "Demographics Of Mobile Device Ownership And Adoption In The United States". Pew Research Center: Internet, Science & Tech, 2019.

³⁷⁴ We Are Social and Hootsuite. "Digital In 2018", 2018.

³⁷⁵ "Types Of Broadband Connections". Federal Communications Commission, 2014. https://www.fcc.gov/general/types-broadband-connections.

³⁷⁶ Alter, Charlotte. "How Parkland Students Are Taking On Politicians In The Gun Control Battle". *Time*, 2018. https://time.com/longform/never-again-movement/.

391 https://www.facebook.com/marchforourlives/;

https://www.instagram.com/marchforourlives/?hl=en;

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC77-uGJRVBiXou-G6S7_4yQ

- ³⁹² How many people attended March for Our Lives? Crowd in D.C. estimated at 200,000. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.cbsnews.com/news/march-for-our-lives-crowd-size-estimated-200000-people-attended-d-c-march/
- ³⁹³ Durando, J. (2018). March for Our Lives could be the biggest single-day protest in D.C.'s history. Retrieved from

 $\underline{https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2018/03/24/march-our-lives-could-become-biggest-single-day-protest-d-c-nations-history/455675002/$

³⁹⁴ Bond, K., Chenoweth, E., & Pressman, J. (2018). Did you attend the March for Our Lives? Here's what it looked like nationwide. Retrieved from

https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/wp/2018/04/13/did-you-attend-the-march-for-our-lives-heres-what-it-looked-like-nationwide/

- ³⁹⁵ Wilson, R. (2018). More than a million people participated in March for Our Lives protests. Retrieved from https://thehill.com/homenews/state-watch/380321-more-than-a-million-people-participated-in-anti-gun-violence-marches
- ³⁹⁶ Baram, M. (2018). #MarchForOurLives by the numbers. Retrieved from https://www.fastcompany.com/40549313/marchforourlives-by-the-numbers
- ³⁹⁷ Baram, M. (2018). #MarchForOurLives by the numbers. Retrieved from https://www.fastcompany.com/40549313/marchforourlives-by-the-numbers
- ³⁹⁸ "March For Our Lives". March For Our Lives. Accessed 17 February 2020. https://marchforourlives.com/.
- ³⁹⁹ Rebecca Shabad, Chelsea Bailey, & Phil McCausland. (2018). At March for Our Lives, survivors lead hundreds of thousands in call for change.
- 400 Jessica Durando, "March For Our Lives Could Be The Biggest Single-Day Protest In D.C.'S History", Usatoday.Com, 2018,

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2018/03/24/march-our-lives-could-become-biggest-single-day-protest-d-c-nations-history/455675002/.

⁴⁰¹ Zameena Mejia, "How The March For Our Lives Gen Z Organizers Changed The Gun Control Conversation When No One Else Could", CNBC, 2018,

https://www.cnbc.com/2018/03/23/how-the-march-for-our-lives-organizers-changed-the-gun-control-conversation.html.

- ⁴⁰² Sit, Ryan. "More Than 2 Million Joined March For Our Lives Protests In 90 Percent Of U.S. Voting Districts". Newsweek, 2018. https://www.newsweek.com/march-our-lives-how-many-2-million-90-voting-district-860841.
- ⁴⁰³ "Students And Gun Violence Survivors Lead More Than 850 Worldwide 'March For Our Lives' Events". Everytown For Gun Safety, 2018.

https://everytown.org/press/students-and-gun-violence-survivors-lead-more-than-850-worldwide-march-for-our-lives-events/.

- ⁴⁰⁴ "Red To Blue". Redtoblue.Dccc.Org, 2020. https://redtoblue.dccc.org/. "Red to Blue" states are states that are currently occupied by Red or Republican leadership that are up to flip to Blue or Democratic leadership.
- ⁴⁰⁵ Katz, Andrew. "Scenes From The March For Our Lives Rallies Around The World". *Time*, 2018. https://time.com/longform/march-for-our-lives-protests-around-theworld/.

⁴⁰⁵ "Mission & Story - March For Our Lives". *March For Our Lives*, 2019. https://marchforourlives.com/mission-story/.

- ⁴⁰⁶ Crutchfield, Leslie R. *How Change Happens: Why Some Social Movements Succeed While Others Don't.* John Wiley & Sons, 2018.
- ⁴⁰⁷ Matt Coles. "The Plan to Win Marriage," in *Love Unites Us: Winning the Freedom to marry in America*. Kevin M. Cathcart and Leslie J. Gabel-Brett (eds.) New York: The New Press, 2016.
- $^{\rm 408}$ "Mission & Story March For Our Lives". March For Our Lives.

https://marchforourlives.com/mission-story/.

- ⁴⁰⁹"Voter Registration". Ncsl.Org, 2016. https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/voter-registration.aspx.
- ⁴¹⁰ "Online Voter Registration". Ncsl.Org, 2020. https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/electronic-or-online-voter-registration.aspx.
- ⁴¹¹ "Vote For Our Lives.". March For Our Lives. Accessed 20 February 2020. https://marchforourlives.com/vote-for-our-lives/.
- ⁴¹² Gibson, Eleanor. "Parkland Students Design Clothes With QR Codes To Register Voters". Dezeen, 2018. https://www.dezeen.com/2018/08/21/march-for-our-lives-parkland-students-design-t-shirts-clothes-qr-codes-register-voters/.
- ⁴¹³ Parkland Students Design Clothes With QR Codes To Register Voters". Dezeen, 2018.
- ⁴¹⁴ LeVine, Steve. "Parkland Students Blend QR And Fashion To Register Voters Axios". Axios, 2018. https://www.axios.com/2018-midterm-elections-march-for-our-lives-qr-voter-registration-87556a63-da00-4083-a690-45d1e9d1ceca.html.
- ⁴¹⁵ "Demographics Of Mobile Device Ownership And Adoption In The United States". Pew Research Center: Internet, Science & Tech, 2020.

https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/.

- ⁴¹⁶ "Do People Use QR Codes In 2019? You Will Be Surely Surprised". Scanova Blog, 2019. https://scanova.io/blog/do-people-use-qr-codes/.
- ⁴¹⁷ "Mission & Story March For Our Lives".
- ⁴¹⁸ Vassolo, Martin. "David Hogg Announces 'Mayors For Our Lives' Effort To Register Young Voters | Naked Politics". Miamiherald.Typepad.Com, 2018.

https://miamiherald.typepad.com/nakedpolitics/2018/08/david-hogg-announces-mayors-for-our-lives-effort-to-register-young-voters.html.

- ⁴¹⁹ "Mayors For Our Lives: Sign The Pledge". March For Our Lives. Accessed 21 February 2020. https://marchforourlives.com/mayors-for-our-lives/.
- ⁴²⁰ Misra, Jordan. "Behind The 2018 U.S. Midterm Election Turnout". The United States Census Bureau, 2019. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2019/04/behind-2018-united-states-midterm-election-turnout.html.
- ⁴²¹ "About Us Giffords". Giffords. Accessed 21 February 2020. https://www.giffords.org/about/.
- ⁴²² March for Our Lives Facebook Page, accessed February 20th, 2020, https://www.facebook.com/marchforourlives/
- ⁴²³March for Our Lives Facebook Page, accessed February 20th, 2020, https://www.facebook.com/events/177885179810329/?active_tab=discussion
- ⁴²⁴ March for Our Lives Facebook Page, accessed February 20th, 2020, https://www.facebook.com/marchforourlives/

⁴²⁶ "WALKOUT TO VOTE | 11.06.18". Walkout To Vote, 2018. https://walkouttovote.org/?fbclid=IwAR2Mmg014At5axLFddjRVtdvZc8lt1Vo1Wi_gsr4fbw8jm9D_V6NyD0kXDQ.

⁴²⁷ Jennifer Earl. 2016. "Protest online: theorizing the consequences of online engagement." The Consequences of Social Movements, edited by Lorenzo Bosi, Marco Giugni, and Katrin Uba, 363-400. Cambridge: University Printing House.

⁴²⁸ Kevin Gillian. 2009. "The UK Anti-war Movement Online: Uses and Limitations of Internet Technologies for Contemporary Activism." *Information, Communication & Society*, 12: 25-43.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kevin Gillan2/publication/232991546 The UK an ti-war movement online/links/0912f5081510f3faea000000.pdf; Vasi, Ion Bogdan. "The new anti-war protests and miscible mobilizations." *Social Movement Studies* 5, no. 2 (2006): 137-153.

- ⁴²⁹ Bridge-The-Divide.Com. Accessed 21 February 2020. https://www.bridge-the-divide.com/.
- ⁴³⁰ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism.* Cambridge University Press, 2017.
- ⁴³¹ Misra, Jordan. "Behind The 2018 U.S. Midterm Election Turnout". The United States Census Bureau, 2019. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2019/04/behind-2018-united-states-midterm-election-turnout.html.
- ⁴³² "Our Leadership". March For Our Lives. https://marchforourlives.com/leadership/.
- ⁴³³ Klas, Mary Ellen, and Kyra Gurney. "After Parkland, How The #Neveragain Movement Proved Tallahassee Wrong". Tampa Bay Times, 2018.

https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2018/03/11/after-parkland-how-the-neveragain-movement-proved-tallahassee-wrong/.

- ⁴³⁴ Clark, Lynn Schofield, and Regina Marchi. *Young people and the future of news: Social media and the rise of connective journalism.* Cambridge University Press, 2017. ⁴³⁵ Baram, M. (2018). #MarchForOurLives by the numbers. Retrieved from
- https://www.fastcompany.com/40549313/marchforourlives-by-the-numbers
- ⁴³⁶ Gallagher, Erin. "#Marchforourlives & #Neveragain". *Medium*, 2018. https://medium.com/@erin_gallagher/marchforourlives-neveragain-a59ee4a078cb.
- ⁴³⁷ Petrana Radulovic."Snapchat Offers Special Filter To Unite Kids Across The Country On National Walkout Day". Mashable, 2018. https://mashable.com/2018/03/14/snapchatnational-walkout-day-filter/.
- ⁴³⁸ "March For Our Lives Dominates Snapchat's Map". *Daily Kos*, 2018. https://www.dailykos.com/stories/2018/3/24/1751768/--marchforourlives-dominates-Snapchat-s-Snap-Map.
- ⁴³⁹ Papacharissi, Zizi. *Affective publics: Sentiment, technology, and politics*. Oxford University Press, 2015.
- ⁴⁴⁰ Staff, CNN. "Florida Student Emma Gonzalez To Lawmakers And Gun Advocates: "We Call BS"". *CNN*, 2018. https://www.cnn.com/2018/02/17/us/florida-student-emmagonzalez-speech/index.html.

⁴²⁵ March for Our Lives Facebook Page, accessed February 20th, 2020, https://www.facebook.com/marchforourlives/

Shah, Dheeraj, ShilpaKhanna Arora, Sanjay Chaturvedi, and Piyush Gupta. "Defining And Measuring Vulnerability In Young People". *Indian Journal Of Community Medicine* 40, no. 3 (2015): 193. doi:10.4103/0970-0218.158868.
 "Vulnerable Populations". *Swarthmore.Edu*. Accessed 13 September 2019. https://www.swarthmore.edu/institutional-review-board/vulnerable-populations; "Initial Review - Criteria For IRB Approval". *Und.Edu*. Accessed 13 November 2020. https://und.edu/research/resources/human-subjects/_files/docs/403.pdf.
 "Global Child Protection". *Save The Children*. Accessed 13 September 2019. https://www.savethechildren.org/us/what-we-do/global-programs/protection#child-protection.

⁴⁴⁴ Beebe, Steven A, Susan J Beebe, and Mark V Redmond. *Interpersonal Communication*. 9th ed. Pearson, 2019.

⁴⁴⁵ Interpersonal Communication, 2019

⁴⁴⁶ Chaffey, Dave. "Global Social Media Research Summary 2019 | Smart Insights". *Smart Insights*, 2019. https://www.smartinsights.com/social-media-marketing/social-media-strategy/new-global-social-media-research/.